Running head: TRAUMA AND MENTAL HEALTH

Trauma, Attachment, Emotion Regulation and Coping Mechanisms in Mental Health

Catherine Louise George

Doctorate in Clinical Psychology

University of East Anglia

Submission Date: 26th March 2018

Word count: 39896

"This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that use of any information derived therefrom must be in accordance with current UK Copyright Law. In addition, any quotation or extract must include full attribution."

Abstract

Trauma, Attachment, Emotion Regulation and Coping Mechanisms in Mental Health

A significant proportion of the population experience adverse events in childhood. For some, the literature demonstrates that these adverse events contribute towards the later development of severe and enduring mental health problems such as psychosis and borderline personality disorder (BPD). These diagnoses are associated with poor outcomes including reduced Quality of Life (QoL). Whilst we are making progress in our understanding though the advances in theoretical models, reviews of current literature, and new research, the multi-faceted mechanisms and influence of different variables require further exploration.

The first aim of this research was to ascertain if coping mechanisms were related to QoL in individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia. The second aim was to explore whether BPD, psychosis and control populations differ in their trauma history, symptomatology (psychotic and BPD), attachment style and difficulties in emotion regulation; to assess if trauma type and severity relate to symptomatology, attachment and emotion regulation; and finally, to assess if attachment or emotion regulation influence the relationship between trauma and symptomatology.

A systematic review of the literature generated 2795 studies. Nine studies met inclusion criteria for data synthesis. A quantitative questionnaire-based empirical study involved 120 adult participants (28 BPD, 29 psychoses and 63 controls).

Synthesis demonstrated evidence for a small to medium positive correlation between problem-focused coping and QoL. Between group differences were found for all

variables and trauma correlated with all variables. Only emotion regulation mediated the influence of trauma on both BPD and psychotic symptomatology.

More research is required for conclusions to be determined about how coping relates to QoL in schizophrenia. The empirical results evidence the necessity of further research and development towards multifactorial models which incorporate the complex interacting influences of trauma, attachment and emotion regulation. Models should be integrative and be applied beyond diagnostic boundaries to best promote recovery.

Acknowledgements

Thanks goes to Desire Furnes who helped make this project possible! Infinite gratitude to all individuals who took part in the research and clinical teams who supported and promoted the research. Thanks to my research supervisors, Dr Joanne Hodgekins and Professor Sian Coker, and collaborators who have guided the research process throughout.

Big gratitude goes to my partner, family, friends, gym 'buddy,' and fellow trainees who have provided encouragement, humour and care when needed throughout this process. I especially want to mention my maternal grandparents who always provided support and encouragement in my chosen career. I could not have got here without them and I am eternally grateful for their support.

Contents

Chapter 1. General Introduction
1.1. Adverse Events
1.2. Childhood Trauma 8
1.3. Psychosis 11
1.4. Childhood Trauma and Psychosis12
1.5. Borderline Personality Disorder13
1.6. Childhood Trauma and Borderline Personality Disorder14
1.7. Phenomenological Overlap Between Psychosis & Borderline Personality Disorder 15
1.8. Theoretical Models 16
1.9. Attachment
1.10. Attachment in Borderline Personality Disorder and Psychosis
1.12. Emotion Regulation 19
1.13. Emotion Regulation in Psychosis and Borderline Personality Disorder
1.14. Quality of Life 22
1.15. Thesis Rationale and Aims22
Chapter 2. Systematic Review
2.1. Abstract
2.2. Introduction

2.3 Materials and Method	
2.4. Results	
2.5. Conclusions	51
2.6. Discussion	54
2.7. Implications for Research and Practice	57
2.8. Conflicts of Interest and Funding Statement	58
2.9. References	59
Chapter 3. Bridging Chapter	67
Chapter 4. Empirical Paper	70
4.1. Abstract	71
4.2. Introduction	72
4.3. Rationale, Aims and Hypothesis	75
4.4. Materials and Method	
4.5. Statistical Analysis	80
4.6. Results	82
4.7. Discussion	
4.8. Conclusions	102
4.9. Acknowledgements	102
4.10. References	103

Chapter 5. Extended Methodology	114
5.1. Introduction	114
5.2. Participants	114
5.3. Ethical Approval	115
5.4. Ethical Considerations	115
5.5. Distress	118
5.6. Procedure	120
5.7. Measures	122
5.8. Power Calculations and Statistical Analysis	123
Chapter 6. General Discussion and Conclusions	124
6.1. Rationale	124
6.2. Summary of Findings	124
6.3. Critical Evaluation.	125
6.4. Theoretical Implications	132
6.5. Research and Clinical Implications	
6.6. Conclusions	137
Combined References (Chapters 1, 3, 5 & 6)	
Appendix	

Chapter 1. General Introduction

The presented thesis portfolio includes a systematic review and empirical paper centering around complex mental health difficulties. This chapter introduces this and outlines important concepts and theories. It summarises the rationale and aim of the work completed.

1.1. Adverse Events

Stress symptoms, including fear, helplessness, reduced sleep, anxiety and concentration changes, can be evoked when a potentially threatening experience is faced. These acute symptoms typically reduce after a few days or weeks, but for a minority of people these symptoms are found to be more enduring. This then negatively impacts on interpersonal and psychosocial functioning (Keane, Marshall, & Taft, 2006) and contributes towards the later development of longer-term mental health difficulties such as complex Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), depression, psychosis, personality disorders and anxiety problems (e.g. Blasc o-Ros, Sánchez-Lorente, & Martinez, 2010; Creamer, Burgess, & McFarlane, 2001; Roberts Gilman, Breslau, Breslau, & Koenen, 2011).

Within the general population, lifetime trauma exposure is reported in around 70% of individuals (Kessler et al., 2017), with a mean of 2.2 distinct types of traumas typically experienced (Briere, Agee, & Dietrich, 2016), and rates for childhood-based traumas being around 14-32% (Briere & Elliot, 2003). Determining the predictive factors influencing the differential course and impact of mental health difficulties remains problematical. Risk and protective factors are an area of growing interest within research. The timing of the traumatic event is shown to be an important variable.

1.2. Childhood Trauma

When trauma is experienced in early life there are extensive impacts on a child (e.g. Infurna et al., 2016; Heim & Nemeroff, 2001) including an increased risk of developing mental health difficulties in adulthood (e.g. Read & Bentall, 2012; Van der Kolk, 2017) even after controlling for other potential influential background variables (Briere & Elliot, 2003). Childhood traumas (i.e. those occurring before 18 years of age) are found to be linked to higher PTSD symptoms, lowered wellbeing, reduced coping ability and poorer social support when compared to adult-based traumas (Ogle, Rubin, & Siegler, 2013). Patients with mental health difficulties who have childhood trauma histories have been found to present with lower self-esteem (Fowke, Ross, & Ashcroft, 2012), increased dissociative symptomatology (Sar et al., 2010), an incoherent self-concept (Goodman, Quas, & Ogle, 2010) and higher suicide risk (Ferraz at al., 2013; Links et al., 2013) than those without childhood trauma histories.

Children can be exposed to a range of traumatic experiences including neglect (physical and emotional) or physical, emotional and sexual abuse (Terr, 2003). Other adverse events during childhood such as parental separation, perceiving domestic violence, parental mental health difficulties, experiencing a national disaster and being bullied can also be considered within the context of childhood trauma (Kessler et al., 2010; Read, Benthall, & Fosse, 2009). Trauma can be a single event (acute) or can involve multiple or prolonged (complex trauma) traumatic events (Herman, 1992). Van der Kolk (2017) suggests that about 80% of childhood traumas begin at home and Spinazzola et al. (2005) indicates that most complex traumas occur within a child's caregiving system. Interpersonal childhood traumas, including those involving a primary caretaker, are found to be particularly detrimental to symptom severity and functioning when compared to adult-

based interpersonal traumas or non-interpersonal traumas (e.g. Cloitre et al., 2009; Green et al., 2000; Van der Kolk, 2017).

Individuals with a childhood trauma experience are shown to be more likely to experience complex trauma in terms of increased trauma frequency (Kessler, 2000) or multiple types of abuse occurring (Briere & Elliorr, 2003). Complex trauma is linked to poorer outcomes, such as increased symptomatology (Briere, Kaltman, & Green, 2008), when compared with single event traumas (Moroz, 2005). Complexity of symptoms is found to increase with the higher number of traumas experienced during childhood or adulthood (Cloitre et al., 2009). In comparison to other disorders and non-clinical populations, abundant trauma histories are shown to be more prevalent in complex mental health diagnoses such as Borderline Personality Disorder (BPD) and psychosis (Golier et al., 2003; Picken, Berry, Tarrier, & Barrowclough, 2010). There are several domains which are found to be impaired in children who are exposed to complex trauma (see Figure 1; Cook et al., 2005) and there are ongoing developments in our understanding and conceptualisation of the later impacts (including intra- and interpersonal problems) in adulthood (see Van der Kolk, 2017).

Domains of Impairment in Children Exposed to Complex Trauma									
I. Attachment	IV. Dissociation	VI. Cognition							
Problems with boundaries Distrust and suspiciousness Social isolation Interpersonal difficulties Difficulty attuning to other people's emotional states Difficulty with perspective taking	Distinct alterations in states of consciousness Amnesia Depersonalization and derealization Two or more distinct states of consciousness Impaired memory for state-based events	Difficulties in attention regulation and executive functioning Lack of sustained curiosity Problems with processing novel information Problems focusing on and completing tasks Problems with object constancy							
II. Biology Sensorimotor developmental problems Analgesia Problems with coordination, balance, body tone Somatization	V. Behavioral control Poor modulation of impulses Self-destructive behavior Aggression toward others Pathological self-soothing behaviors	Problems understanding responsibility Learning difficulties Problems with language development Problems with orientation in time and space							
a wide span (eg, pelvic pain, asthma, skin problems, autoimmune disorders, pseudoseizures)	Eating disorders Substance abuse Excessive compliance Oppositional behavior	VII. Self-concept Lack of a continuous, predictable sense of self Poor sense of separateness Disturbances of body image							
III. Affect regulation Difficulty with emotional self-regulation Difficulty labeling and expressing feelings Problems knowing and describing internal states Difficulty communicating wishes and	Difficulty understanding and complying with rules Reenactment of trauma in behavior or play (eg, sexual, aggressive)	Low self-esteem Shame and guilt							

Figure 1. Domains of Impairment in Children Exposed to Complex Trauma. From Cook et

al. (2005), pp 392.

BPD and psychosis diagnoses have a growing evidence base demonstrating childhood trauma to be influential to their development and associated symptomatology.

1.3. Psychosis

Psychosis refers to an individual's disconnection from reality including the disruption of their thoughts, senses, perception, emotion and behaviour. Psychotic experiences are reported in between 5-15% of the general population (Balaratnasingam & Janca, 2015; McGrath et al., 2015) and are found to be linked to 3.20 times higher self-injurious behaviour risk than those without (Honings, Drukker, Groen, & van Os, 2016).

Several disorders contain psychotic elements including schizophrenia, psychosis with depressive symptoms, schizoaffective disorder, depression with psychotic symptoms and mood disorders (Morrissette, 2011). Schizophrenia is ranked in the top ten causes of disability and is the most common psychotic disorder (Häfner, Löffler, Maurer, Hambrecht, & An Der Heiden, 1999; Organisation, 2015; Stanghellini & Ballerini, 2002).

Psychotic disorders are costly in relation to treatment, reduction in economic productivity and for the wider society (e.g Amos, 2012; Kennedy, Altar, Taylor, Degtiar, & Hornberger, 2014; Olesen, Gustavsson, Svensson, Wittchen, & Jönsson, 2012; Rössler, Salize, van Os, & Riecher-Rössler, 2005; Wu et al., 2005). Recovery rates from psychosis vary between 14-20% but evidence shows full functional recovery is not achieved for a substantial proportion of individuals, with over 70% remaining unemployed (Davidson & Murray, 2014). However, there may be differences based on diagnoses: for example, for those specifically diagnosed with First Episode Psychosis (FEP), the pooled remission rate was found to be around 38% in a recent meta-analysis (Lally et al., 2017). Given that the functional and occupational recovery rates are poor, and the consequences for the individual are debilitating, psychosis is an essential area for research (Bottlender, Strauß, & Möller, 2010).

1.4. Childhood Trauma and Psychosis

Childhood trauma histories are frequently reported in individuals diagnosed with psychosis (e.g. Berry, Barrowclough, & Wearden, 2009; Barnow et al., 2010). Varese et al. (2012) indicate that childhood trauma is twice as likely in psychosis populations compared to control populations, and Kilcommons & Morison, (2005) showed that 94% of individuals with psychosis reported at least one traumatic event and 53% have a comorbid PTSD diagnosis. Causational links, including neurocognitive alterations, have been made between childhood trauma and the later development of psychosis (Dvir, Denietolis & Frazier, 2013; Kennedy, Tripodi, & Pettus-Davis, 2013; Varese et al., 2012) including a dose-response relationship (e.g. Bentall et al., 2014; Matheson, Shepherd, Pinchbeck, Laurens, & Carr, 2013).

Adverse events in childhood are shown to be associated with increased psychoticlike experiences (Kelleher et al., 2008, 2013) and clinical threshold psychosis (Thompson et al., 2014; Varese et al., 2012) which are more persistent and clinically relevant (Trotta, Murray & Fisher, 2015) and are predictive of poorer long-term functioning (Cotter, Kaess, & Yung, 2015; Yung et al., 2015). Reduced age of first episode psychosis and increased frequency of hospitalisations are also shown for those with childhood trauma histories when compared to those without (Rosenberg, Lu, Mueser, Jankowski, & Cournos 2007; Schenkel, Spaulding, DiLillo & Silverstein, 2005).

1.5. Borderline Personality Disorder

BPD is characterised by pervasive interpersonal difficulties, emotion regulation problems, mood instability, impulsivity and instability in self-image (Lieb, Zanarini, Schmahl, Linehan, & Bohus, 2004; Stanley & New, 2017). BPD symptoms are reported in 1-3% of the general population (Lenzenweger, Lane, Loranger, & Kessler, 2007; Torgersen, Kringlen, & Cramer, 2001; Trull, Jahng, Tomko, Wood, & Sher, 2010) and between 10-20% of psychiatric patients (Korzekwa, Dell, Links, Thabane, & Webb, 2008; Swartz, Blazer, George, & Winfield, 1990; Zimmerman, Rothschild, & Chelminski, 2005). Secondary axis II personality disorders are frequently prevalent (14-51%) with BPD diagnosis (Grant et al., 2008; McGlashan et al., 2000; Zanarini et al., 1998; Zanarini et al., 2007) but BPD has been found to be the most representative of core pathology within the wider classification of personality disorders (see Sharp et al. (2015) for BPD general and specific factors).

Individuals diagnosed with BPD are frequent and costly users of healthcare presenting with high rates of self-injury and suicidality (Tomko, Trull, Wood, & Sher, 2014; Zanarini, Frankenburg, Khera, & Bleichmar, 2001). BPD diagnoses are associated with increased frequency of consultation from health professionals (Coid et al., 2009) and an average of 3.8 mental-health hospitalisations within their lifetime (Korzekwa et al., 2008). Mortality rates from suicide are 50 times greater than control populations with around 10% of patients with a BPD diagnosis completing suicide (American Psychiatric Association, 2001, 2006; Blum et al., 2008; Oldham, 2013; Skodol et al., 2005). Despite receiving psychosocial and pharmacological interventions, there are global and pervasive impairments in wellbeing, social adjustment, functioning, and employment (Korzekwa et al., 2008; Lieb et al., 2004; Skodol et al., 2005), which are shown to be greater than many other psychiatric disorders (see Ansell, Sanislow, McGlashan, & Grilo, 2007). There are also costs to wider society associated with criminal justice system use and reduced economic productivity (Van Asselt, Dirksen, Arntz, & Severens, 2007). Consequently, given the pervasive impacts, more research is required to enhance our understanding and management of this disabling condition (Lieb et al., 2004).

1.6. Childhood Trauma and Borderline Personality Disorder

Linehan's (1993) biosocial model of BPD and Barnow et al.'s (2010) heuristic model highlight the role trauma has in BPD. Childhood trauma is common in BPD with the majority of patients reporting childhood trauma experiences including neglect (Afifi et al., 2011). Research indicates over 90% of BPD patients report a childhood abuse history or childhood neglect and 56% present with comorbid PTSD (Zanarini, Williams, Lewis, & Reich, 1997; Zanarini et al., 1998). Furthermore, when compared to control populations, individuals diagnosed with BPD have reported over double the rate of experiencing a severe traumatic event (Bandelow et al., 2005). A dose-response relationship with causal mechanisms have been suggested in multifactorial etiologic models (e.g. Ball & Links, 2009; Silk, Lee, Hill, & Lohr, 1995; Zanarini et al., 2002).

1.7. Phenomenological Overlap Between Psychosis & Borderline Personality Disorder

BPD and psychosis diagnoses present with some overlap in their experiences and perceptions. First, as outlined previously, they both present with high rates of childhood traumas. Both presentations have been shown to have phenomenological overlap with the diagnostic criteria for PTSD or complex PTSD (e.g. Pepper & Agius, 2009 and Ford & Courtois, 2014). The comorbid influence of PTSD symptomatology in psychosis and BPD diagnoses is often overlooked or under-reported (Ford & Courtois, 2009; Lommen & Restifo, 2009). Core domains of overlap include affect regulation, impulse control, reality testing, interpersonal relationships and self-integration difficulties. Specifically, linked to impulse control, there is commonality in presented substance abuse and self-destructive behaviours. In terms of reality testing, both present with paranoid ideation and dissociative mechanisms. Within interpersonal relationships, both have been shown to have insecure attachment styles. Finally, regarding self-integration, both present with identity diffusion.

BPD and schizophrenia diagnoses frequently coexist (Slotema, Blom, Niemantsverdriet, Deen & Sommer, 2018) with childhood trauma and parental care

experiences found to be linked to positive psychotic symptomatology across both population groups (Catalan et al., 2017).

1.8. Theoretical Models

Whilst literature demonstrates that childhood trauma is a key variable, there are still conceptual issues with the precise link to psychotic (Morgan & Fisher, 2007) and BPD symptomatologies (Hecht, Cicchetti, Rogosch, & Crick, 2014). Several theoretical models exist which attempt to aid our understanding by conceptualising why some individuals develop longer-term difficulties following traumatic experiences and why there are individual differences in symptom presentation, duration and impact.

Within stress-vulnerability and distress-protection models (e.g Lazarus & Folkman, 1987; Zubin & Spring, 1977; Ritsner, 2007), multiple risk and protective factors combine to influence vulnerability to mental health difficulties. Interacting aspects from psychological, biological, sociodemographic and social variables are likely to interact and contribute to experiencing difficulties, functional disability and reducing wellbeing. Within models for psychosis and BPD, traumatic events, attachment styles and emotion regulation difficulties are incorporated as influential components (e.g. Barnow et al., 2010; Hardy, 2017; Read, Fosse, Moskowitz, Connolly, 2014).

1.9. Attachment

Early relationships with caregivers aid the child's development of representations of the self (identity formation), others, and self in relation to others but also provide a model for relating with others in adulthood (Bowlby, 1973; 1980). These representations can be positive or negative. Internal 'working models' are derived from this and are influential to

behavioural, cognitive and affective processes (Mikulincer, Shaver & Pereg, 2003). Negative working models result in more insecure attachment styles, whereas positive working models result in more secure attachment styles (Bowlby 1969). Early relationships provide the foundations for an individual's ability to self-soothe and manage adverse events (Mikulincer et al., 2003). Insecure attachment styles increase someone's susceptibility to distress and alter help-seeking behaviours which reduce emotion regulation capacities. Given that their caregiver is perceived as inconsistently or totally emotionally and physically unavailable in insecure attachments, individuals will retain a sense of security in interpersonal relationships through either adopting hyperactivating (such as intensification of distress levels) or deactivating strategies (such as restricting any proximity seeking urges through avoiding forming adult attachments) (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2004).

In adult attachment, a two-dimensional model (diagrammatic representation in Figure 2.) of attachment anxiety and attachment avoidance is favourable to the fourattachment model of secure, preoccupied, dismissing and fearful (Batholomew, 1990; Batholomew, Cobb & Poole, 1997; Berry, Barrowclough, & Wearden, 2007; Collins & Feeney, 2004; Feeney & Collins, 2003; Fossati et al., 2003; Mancini & Bonanno, 2009). Anxious attachment is associated with fears of abandonment or rejection, a negative representation of the self, worries about interpersonal relationships, and a strong need to proximity seek and obtain approval from others (Wickham, Sitko & Bentall, 2015). Avoidant attachment is associated with fears of dependence combined with compulsive self-reliance, a negative representation of others, social withdrawal and minimised emotional connection with others (Berry, Wearden, Barrowclough, & Liversidge, 2006; Mikulincer et al., 2003).



Figure 2. Diagrammatic representation of Bartholomew's Attachment model (Bartholomew, 1990; adapted version reproduced from Berry et al., 2007).

Attachment is found to influence mental health pathology and associated difficulties in relating with others. Secure attachments are deemed to be a protective factor (Moretti & Peled, 2004). In insecure attachments, where the primary caregiver did not provide a model for a secure base, and when trauma occurs, there is not only an intensified emotion reaction to the event, but also a reduced ability to process this distress (Gumley, Taylor, Schwannauer, & MacBeth, 2014). This intensifies the negative consequences of trauma, creating views destabilised by fear, violence, hostility, abandonment and less effective ways to deal with distress which all contribute towards maladaptive coping mechanisms (often causing further distress) being developed (Mikulincer, Shaver, & Solomon, 2015). Subsequently the decreasing ability to cope and tolerate distress increases the likelihood of mental health difficulties (Bakermans-Kranenburg & van Ijzendoorn, 2009; Gumley et al., 2014; Fraley, 2002). Unsurprisingly, literature demonstrates that increased anxious and avoidant attachments are associated with, increased psychopathology (e.g. Cantazaro & Wei, 2010; Ein-Dor, Doron, Soloman, Mikulincer & Shaver, 2010), and are found in those with histories of childhood traumas (e.g. Bakermans-Kranenburg & van IJzendoorn, 2009; Espeleta, Palasciano-Barton, & Messman-Moore, 2016; Friedrich, 2002; Oshri, Sutton, Clay-Warner, & Miller, 2015).

1.10. Attachment in Borderline Personality Disorder and Psychosis

Attachment and interpersonal relationships are important to consider in BPD (Fonagy, Target, & Gergely, 2000; Levy, 2005; Liotti, Pasquini, & Cirrincione, 2000) and psychosis populations (Carr, Hardy, & Fornells-Ambrojo, 2017; Harder, 2014). Increased attachments avoidance and anxiety are associated with poorer outcomes including increased psychotic and BPD symptom severity (Dorahy et al., 2015; Gumley et al., 2014; Korver-Nieberg, Berry, Meijer, de Haan, & Ponizovsky, 2015). Specifically, in psychosis populations, a meta-analysis has demonstrated fearful attachment being most prevent with a pooled estimate 38% (see Carr et al., 2017).

Research indicates that attachment has an influential impact on trauma's association with psychotic (Pearce et al., 2017; Read & Gumley, 2008; Sitko, Bentall, Shevlin, & Sellwood, 2014) and BPD symptomatology (Minzenberg et al., 2006). Childhood trauma has been found to be associated with increased attachment insecurity in psychosis (Tait, Birchwood & Trower, 2004; Berry et al., 2009). In BPD populations, attachment anxiety and attachment avoidance are found to be higher in those with childhood trauma histories (Minzenberg et al., 2006).

1.12. Emotion Regulation

Emotion regulation is a multilevel process which relates to a person's ability in the perception of and appropriate response to an emotionally provoking stimulus (Gross, 2014).

It involves the integration of behavioural and biological aspects of emotional self-control (Thompson, Lewis & Calkins, 2008). Linking to prior stress and coping theories (e.g. Folkman & Lazarus, 1986), different emotion regulation strategies can be either adaptive or maladaptive depending on the given situation (Gross, 2014). Emotion regulation mechanisms include reappraisal, problem-solving, acceptance, positive refocusing, distraction, suppression, avoidance and forgetting (Aldao, Nolen-Hoeksema, & Schweizer 2010; Braet et al., 2014).

Difficulties in emotion regulation have been shown to influence mental health (e.g. Gross, 2002; John & Gross, 2004; Taylor & Stanton, 2007) including resilience (Tugade & Fredrickson, 2007), long-term health outcomes (Moffitt et al. 2011), wellbeing (see Nyklíček, Vingerhoets, & Zeelenberg, 2010) and social relationships (Gross & John, 2003). It is found to be an important comorbid factor across a range of mental health difficulties (see Aldao et al., 2010; Krueger & Markon, 2006).

Trauma contributes towards maladaptive emotion regulation, including an altered sense of emotive stimuli (Pollak & Tolley-Schell, 2003) and emotion reactivity but also reduced ability to recognise, discriminate, express and understand different emotions (Pechtel & Pizzagalli, 2011; Stirling & Amaya-Jackson, 2008). When traumas occur in childhood, areas of the brain involved in self-regulation, such as the pre-frontal cortex, have been shown to be affected (e.g. Blair and Raver, 2012).

Attachment has an intrinsic relationship to emotion regulation. Within secure attachment systems, the child-caregiver relationship provides a secure base. When the caregiver demonstrates accurate mentalisation and modelling of effective modulation of emotional responses, this scaffolds the development of an accurate internalisation of effective emotion regulation mechanisms. Consequently, this aids an individual's ability to effectively manage distress through self-regulation techniques. Conversely, those with insecure attachments experience inconsistent caregiving which can be neglectful or rejecting. Within insecure attachments, the caregiver lacks caregiver-child attunement which leads to an individual having a reduced awareness to their own bodily experiences and emotional states. When an insecurely attached individual faces distress, the more primitive and basic coping mechanisms such as avoidance and dissociation are deployed as self-regulation mechanisms to manage this (Kinniburgh, Blaustein, Spinazzola & Van der Kolk, 2017).

1.13. Emotion Regulation in Psychosis and Borderline Personality Disorder

Difficulties in emotion regulation are common within individuals diagnosed with psychosis (e.g. Perry, Henry & Grisham, 2011) and BPD (e.g. Glenn & Klonsky, 2009) and are linked to severity of symptomatology (e.g. Poole, Tobias, & Vinogradov, 2000; Salsman & Linehan, 2012; van Rossum, Lieb, Wittchen, & van Os, 2011).

Emotion regulation is a key factor when considering the perceived emotional and physiological impact of psychotic symptomatology (Clamor et al., 2015). Although some patterns, such as catastrophising and rumination have been identified within psychosis populations (Rowland et al., 2013), the specific regulatory strategies and difficulties in emotion management still need to be fully explored (Lincoln Haurtmann, Köther, 2014; Perry et al., 2011).

A literature review by Domes, Schulze and Herpertz (2009) found that emotional facial recognition is altered within BPD populations and there is an overall increased sensitivity to negative emotions. Furthermore, individuals diagnosed with BPD are found to

have reduced emotional awareness (Chapman, Leung & Lynch, 2008; Leible & Snell, 2004) and difficulty in distinguishing between emotions (Suvak et al., 2011).

1.14. Quality of Life

Quality of life (QoL) outcomes are an important and growing area of consideration within mental health research in terms of their negative impact on an individual (Ruggeri et al., 2005; Karow, Wittmann, Schöttle, Schäfer, & Lambert, 2014). QoL outcomes within BPD (e.g. Cramer, Torgersen & Kringlen, 2006) and psychosis (e.g. Eack & Newhill, 2007) populations are known to be poor. This is especially found for those with a schizophrenia diagnosis (Caron, Lecomte, Stip, & Renaud, 2005; Karow et al., 2014) but the contributing factors to this remain poorly understood (Narvaez, Twamley, McKibbin, Heaton & Patterson, 2008; Tolman & Kurtz, 2012) and require further research (Chan and Yu Iu, 2004). Specific models exist for explaining QoL variation in schizophrenia (e.g. Caron et al., 2005; Ritsner, 2007). Within these models, coping is an incorporated factor.

1.15. Thesis Rationale and Aims

The presented thesis portfolio includes a systematic review and empirical paper targeting complex mental health difficulties.

QoL is a key area of research when considering the impact of complex mental health difficulties. Coping mechanisms and QoL are of growing interest within schizophrenia research and practice. To date, there has not been a systematic evaluation of the precise influence that coping mechanisms have on QoL within individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia. Consequently, Chapter two will explore this through systematically reviewing the literature.

As demonstrated by this chapter, childhood trauma, emotion regulation and attachment are important influential vulnerability factors to consider for the development of mental health difficulties, particularly BPD and psychosis (Bakermans-Kranenburg & van Ijzendoorn, 2009; Gumley, et al., 2014). Significant foundations for later mental health difficulties appear to result from childhood trauma experiences. Attachment and emotion regulation then seem to influence the potential consequential development of BPD and psychotic symptomatology, but the precise relevance and mechanisms warrant further investigation. By comparing BPD, psychosis and non-clinical (control) populations, the empirical study presented in Chapter Four aims to add clarity to the relative roles of these variables. By transdiagnostically investigating the interacting pathways of these variables, the empirical study aims to provide a framework of the potential developmentally originated interpersonal and intrapersonal factors which contribute to BPD and psychosis symptomatology. This will also incorporate the relative impact of childhood trauma.

The presented thesis aims to provide a better understanding of:

1. The role coping has on QoL in schizophrenia.

2. How trauma type and severity, attachment (anxiety and avoidance) and emotion regulation differ between individuals diagnosed with psychosis and BPD, and how they compare to a control group.

Whether trauma type and severity are related to attachment, emotion regulation,
BPD and psychosis symptomatology irrespective of diagnostic group.

4) Whether attachment and emotion regulation mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and symptomatology, irrespective of diagnostic group.

This will aid our understanding of why individual differences exist in childhood trauma reactions, and what contributes towards BPD and psychosis symptomatology presentations. A summary of findings, general discussion and critical appraisal (Chapter Six) will highlight implications for clinical practice within this field.

Chapter 2. Systematic Review

Prepared for submission to: Schizophrenia Research and Development.

Journal guidelines and the quality assessment tool are in Appendix A.

Review Article

A Systematic Review of Coping Mechanisms and Quality of Life in

Schizophrenia.

Cat George^{1,2}, D. Furnes¹, J. Hodgekins¹ & S. Coker¹

¹ Department of Clinical Psychology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich Research Park, Norwich, NR4 7TJ, UK

² Cambridge and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust, Elizabeth House, Fulbourn, Cambridge, CB21 5EF, UK.

Correspondence should be addressed to Cat L. George; <u>c.george@uea.ac.uk</u>

2.1. Abstract

Coping mechanisms and Quality of Life (QoL) are key factors of growing interest within schizophrenia research and practice. The aim of this review is to investigate the relationship between coping mechanisms and QoL among community-dwelling individuals with a schizophrenia diagnosis. Systematic searches were completed in six databases. Nine of the initial 2795 results met inclusion criteria. All studies (n = 9) reported cross-sectional data. Synthesis demonstrated that there is evidence for a small-medium effect size of problem-focused coping positively correlating with QoL. Conclusions about emotion-focused coping on QoL in schizophrenia requires further investigation to be fully ascertained.

Keywords: schizophrenia, psychosis, coping mechanisms and quality of life.

2.2. Introduction

Coping refers to the multidimensional cognitive and behavioural strategies individuals deploy (consciously or unconsciously) to manage difficult, demanding, stressinducing, or upsetting internal or external situations [1, 2]. In schizophrenia, coping mechanisms are especially important given their links to symptomatology and associated reduced ability to manage life stressors successfully [3, 4].

Folkman and Lazarus' [5, 6] categorisation of coping strategies comprises of problem- and emotion-focused coping. Problem-focused coping or task-orientated coping involves facing the situation that is eliciting distress to reduce the effect elicited (e.g. though initiating active problem-solving and creating a time-management plan) [7]. Directive coping, planning and active coping are considered problem-focused coping strategies. Emotion-focused coping mechanisms involve focusing on the emotions elicited in the stress-eliciting situation such as through restructuring one's thoughts or attitudes to change the emotional reaction triggered. Reappraising, considering, acceptance, avoidance, denial, disengagement, seeking support socially or through religion, acting and selfsoothing coping mechanisms can be conceptualised within emotion-focused coping [8]. Avoidance-focused coping incorporates mechanisms that avoid the stress-inducing situation and includes distraction (e.g. engaging with an alternative task), denial, and social avoidance (e.g. utilising social diversion and seeking emotional support). Avoidancefocused coping is often conceptualised as an emotion-focused coping mechanism. The relative benefit of adopting a certain coping mechanism is situation-dependent [9].

Within the Stress Vulnerability Model (SVM) of schizophrenia [10], in similar conceptualisations such as the Distress Protection Vulnerability model [11] and in other theoretical models such as the model of post-traumatic stress in psychosis by Hardy [12], coping mechanisms are an influential component. Within these frameworks, coping is a resource which provides a method to deal with the stressor and therefore can act as a protective factor but also as an influential factor in the development and maintenance of psychotic disorders [13, 14]. The extent to which an individual can employ an effective coping mechanism (i.e. one that reduces distress levels) in response to a stressor is shown to be an important factor in recovery outcomes within mental health (see Taylor and Stanton [15]). Coping is a key component within psychosocial frameworks for preventative and effective interventions such as improving stress management skills and fostering the development and use of more adaptive coping mechanisms which effectively reduce distress levels [16].

When compared to healthy controls, patients diagnosed with schizophrenia are shown to frequently use alternative, and less effective coping strategies [17-19], including greater reliance on avoidant- and emotion-focused strategies rather than adopting more problem-focused strategies [14, 20, 21]. It has also been suggested that patients with schizophrenia have less flexibility over their choice of which coping strategy they are able to operationalise [22].

Within schizophrenia research, there has been a tendency to assess outcome based on improvements in symptoms. Quality of Life (QoL) and subjective wellbeing are increasingly recognised outcomes within mental health [23-25]. QoL can be considered a multidimensional construct which encompasses physical, mental and social wellbeing and

can incorporate subjective (self-report) or objective (expert-assessed) evaluations [26]. Increasingly, QoL is receiving more attention in treatment outcomes and research in schizophrenia [25, 27]. However, the factors contributing towards QoL remain poorly understood [28, 29] and require further assessment [30].

Whilst coping strategies have been suggested to be influential on QoL, this is dependent on the situation and given coping mechanism and can include reductions or improvements in QoL [31, 32]. More attention is needed within this area to help enhance our understanding of the role of coping mechanisms in QoL and improve the appropriateness and impact of interventions. To date there is no consensus and no systematic review specifically addressing which coping strategies are most influential to QoL.

The aim of this review is to systematically review the literature and answer the following question: is there a relationship between coping and QoL in community dwelling individuals with a diagnosis of schizophrenia? Conclusions inferred from the current literature to date and limitations and implications for future research will be discussed.

2.3 Materials and Method

To identify studies on coping, QoL and Schizophrenia, search terms included "schizophrenia," "psychosis*," "psychotic," "cope*," "coping*," "quality of life," "QoL," "wellbeing" and "well-being" to ensure key words and related search terms were screened for.

A systematic search of the literature was completed using the databases: PsycINFO; CINAHL; MEDLINE; PsychArticles; PubMed and Web of Science. Searches were

completed in October 2017 without date restriction. Endnote bibliographic computer software was used to aid duplicate identification. Reference lists of retrieved articles were also inspected and a google scholar web search was conducted to identify potential further studies. No further articles were discovered. In total 2795 articles were identified. Deduplication resulted in 2075 articles (720 duplicates). Titles and abstracts were initially screened for eligibility by the first author. Most studies did not incorporate samples of individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia and were therefore excluded. Full texts were subsequently assessed by the first author for eligibility.

Eligibility criteria. The choice of inclusion / exclusion criteria followed methodology outlined within a review by de Pinho, Pereira, Chaves and Batista [33]. The exclusion of non-schizophrenia and inpatient samples was adopted because of the documented methodological difficulties of heterogenous sampling, the diversity of symptomatology and differing influences on QoL [34-36] and coping [16] in inpatient (aka acute / exacerbation phases) and outpatient (aka stable or chronic phases) settings within schizophrenia research.

Articles were included in the literature review if they met the following criteria: (1) published quantitative study based on human participants and written in the English language; (2) the study included a community-based sample of patients diagnosed with schizophrenia disorders (including paranoid, disorganised, catatonic, undifferentiated, and residual sub-types) or a mixed sample with greater than 75% diagnosis of schizophrenia or where the outcome for schizophrenia is provided separately from another diagnosis; (3) the study incorporated a validated multidimensional measure specifically assessing coping and a validated assessment of total QoL or QoL across several domains.

Articles focusing on at risk mental states or the prodromal stages of psychosis and those utilising a schizoaffective sample were excluded, given that they can be considered as differential pathology from schizophrenia. Due to diagnostic shifts occurring within diagnoses of First Episode Psychosis (FEP) [37], unless a diagnosis of schizophrenia was documented, FEP diagnoses were excluded. Inpatient samples were excluded. Interventionbased studies and randomised controlled trials were excluded to increase the external validity of findings [38]. Qualitative studies, book chapters, conference proceeding, reviews, and unpublished works were excluded as they were not in the scope of this review.

Methodological and quality appraisal. Data were systematically extracted with any ambiguity being discussed and resolved with the second author. For all included articles, the first and second author conduced a quality assessment based on applicable questions from the Standard Quality Assessment Criteria for Evaluating Primary Research Papers from a Variety of Fields [39], see Table 1 and Table 2. Scoring possibilities for the 11 items are Yes (2), Partial (1), No (0) and Not Applicable (N/A) (excluded from scoring). The total possible global score for each study was one (total raw score divided by 22). Scoring agreement between the two reviewers was high (97.44%). All scoring disagreements were discussed and resolved. Figure 3 outlines the systematic review process.

TABLE 1: Items used from the Standard Quality Assessment Criteria for Evaluating

Criteria	Question	Area Assessed
1	Question / objectives sufficiently described?	Objective
2	Study design evident and appropriate?	Study design
3	Method of subject/ comparison group selection or source of information / input variables described and appropriate?	Recruitment method
4	Subject (and comparison group, if applicable) char- acteristics sufficiently described?	Sample characteristics
5	Outcome and (if applicable) exposure measure(s) well defined and robust to measurement / misclassi- fication bias? Means of assessment reported?	Measures
6	Sample size appropriate?	Sample size
7	Analytical methods described / justified as appropri- ate?	Analysis plan
8	Some estimate of variance is reported in the main results?	Estimate of variance
9	Controlled for confounding?	Confounding variables
10	Results reported in sufficient detail?	Sufficient results
11	Conclusions supported by the results?	Validity of conclusions

Primary Research Papers from a Variety of Fields [39].

Author(s)	QI	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7	Q8	Q9	Q10	Q11	Score
Hofstetter, Lysaker & Mayeda [40]	2	2	1	2	2	2	1	1	1	2	2	0.82
Caron, Lecomte, Stip & Renaud [27]	2	2	1	2	2	1	1	0	2	1	2	0.73
Ritsner and Grinshpoon [41]	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	1	1	1	0.82
Brenner, St-Hilaire, Liu, Laplante & King [42]	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	0.95
El Sheshtawy [43]	1	2	1	2	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	0.64
Montemagni et al. [44]	2	2	2	2	2	1	1	2	2	2	2	0.91
Moslehi, Atefimanesh & Farid [45]	2	2	2	2	0	2	1	1	0	2	1	0.68
Rudnick [32]; Martins & Rudnick [8]	2	2	2	2	2	1	1	1	0	1	2	0.73
Rudnick and Martins [46]	2	2	2	2	2	1	1	0	0	2	2	0.73

TABLE 2: Methodological Appraisal.

Data extraction. Where possible, data was extracted relating to the: aim; design; setting; sample size and characteristics; coping and QoL outcome measures used; and all results relating to QoL and coping (see Table 3).

Stu	Co	De	Study Aim	Sample c	haracterist	tics	Measure		Relationship / association between QoL and coping
dy	untry	sign		N (SZ%)	Age M(SD)	Male (%)	QoL	Coping	-
Hofstetter, Lysaker & Mayeda [40]	USA	Cross-sectional	The relationship between sleep quality, coping & QoL	29(79)	48(7)	93	QLS	WCQ	Positive reappraisal correlated positively with QoL ($r = 0.42$). No correlation between escape avoidance and QoL.
Caron, Leco	Canada	Cross-sectio	The predictors of QoL & their 6-month	143(80)	41	74	SLDS	CCS*	At baseline and 6-month follow-up, changing the situation, devaluation, avoidance and accommodation significantly positively correlated with QoL ($r = 0.21-0.28$). Reduction was not significantly correlated with QoL.
mte, Stip & Rena		nal repeated me	stability						After accounting for socio-demographic, clinical and stressor variables, coping processes (including appraisal and mechanisms) significantly contributed to the variance in QoL at baseline (<i>Adjusted R² incremental</i> = 0.66) and at 6-month follow up (<i>Adjusted R² incremental</i> = 0.67).
ud [27]		asures							No subdivision of coping significantly accounted for variance in QoL other than strategies for changing the situation at 6-months ($\beta = 0.26$).
Ritsner a	Israel	Cross-sec	The role & contribution of unmet	95(80)	48.2 (9.1)	77	Q-LES- Q	CISS	Emotion- and task-orientated coping accounted for 11.6% of variance in QoL. Avoidance-orientated coping did not predict general QoL.
nd Grinshpoon [41]		tional	needs on QoL.						Coping may act as a moderator between unmet needs and general QoL

TABLE 3: Summary of studies	included in the systematic review
-----------------------------	-----------------------------------

Stu	Co	Dea	Study Aim	Sample c	haracterist	ics	Measure	e	Relationship / association between QoL and coping									
dy	untry	sign		N (SZ%)	Age M(SD)	Male (%)	QoL	Coping	-									
Cross Cana Brenn & Kii	Cross-	The roles & interactions	59 (HC =	30.5 (7.3)	80	SWLS	bCOPE	QoL negatively correlated with problem-orientated coping ($r = -0.37$). QoL was not correlated with emotion-orientated coping.										
er, St-Hi g [42]	2	section	physiological stress	29)	SZ				Problem-orientated coping contributed towards predicting QoL ($\beta = 0.31$).									
ilaire, Li	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style	responses & coping style						Increased frequency of coping strategies positively associated with QOL (for patients with blunted cortisol response).
iu, Laplante		Control	QOL.	1 10				Suggestive that using emotion-oriented coping in those with low stress reactivity predicted greater QOL, while using emotion- oriented coping predicted lower QOL in those with high stress reactivity.										
El Sheshtawy [43]	Saudi Arabia	Cross-sectional	Coping patterns used in response to daily stressors & investigate the impact of symptomatol ogy on QoL.	70	NR	57	SQLS	bCOPE	Number of coping strategies used did not correlate with QoL across all QoL domains.									
Montemagni et al. [44]	Italy	Cross-sectional	The influence of negative symptoms, insight, & coping on QoL	92	42.9 (11.4)	54	QLS	CISS	Task-orientated ($\beta = 0.31$), emotion-orientated ($\beta = 0.30$), social diversion ($\beta = 0.48$) and distraction ($\beta = 0.04$) positively associated with QoL. Social diversion partially mediates the negative symptom interaction with QoL.									

Stu	Cot	Des	Study Aim	Sample characteristics			Measure		Measure		Relationship / association between QoL and coping							
dy	untry	sign		N (SZ%)	Age M(SD)	Male (%)	QoL	Coping	-									
Iran Moslehi, At	Cross-secti	C The relationship between c problem-	C The relationship between problem-	The relationship between problem-	The relationship between problem-	The relationship between problem-	The relationship between problem-	The relationship between problem-	The relationship between problem-	The relationship between problem-	The relationship between problem-	C The relationship between c problem-	50	NR	63	WHOQ oL-100	wcq	Thinking-coping positively correlated with QoL-physical heath $(r = 0.42)$, -mental health $(r = 0.28)$, -social relationships $(r = 0.31)$, -environmental factors $(r = 0.35)$ and total score $(r = 0.32)$.
efimanesh & F	focused coping & QoL.				Performance-coping correlated with higher QoL-physical health ($r = 0.42$), -mental health ($r = 0.30$) and -environmental factors ($r = 0.34$) but not related to total QoL or social relationships QoL domain.													
arid [45]									Problem-focused coping correlated with higher QoL-physical heath ($r = 0.47$), -mental health ($r = 0.33$), -social relationships ($r = 0.29$), -environmental factors ($r = 0.41$) and total score ($r = 0.32$).									
									Only thinking-coping effectively predicted QoL ($\beta = 0.32$).									
Rudnick	Israel	Cross-sec	[32] The relationship between	58	42.4(10 .8)	69	W-QLI [3	[32] WCC L	[32] Problem and emotion-focused coping did not correlate with QoL. Problem- and emotion-focused coping did not influence the relationship between symptomatology and QoL									
[32]; Mar		tional	symptoms & QoL, & coping's role					[8] WCQ	[8] Considering ($r = -0.28$), acting ($r = -0.31$), ignoring ($r = 0.33$), positive reappraising ($r = -0.29$) and self-soothing ($r = -0.29$) coping all negatively correlated with the finances QoL									
tins &			[8]						domain of finances. No correlations found between coping and other OoL domains									
t Rudnick [8			If Coping predicts symptoms & QoL.															
Study	Country	Design	Study Aim	Sample characteristics			Measure		Relationship / association between QoL and coping									
--------------------------	---------	-----------------	--	------------------------	--------------	-------------	----------	--------	--									
				N (%SZ)	Age M(SD)	Male (%)	QoL	Coping										
Rudnick and Martins [46]	Israel	Cross-sectional	Create a coping framework & assess if coping associated with symptoms & QoL.	56	NR	70	70 W-QLI	WCCL	Activity-coping ($r = 0.28$) and hope-related-coping ($r = 0.31$) positively related to QoL psychological-wellbeing. Hope-related coping positively related to QoL activities of daily living ($r = 0.30$).									
									Guilt and indirect coping negatively related to QoL life satisfaction ($r = -0.43$), distress from symptoms ($r = -0.41$), financial ($r = 0.38$) and social ($r = -0.40$) domains, in addition to mean QoL ($r = -0.45$).									

Abbreviations: QoL = Quality of Life, NR = Not Reported, SZ = Schizophrenia sample, HC = Healthy Controls

QoL Measures: QLS = Quality of Life Scale (Heinrich), SLDS = Satisfaction with Life Domains Scale, Q-LES-Q = Quality of Life Enjoyment and Satisfaction Questionnaire, SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale, SQLS = Self Report Quality of Life for Schizophrenia, WHOQoL-100 = World Health Organization Quality of Life 100, and W-QLI = Wisconsin Quality of Life Index.

Coping mechanism measures: WCQ = Ways of Coping Questionnaire, WCCL = Ways of Coping Checklist, CCS* = Cybernetic Coping Scale (abbreviated from), CISS = Coping Inventory of Stressful Situations, and bCope = Brief Coping Inventory.



FIGURE 3: Flow diagram of systematic research (adapted from Moher et al. [47]).

2.4. Results

A total of nine worldwide studies, published between 2001 and 2015, with eight independent samples, were identified for inclusion within this review. Sample sizes of included data within this review ranged from 29 to 143, with a total sample size of 654. All studies used cross-sectional methodologies, except from one study, which used a repeated measures design. Across all studies, the sampling favoured males ranging from 54-93% which is expected given the higher incidence rate of schizophrenia in men [48]. Six samples were diagnostically homogeneous, with the remaining three incorporating a sample of around 80% with a schizophrenia diagnosis and the other comprising of schizoaffective disorder.

Instruments used to measure coping.

The Ways of Coping Questionnaire. Four studies, including one non-independent sample, used either the 66-item Ways of Coping Questionnaire (WCQ) [6, 49] or the 68item Ways of Coping Checklist (WCCL) [5]. The WCCL asks respondents to answer true or false to each item whereas the WCQ adopts a four-point Likert scale ranging from "does not apply" and/or "not used" through to "used a great deal". The original scoring derived eight subscales (planful problem-solving, positive reappraisal, seeking social support, distancing, self-controlling, escape-avoidance, accepting responsibility, and confrontive coping) from 50 of the 66-items [50]. Alternative subscale systems are also available [51, 52] such as the eight-item structure (Confrontive Coping, Distancing, Self-Control, Seeking Social Support, Accepting Responsibility, Escape Avoidance, Planful Problem Solving, and Positive Reappraisal) [53]. Both problem- (e.g. planful problem solving) and emotionfocused (e.g. escape avoidance and self-control) coping are assessed. In some conceptualisations, there is an additional 'mixed problem and emotion-focused coping' scale (comprising social support) [6] or an 'avoidant-focused coping' scale (comprising ignoring and resigning). The WCQ has shown adequate psychometric properties (see Lundqvist & Ahlstom, [54]) including acceptable internal consistency [6]. The WCCL has also been shown to have respectable reliability coefficients (see Vitaliano et al., [55]).

The brief COPE. Two studies used the 28-item brief COPE [56] which assesses coping across 14 scales. This validated measure is derived from the 60-item COPE [57] and asks patients to rate how regularly they utilise the given response when under stress using a 4-point Likert scale ranging from "I haven't been doing this" to "I've been doing this a lot." Cognitive and behavioural coping strategies are included. Three subscales create the

problem-orientated score and 11 subscales create the emotion-orientated score. Both subscales are found to have adequate internal consistency (Brenner, [42]).

The Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations (CISS). Two studies adopted the 48-item CISS [1] to assess coping across Task-, Emotion-, and Avoidance-orientated subscales. Like the brief COPE, the CISS asks respondents to rate the frequency of using each item when stressed but on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "not at all" to "very much". Within Montemagni and colleagues' [44] study, the avoidance subscale is further split into distraction and social diversion subscales. Internal consistency scores are found to be good and test–retest reliability correlations are high [58]. Adequate discriminant validity, divergent and convergent validity has also been found [59).

The Cybernetic Coping Scale (CCS). The abbreviated version of the CCS [60] was adopted in the Caron, Lecomte, Stip and Renaud [27] study. The CCS differs in its conceptualisation of coping behaviours. Twenty items from the 40-item version make up the abbreviated CCS. Respondents answer each question on a seven-point Likert scale ranging from "not at all" to "use very much." The abbreviated version derives five coping domains: changing the situation, devaluation, accommodation, reduction of symptoms and avoidance. The CCS has been found to have adequate psychometric properties [61] and the French version has been validated [62 as cited in 27, p. 405].

Summary of coping scales. All coping measures were self-report which asked participants to respond using Likert scales (ranging from four to seven points) to a set of questions (ranging from 40-68). Problem-focused coping was assessed within three scales (WCQ, WCCL, and brief COPE), emotion-focused coping was assessed within four scales (WCQ, WCCL, brief COPE and CISS). The CISS measured additional constructs of task-

and avoidance-orientated coping. The CSS adopted a different conceptualisation of coping to other scales, although included avoidance within its coping domains.

Instruments used to measure Quality of Life. Seven validated QoL measures were used by the included studies. Only the Quality of Life Scale (QLS) [63], which the Hofstetter, Lysaker and Mayeda [40] and the Montemagni et al. [44] studies used, involved an expert-assessed QoL assessment. This 21-item scale assesses QoL across four subscales ('Intrapsychic Foundations'; 'Occupational Functions', 'Commonplace Objects'; and 'Activities and Interpersonal Relationships'). The assessment is through a 30-45-minute semi-structured interview and review of clinical notes by a clinically trained assessor. Acceptable psychometric criteria are reported [64] including validity measures [65, 66] and good inter-rater reliability [67, 68]. It has been said to be the most extensively employed measure used in schizophrenia research [69]. However, the QLS is shown to conceptually overlap with negative symptomatology (particularly the 'Intrapsychic foundations' subscale) and is said to be more related to everyday functioning rather than wider subjective QoL literature which focuses more on life satisfaction [70].

The remaining studies used the following six different self-report (subjective) assessments of QoL. The 100-item World Health Organisation Quality of Life (WHOQoL-100; World Health Organisation [71]) assesses wellbeing and is found to have good psychometric properties [72]. This scale was used by the Moslehi, Atefimanesh & Farid [45] study and is found to have acceptable content validity, internal consistency and reliability [**73**, **74**]. This scale provides a total QoL and overall health QoL score, in addition to four subscales (physical health, mental health social relationships and environmental). The Wisconsin Quality of Life Index (W-QLI) [75] was used by three studies [8, 32, 46]. It gives a global QoL score in addition to eight QoL domains (life satisfaction, occupational activities, psychological wellbeing, non-distress from symptoms, physical health, social relations, economics and activities of daily living). The Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS) [76] was used by Brenner, St-Hilaire, Liu, Laplante and King [42]. This scale derives a global rating on overall life satisfaction with lower scores indicating greater life dissatisfaction. Reliability and validity is found to be favourable [77-79].

The Self-Report Quality of Life for Schizophrenia measure (SQLS) [80] assessed QoL in El Sheshtawy [43] study. This 30-item measure comprises three subscales ('psychosocial', 'motivational' and 'symptoms') and is demonstrated to have good psychometrics including good inter-rater reliability [80] with short retest intervals reported [43]. It is considered to give a symptom-related QoL scale rather than a health-related QoL measure [81]. The Quality of Life Enjoyment and Life Satisfaction Questionnaire (Q-LES-Q) [82] was used by Ritsner and Grinshpoon [41]. It provides a general score along with seven QoL domains (physical health, subjective feelings, leisure time activities, social relationships, general activities, life satisfaction and satisfaction with medicine). Internal consistency is found to be adequate [41] and it has been demonstrated to be a reliable and valid clinical assessment of QoL (see [83]).

Finally, the 20-domain French version [84] of the 15-item adapted [85] Satisfaction with life Domains Scale (SLDS) [72] was used by Caron and colleagues' [27] study. Clothing, daily activities food, health, economic situation, hobbies recreational activities, house/apartment, neighbourhood, local services and facilities, how they got on with other people, family, friends, people they live with, love life, self-confidence, freedom, life in general, and responsibility domains are assessed and a total QoL score is obtained. The French version of the SLDS has been shown to have adequate psychometrics (see [87]).

Summary of quality of life measures. The QLS was the only measure adopting expertassessed QoL; the remaining six scales utilised self-report measures. The majority of QoL scales provide subscales / domains (ranging from three to 15) in addition to a global QoL score. The SWLS and Q-LES-Q include measures of life-satisfaction. The WHOQoL-100 assesses wellbeing in addition to health-related QoL whereas the SQLS is found to be symptom-related rather than health-related QoL. Six measures included a social relationship component (QLS, WHOQoL-100, W-QLI, SQLS, Q-LES-Q and SLDS), four included a health component (WHOQoL-100, W-QLI, Q-LES-Q and SLDS) and three incorporated a measure of mental health (WHOQoL-100, W-QLI and SQLS).

Description of studies. The Hofstetter and colleagues [40] study assessed individual's relative preference for two subscales (escape avoidance and positive reappraisal) of the WCQ. Coping and QoL were assessed along with sleep patterns, sleep quality and symptomatology. The sample was relatively small (n = 29), with most patients in their 40s. Therefore, the authors question the generalisability of their findings to other populations. Given some individuals were included with a schizoaffective disorder (n = 6), some results are segregated based on diagnosis, but unfortunately not those relevant to this review. The authors use a total QoL score though summation of the subscales and the sample generated a mean score of $51,73(\pm 16.6)$. Mean score on escape-avoidance was $0.138(\pm 0.062)$ and positive reappraisal was $0.125(\pm 0.079)$. They found a significant positive correlation between positive reappraisal and QoL (r = 0.42, p < 0.05) but no significant correlation

predictive ability of sleep quality on QoL, they did not report the predictive ability of coping mechanisms. The authors recognise that their sample size is insufficient to ascertain correlations between sleep quality and QoL subscales but do not allude to this impacting on the reported non-significant correlation between escape avoidance and QoL. Without reported data analysis plans, power calculations or effect sizes, the reliability and validity of the results reported are questionable. However, this study scored highly on the methodological appraisal indicating a high quality of primary research.

The Moslehi and colleagues [45] study aimed to assess the relationship between problem-focused coping and QoL. The 23 items relating to problem-focused strategies within the WCQ assessed performance (Seeing social support and accepting responsibility) and thinking (including planful problem-solving and positive reappraisal) coping subcategories. The sample (n = 50) contained a diagnostically homogeneous (all schizophrenia) sample who were deemed chronic but relatively stable and who were referred to a psychological clinic in Iran. The mean age of the sample was not reported although the inclusion criteria included individuals aged between 18 and 65 years. The sample size was stated to be ascertained by an expert panel. The authors report that 1.99% (SD = 0.61) of people reported that within problem-focused strategies, the thinking subscale was used the most frequently. Whilst descriptive statistics are presented for the QoL measures (the WHOQoL-100), they were not provided for coping. Significant (p < p0.05) positive correlations were reported between total problem-focused coping and the total QoL and all QoL subscales. The same was found for the thinking subscale of problemfocused coping. However, for the performance subscale, no significant correlation was found for the total QoL score and for the social relationships QoL subscale. Subsequent

stepwise multiple regression analysis indicated that only the thinking subscale significantly predicted QoL. The authors provide a linear formula for this influence (QoL = 0.325 (thinking subscale) + 2.037). Whilst the authors have stated that their data was normally distributed to allow for parametric testing, they have not reported a sample size calculation for either component of their analysis or details of corrections for multiple correlational testing. Consequently, the non-significant results may not represent 'true' negative findings (type II error) and the several significant correlations reported may be 'false' positives (type I errors) [88]. Relative to the other studies, this study scored low in quality assessment. However, the association between thinking coping and QoL is consistent with the higher rated Hofstetter et al. [40] study which found positive appraisal (which is within the thinking coping construct) to be significantly related to QoL.

The Rudnick [32] study explored the role of coping as a moderator between symptom severity influence on QoL in 58 chronic participants without current diagnostic comorbidities. Problem- and emotion-focused coping domains were assessed in relation to coping with symptoms. No descriptive statistics were provided for the coping or QoL measures. The study reported no correlation between coping and QoL but did not provide the relevant statistical outputs. Multiple linear regressions were performed to assess for interactions from coping. The authors state that neither problem- or emotion-focused coping influenced the impact of positive or negative symptomatology on QoL scores but lacked the relevant statistical outputs relating to this. Although Type I errors are less likely given the authors have stated that their significance level was adjusted for multiple testing, they have not provided details on power calculations for inferring interactions or if their model was bootstrapped. Consequently, as stated by the authors, there may be an increased

chance of Type II errors. The paper scored highly on the quality assessment tool and the authors do address the difficulties of power within their discussion and clearly state the need for results to be replicated to infer any definitive conclusion.

Further analysis of this data set was provided by Martins and Rudnick [8] within a published editorial letter. Within this letter, an alternative six-category construct established from the WCQ [74] was used to re-ascertain if using this coping construct influenced the relationship with QoL. Only for the 'finances' QoL domain, 'considering', 'acting', 'ignoring', 'resigning', 'positive reappraising' and 'self-soothing' coping domains were found to be negatively correlated (r > -.036, p <0.01). All other QoL domains were non-significant with no statistical outputs given. These results are suggestive that certain domains of QoL are differentially impacted by coping constructs. However, the additional correlations used here augment the likelihood of Type I errors impacting results [73].

The Rudnick and Martins [46] study, which utilises the data from 56 individuals obtained by Rudnick [32], aimed to generate a new coping framework from the WCC. No descriptive data was provided. Six different coping components were derived from a principal component factor analysis. The six components conceptually link to emotion-focused coping (including 'support and passive', 'wishful thinking', 'hope-related', 'guilt and indirect' coping) and problem-focused coping (comprising 'non-impulsive coping'), in addition to a mixed emotion- and problem-focused category (comprising of 'activity'). Correlations were then completed to ascertain their relation to the same QoL domains found in Rudnick [32]. Activity (r = .28, p < 0.05) and hope-related coping (r = .31, p < 0.01) significantly correlated with the psychological wellbeing QoL domain. Hope-related coping also significantly related to the activities of daily living QoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living QoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r = .30, p < 0.01) significantly related to the activities of daily living PoL domain (r

0.05). For the life satisfaction (r = -.43, p < 0.01), distress from symptoms (r = -.41, p < 0.01), financial (r = -.38, p < 0.01) and social QoL domains (r = -.40, p < 0.01), in addition to mean QoL (r = -.45, p < 0.01), an inverse relationship with guilt and indirect coping was found. All categories found significant inverse relationships exclusively with the finance QoL domain (r > -0.36, p < 0.01). The authors summarise these findings to suggest that problem-focused coping may be especially helpful in comparison to emotion-focused coping. The authors highlight the increased chance of Type II errors existing due to the limited sample size available but was found to score highly in the quality assessment evaluation.

Within Brenner and colleagues [42], the brief COPE instructions were modified with participants asked to complete the measure based on a given interpersonal scenario involving winning the lottery. This is the only case-control study included in the review which incorporated a chronic but relatively stable sample. The study aimed to assess the role coping, personality traits and physiological stress reactivity have on QoL in 30 patients diagnosed with schizophrenia and 29 controls. QoL was assessed using the self-report Satisfaction with Life Scale [76]. Unlike the other studies within this review, participants were given a modified Trier Social Stress Test [75], in addition to administration of questionnaire packs. Group comparisons were provided along with means. The mean scores were 22.0(\pm 8.6) for QoL, 29.4(\pm 11.0) for emotion-orientated coping and 13.3(\pm 4.3) for problem-orientated coping. Analysis of data for the schizophrenia group were reported independently from the control group. Problem-orientated coping negatively correlated with QoL (r = -.37), whereas no significant correlation was found for emotion-orientated coping. Hierarchical regression analysis found that 58% of variance in QoL was explained

by age, personality (extraversion and intrasession), problem-orientated coping and stress reactivity (cortisol response). After controlling for the contributions for personality and age, problem-orientated coping (β = -.31, p <.05) and stress reactivity were found to explain an additional 18% of the variance in QoL. Emotion-orientated coping was not found to contribute towards predicting QoL. The authors suggest a coping-by-stress interaction for emotional-orientated coping. The more coping strategies used in those with lower cortisol response was associated with increased QoL. The authors highlight several methodological limitations such as small sample sizes and the cross-sectional nature of the study. Given that the correlations were completed for each group, it is likely that some of the analysis may not be sufficiently powered to detect a significant result (Type II error). The stressinducing experimental component of this study may have influenced the type of client interested in taking part. However, given that the questionnaires relating to QoL and coping were administered to participants prior to the stress task, it is less likely that this would directly influence participants' responses. Additionally, this study scored high on the methodological rating scale.

The El Sheshtawy [43] assessed the number of coping mechanisms used, and which three mechanisms respondents found more useful when dealing with daily stressors. Whilst the mean age is not reported, only participants aged between 18 and 45 years were eligible to participate. The 70 participants were deemed chronically unwell but stable. The average number of coping strategies used was $12.06(\pm 4.13)$, with numbers ranging from three to 22. The Self-Report Quality of Life for Schizophrenia measure assessed QoL [80]. Three subscale means were reported, 28.28(8.2) for 'psychosocial', 39.75(7.6) for 'motivational energy' and 20.79(7.6) for the 'symptoms and side-effect' scale and were all indicated to be impaired. The number of coping strategies were not found to correlate with any of the three QoL subscales. This study was the lowest scoring regarding quality assessment. Therefore, despite containing over double the participants reported in Brenner et al. [42] study (and reducing the likelihood of influence by Type I errors), the lack of information regarding sample size power calculations, means their results could be less reliable.

Montemagni and colleagues [44] assessed the relative contributions of negative symptomatology, insight and coping strategies to QoL (intrapsychic foundations) in a stable schizophrenia sample of 90 individuals who had been stable for greater than six months. Like Hofstetter and colleagues [40], the QLS observer-rated QoL measure is used but only the intrapsychic foundations subscale was incorporated. Descriptive statistics are provided for coping and QoL but no correlational statistics between variables were given. Univariate linear regression analysis indicated that task- ($\beta = .31$, p < 0.01), emotion- ($\beta =$.30, p < 0.01), social diversion- (β = .48, p < 0.01) and distraction-orientated coping (β = .04, p < 0.01) were positively associated with higher QoL scores. Following backward variable selection, the best-fit model for predicting QoL included negative symptomatology, social diversion coping and insight. This accounted for 45.3% of variance. Mediation analysis indicated that social diversion coping partially mediated the impact of negative symptoms on QoL (z = -4.29, p < 0.01). The authors summarise that patients experiencing higher levels of negative symptoms use social diversion coping less. It is likely that the larger sample size of 90 would provide more power than some of the other studies within this review and given its higher score within the quality assessment, the results are likely to be more reliable.

Ritsner and Grinshpoon [41] reported cross-sectional data involving 108 individuals from a larger longitudinal study. Descriptive statistics were provided for all QoL scores and coping scales. For coping, the mean for Task-orientated was 55.1(17.2), for emotionorientated 42.0(13.8) and for avoidance-orientated 48.2(14.3). Most participants were reported to be dissatisfied with their overall QoL. Correlations between coping and QoL were not reported. Coping styles were incorporated alongside unmet needs and perceived social support into the best fit regression model which explained 57% of QoL variance. Emotion-orientated coping negatively influenced QoL ($\beta = -0.25$, partial R² = 4.3, p < .001) whereas task-orientated coping positively influenced QoL ($\beta = .038$, partial R² =7.3, p <.001). Consequently, an additional 11.6% of variance in QoL was accounted for by two coping styles. The authors suggest that coping styles may act as a moderator to the relationship between unmet needs and QoL. Avoidance-orientated coping was not found to contribute, whereas task- and emotion-orientated did. This study documented the analysis plan and adaptations required including a multiple-comparison test given that several regressions were completed. The sample is not fully homogeneous like two other studies presented in this review. This has implications for the validity and generalisability of findings but given the superior quality assessment score and that the Hofstetter and colleagues [40] study also found that avoidance-coping was not related to QoL, the results can be viewed as more dependable.

Caron and colleagues [27] utilise a cross-sectional repeated measures design with the second time point six-months after the first. The majority (93%) of the 143 participants were French-speaking with all participants being within the community for over onemonth. The study aimed to ascertain the predictors of QoL using the self-report Satisfaction with life Domains Scale (SLDS) [85]. No descriptive statistics were reported for the coping or QoL measure, but correlations and regression statistics were. Changing the situation, devaluation, avoidance and accommodation coping mechanisms were reported to significantly correlate positively with QoL. Reduction of symptoms coping was not found to significantly correlate with QoL and was subsequently excluded from the hierarchical regression analysis. Within the regression analysis, after accounting for socio-demographic, clinical and stressor variables, coping processes were a significant contributor to the variance in QoL. Coping was reported to account for 6.6. % of the 50.1% of variance in QoL accounted for by the given model. At time point 2, other than strategies for changing the situation which positively related to QoL, no other subdivision of coping was found to significantly relate to QoL. Given the repeated measures methodology and that at time point 2 coping accounted for around the same amount of variance (6.7%), the study demonstrates greater reliability in its findings. However, this study scored relatively lower on the quality assessment compared to other studies and potentially warrants more caution regarding any conclusions drawn.

2.5. Conclusions

Within the nine presented studies, the majority had a diagnostically homogeneous sample with a diagnosis of schizophrenia. Correlations between QoL and coping were reported by seven studies. Five studies reported mixed evidence for the relationship between coping and QoL. On examination, this is mainly found when authors assess different constructs of coping mechanisms (i.e. emotion- or problem-orientated coping) or specific coping mechanisms on different constructs of QoL. One study also reported that the number of coping mechanisms did not relate to QoL [43].

For studies specifically addressing total problem-focused coping and QoL, positive relationships were reported by Moslehi [45] and Hofstetter et al. [40] for the 'positive reappraisal' subscale and QoL and negative correlations were found by Brenner and colleagues [42]. The results obtained from the same data-set (within Rudnick [32], Martins and Rudnick [8] and Rudnick and Martins [46]) were varied. These studies mainly reported non-significant relationships between the components of problem-focused coping and QoL. In Caron and colleagues [27], when considering 'changing the situation', 'devaluation' and 'accommodation' as problem-orientated coping, significant positive relationships were found with QoL. For 'reduction of symptoms' subtype of coping, no relationship was found. In summary, more studies reported a relationship between problem-focused coping and QoL than did not find a relationship. Within this, most studies provided evidence derived from correlational analysis and indicated that increased problem-focused coping was related to better QoL with a small to medium effect size. Furthermore, as most of the studies reporting non-significant results were ascertained from the same data-set and of relatively lower quality than some of those reporting significant results, it is likely that the relationship between problem-focused coping and QoL is more reliable.

For emotion-orientated coping and QoL, no correlation was found by Brenner and colleagues [42]. Both positive and negative correlations were reported by Rudnick and Martins [46] when considering different QoL subscales. However, no correlations were found in Rudnick [32]. Hofstetter et al. [40] also found no relationship between 'escape avoidance' and QoL. In Caron and colleagues [27], when considering 'avoidance' as an emotion-orientated coping construct, a significant positive relationship with QoL was found. Given Brenner and colleagues [42] and Hofstetter et al. [40] were higher scoring on

the quality assessment, their non-significant results may be more dependable than the studies reporting significant results. However, it is also possible that certain facets of emotion-orientated coping, such as avoidance, are related to QoL rather than all aspects of emotion-orientated coping.

In terms of associations, regression type analyses were reported by six studies. Moslehi et al. [45] found that only the thinking subscale (problem-focused coping) significantly predicted QoL, whereas the performance subscale did not. Brenner et al. [42] found that problem-orientated coping, but not emotion-orientated coping, was associated with QoL. Montemagni et al. [44] found that all types of coping positively associated with QoL scores. Ritsner and Grinshpoon [41] also found that coping accounted for total variance in QoL with emotion-orientated coping negatively influencing and task-orientated (problem-orientated) coping positively influencing. Avoidance-coping was not found to influence QoL. Caron et al. [27] found that coping processes significantly contribute towards QoL at two different time points. Rudnick [32] found that problem- and emotionfocused coping did not moderate or mediate the influence symptomatology severity had on QoL. Montemagni et al. [44] reported that coping was a partial mediator when considering the impact of negative symptoms. Finally, Ritsner and Grinshpoon [41] suggest that coping styles may moderate the influence of unmet needs on QoL. In summary, most studies evidenced that problem-oriented coping is associated with QoL. However, within higher and lower quality scoring studies, the findings for emotion-orientated coping are more mixed.

Whilst the literature demonstrates mixed findings, it is apparent that there is more evidence for problem-focused than emotion-focused coping mechanisms influencing QoL in schizophrenia community samples. Problem-focused coping has predominantly been indicated to have a small-medium positive correlation on QoL. More research is required before any recommendations can be made regarding interventions focused on enhancing problem-focused coping to improve QoL within schizophrenia community samples.

2.6. Discussion

Within mixed schizophrenia or psychosis samples, in areas relating to coping, systematic reviews or meta-analyses exist for interventions incorporating distraction techniques [91], coping in relation to life stress and symptoms of illness [14], and safety-seeking behaviours in relation to symptomatology and threat beliefs [92]. There are also several literature reviews [93], systematic reviews and meta-analyses published on the possible contributors to QoL (such as symptomatology) within psychosis, mixed schizophrenic-like, and pure schizophrenia samples (see [33, 94-96]). The presented systematic review adds to the literature by specifically assessing the role of coping on QoL in a schizophrenia sample. However, the conclusions from this review demonstrate that currently, whilst there is more evidence for problem-focused coping being influential to QoL, there is no consensus on the relationship between coping and QoL. Therefore, assumptions should not be made regarding the role of coping in QoL within current practice. There are several important implications from this review.

Whilst coping has been used to help explain QoL differences between schizophrenia and control populations, this paper and other research demonstrates that further studies are required to clarify the relationship between coping and QoL in schizophrenia [97]. Symptoms are found to influence coping [98]. Severity of psychotic symptoms is widely reported to relate to adopting more maladaptive coping mechanisms [16, 99, 100]. Negative symptoms [22, 101] and depression [19] may be particularly important and there is evidence for a heavier reliance on emotion-orientated or non-problem-focused coping over other types within schizophrenia populations [102]. Social factors are likely to be key when considering coping style [103]. The articles within the review also suggest IQ [43], individual differences in physiology [42] and quality of sleep [40] are important. Whilst some studies recognise and attempt to control for some of these variables, it is likely that these variables would impact on the results presented.

In addition to assessing coping, the papers included within this review also highlight the role of unmet needs [41], level of education, [27], insight [44] and quality of sleep on QoL [40]. Other literature reviews demonstrate that symptoms [34], in particular negative symptoms [33], along with cultural, societal, economic, interpersonal support, and service availability also influence QoL [95].

Measures. As demonstrated by the presented literature, QoL and coping are complex constructs and there are debates surrounding their conceptualisation and measurement. Awad and Voruganti [104] review of QoL measures in schizophrenia concluded there was a lack of consensus and that measures which contain several QoL constructs are beneficial. Insight, which varies within schizophrenia, is indicated to be an important factor which influences self-report measures and therefore their validity [105]. However, authors argue that subjective QoL ratings are more in line with QoL definitions [93, 106] and maybe more clinically useful in assessing life satisfaction [105]. When considering observer- and clinician- rated QoL, incongruity is reported within schizophrenia research [96, 106]. The studies in this review contained either observer- or clinician- rated QoL measures, but more

studies are required to allow for detailed consideration of their potential impact on the results.

Coping is also problematic regarding its conceptualisation and assessment [107-109]. Due to the current limited consensus on coping as a construct, the measure chosen to assess coping should be carefully considered [109]. Without a more harmonious concept, there will be limitations in our understanding of the relative impacts coping mechanisms have [111]. There is ongoing suggestion that further development or novel creation of coping frameworks is required along with the potential for specific consideration for schizophrenia-specific symptomatologies within this [46, 112].

Limitations. There are major limitations in the methodology used by the studies presented in this review. Most results presented by studies within this review may be influenced by Type I and Type II errors due to the lack of power calculations, the small sample sizes and the use of multiple testing. Furthermore, the cross-sectional correlational designs adopted by most of the studies limit cause and effect being ascertained. Additionally, most of the studies did not consider or control for the potential of contributing variables. Furthermore, the inclusion of separately published analysis using the same data within Rudnick [32] and Rudnick and Martins [46] is a limitation of this review as this may influence conclusions drawn. Finally, all studies rely on set inclusion and exclusion criteria, therefore the full range of patients diagnosed with schizophrenia are unlikely to be represented by this review. Generalisability is therefore questionable.

Regarding the study selection process, several items within the inclusion and exclusion criteria could be deemed limitations and are important to consider. First, qualitative data was omitted from this review and therefore prevents a more holistic overview of the current

data to be reviewed. Second, bias may have been created given that unpublished data were not incorporated into this systematic review [113]. Third, the methodology for study selection restricted the results in terms of diagnosis and setting. It is important to note that the validity of the diagnostics reported within the included papers should be viewed as a strength as only Brenner and colleagues [42] did not report using a specific diagnostic assessment to confirm diagnosis. However, regarding diagnosis, individual differences in symptom presentation are found in schizophrenia and within this diagnosis there are several domains and schizophrenia-type disorders. Fourth, whilst this review aimed to represent a homogeneous population of schizophrenia, not all studies were fully homogeneous and subsyndromes were not accounted for. Fifth, many studies were excluded as they failed to adequately describe their samples or contained inpatient samples. However, for this literature, considering community and inpatient samples independently may be necessary, as within inpatient stays symptom severity is shown to increase the use of coping strategies [114].

2.7. Implications for Research and Practice

Given the outlined limitations, future reviews are required for inpatient settings and for the different domains of schizophrenia-type disorders. It would be beneficial for further data synthesis to incorporate mixed methodologies and unpublished studies to allow for a more comprehensive review to be completed. For any included qualitative research, it will be essential to use more relevant quality assessment tools.

Research into coping mechanisms is important due to its links to psychological interventions. It is likely that coping as a mechanism is far more complex than the presented literature alludes to. More research is required to enhance our understanding of

coping and to help create a more stable taxonomy of this construct (see [115]) to ascertain how coping may be influential to QoL in schizophrenia. Gaining a consensus on a coping construct within schizophrenia will aid identification of the most valid assessment tool to measure this. The development of new assessments of coping may be required.

Regarding QoL conceptualisations and assessments, the utilisation of both clinician and self-report measures are warranted to ascertain the potential impact these could have on results. Relating to this, researchers should ensure their definition of QoL is clear to enable them to detect the most valid QoL measure within the current broad QoL measures currently existing (see [25]). Furthermore, given the demonstrated impact factors such as insight and depression have on QoL scores in schizophrenia, these variables need to be assessed and controlled for [106, 116].

Further research is especially relevant to schizophrenia in helping us to improve the effectiveness of psycho-social interventions within this field [16, 45, 100]. Research with larger samples, which incorporates a comparison group, considers and controls for wider contributing factors (such as symptomatology) and, where possible, adopts a longitudinal design which will help obtain more reliable results and improve our understanding on potential causal relationships.

2.8. Conflicts of Interest and Funding Statement

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this paper. The study was conducted as part of a full-time Clinical Psychology Doctorate (ClinPsyD) which has been funded by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT).

2.9. References

- [1] Endler, N.S. and J. Parker, *Coping inventory for stressful situations*. 1990: Multi-Health systems Incorporated.
- [2] Endler, N.S. and J.D. Parker, *Multidimensional assessment of coping: a critical evaluation.* J Pers Soc Psychol, 1990. **58**(5): p.844-54.
- [3] Macdonald, E.M., et al., *Stress and coping in early psychosis. Role of symptoms, self-efficacy, and social support in coping with stress.* Br J Psychiatry Suppl, 1998. **172**(33): p.122-7.
- [4] Meyer, B., *Coping with severe mental illness: Relations of the Brief COPE with symptoms, functioning, and well-being.* Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 2001. **23**(4): p. 265-277.
- [5] Folkman, S. and R.S. Lazarus, *An analysis of coping in a middle-aged community sample*. J Health Soc Behav, 1980. **21**(3): p. 219-39.
- [6] Folkman, S. and R.S. Lazarus, *If it changes it must be a process: study of emotion and coping during three stages of a college examination*. J Pers Soc Psychol, 1985.
 48(1): p.150-70.
- [7] Folkman, S., *Stress: appraisal and coping*, in *Encyclopedia of behavioral medicine*. 2013, Springer. p.1913-1915.
- [8] Martins, J. and A. Rudnick, A re-analysis of the relationship among coping, symptom severity and quality of life in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res, 2007. 89(1-3): p.355-6.
- [9] Lazarus, R.S., *Emotion and adaptation*. 1991: Oxford University Press on Demand.
- [10] Zubin, J. and B. Spring, *Vulnerability--a new view of schizophrenia*. J Abnorm Psychol, 1977. **86**(2): p.103-26.
- [11] Ritsner, M.S., *The distress/protection vulnerability model of quality of life impairment syndrome*. Quality of life impairment in schizophrenia, mood and anxiety disorders, 2007: p.3-19.
- [12] Hardy, A., Pathways from trauma to psychotic experiences: A theoretically informed model of posttraumatic stress in psychosis. Frontiers in Psychology, 2017.
 8.
- [13] Liberman, R., Coping and competence as protective factors in the vulnerabilitystress model of schizophrenia, in Treatment of Schizophrenia. 1986, Springer. p.201-215.
- Phillips, L.J., et al., Strategies used by psychotic individuals to cope with life stress and symptoms of illness: a systematic review. Anxiety Stress Coping, 2009. 22(4): p.371-410.

- [15] Taylor, S.E. and A.L. Stanton, *Coping resources, coping processes, and mental health.* Annu Rev Clin Psychol, 2007. **3**: p.377-401.
- [16] Strous, R.D., et al., *Longitudinal assessment of coping abilities at exacerbation and stabilization in schizophrenia*. Compr Psychiatry, 2005. **46**(3): p.167-75.
- [17] Horan, W.P., et al., *Stressful life events in recent-onset schizophrenia: reduced frequencies and altered subjective appraisals*. Schizophr Res, 2005. **75**(2-3): p.363-74.
- [18] Horan, W.P., et al., *Stress and coping responses to a natural disaster in people with schizophrenia*. Psychiatry Res, 2007. **151**(1-2): p.77-86.
- [19] Moritz, S., et al., *Dysfunctional coping with stress in psychosis. An investigation with the Maladaptive and Adaptive Coping Styles (MAX) questionnaire.* Schizophr Res, 2016. **175**(1-3): p.129-135.
- [20] Aghevli, M.A., J.J. Blanchard, and W.P. Horan, *The expression and experience of emotion in schizophrenia: a study of social interactions*. Psychiatry Res, 2003. 119(3): p.261-70.
- [21] Lysaker, P.H., K.A. Whitney, and L.W. Davis, *Obsessive-compulsive and negative symptoms in schizophrenia: associations with coping preference and hope.* Psychiatry Res, 2006. **141**(3): p.253-9.
- [22] Wilder-Willis, K.E., et al., *The relationship between cognitive dysfunction and coping abilities in schizophrenia*. Schizophrenia Research, 2002. **55**(3): p.259-267.
- [23] Ruggeri, M., et al., *Changes and predictors of change in objective and subjective quality of life*. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 2005. **187**(2): p.121-130.
- [24] Hofer, A., et al., *Patient outcomes in schizophrenia I: correlates with* sociodemographic variables, psychopathology, and side effects. Eur Psychiatry, 2005. **20**(5-6): p.386-94.
- [25] Karow, A., et al., *The assessment of quality of life in clinical practice in patients with schizophrenia*. Dialogues in clinical neuroscience, 2014. **16**(2): p.185.
- [26] Group, W., The World Health Organization quality of life assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the World Health Organization. Social science & medicine, 1995. 41(10): p.1403-1409.
- [27] Caron, J., et al., *Predictors of quality of life in schizophrenia*. Community Mental Health Journal, 2005. **41**(4): p.399-417.
- [28] Tolman, A.W. and M.M. Kurtz, *Neurocognitive predictors of objective and subjective quality of life in individuals with schizophrenia: a meta-analytic investigation*. Schizophr Bull, 2012. **38**(2): p.304-15.
- [29] Narvaez, J.M., et al., *Subjective and objective quality of life in schizophrenia*. Schizophr Res, 2008. **98**(1-3): p.201-8.

- [30] Chan, S. and W. Yu Iu, *Quality of life of clients with schizophrenia*. J Adv Nurs, 2004. **45**(1): p.72-83.
- [31] Boyd, M.A., *Psychiatric nursing: Contemporary practice*. 2008: lippincott Williams & wilkins.
- [32] Rudnick, A., *The impact of coping on the relation between symptoms and quality of life in schizophrenia.* Psychiatry, 2001. **64**(4): p.304-8.
- [33] de Pinho, L., et al., *Quality of Life Scale and symptomatology of schizophrenic patients–A systematic review*. The European Journal of Psychiatry, 2017.
- [34] Eack, S.M. and C.E. Newhill, *Psychiatric symptoms and quality of life in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis.* Schizophr Bull, 2007. **33**(5): p.1225-37.
- [35] Kasckow, J.W., et al., *Health-related quality of well-being in chronically hospitalized patients with schizophrenia: comparison with matched outpatients.* Psychiatry Res, 2001. **103**(1): p.69-78.
- [36] Kaiser, W., et al., *Profiles of subjective quality of life in schizophrenic in- and outpatient samples.* Psychiatry Res, 1997. **66**(2-3): p.153-66.
- [37] Coryell, W., *Diagnostic instability: how much is too much?* Am J Psychiatry, 2011. **168**(11): p.1136-8.
- [38] Rothwell, P.M., *External validity of randomised controlled trials: "to whom do the results of this trial apply?"*. The Lancet, 2005. **365**(9453): p.82-93.
- [39] Kmet, L.M., R.C. Lee, and L.S. Cook, *Standard quality assessment criteria for evaluating primary research papers from a variety of fields*. Vol. 22. 2004: Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research Edmonton.
- [40] Hofstetter, J.R., P.H. Lysaker, and A.R. Mayeda, *Quality of sleep in patients with schizophrenia is associated with quality of life and coping*. BMC Psychiatry, 2005.
 5: p.13.
- [41] Ritsner, M.S. and A. Grinshpoon, *Ten-Year Quality-of-Life Outcomes of Patients with Schizophrenia and Schizoaffective Disorders: The Relationship with Unmet Needs for Care.* Clin Schizophr Relat Psychoses, 2015. **9**(3): p.125-34A.
- [42] Brenner, K., et al., *Cortisol response and coping style predict quality of life in schizophrenia*. Schizophr Res, 2011. **128**(1-3): p.23-9.
- [43] El Sheshtawy, E.A., *Coping with stress and quality of life in schizophrenic patients*. Asian J Psychiatr, 2011. **4**(1): p.51-4.
- [44] Montemagni, C., et al., *Relative contributions of negative symptoms, insight, and coping strategies to quality of life in stable schizophrenia.* Psychiatry Res, 2014.
 220(1-2): p.102-11.
- [45] Moslehi, S., P. Atefimanesh, and A. Asgharnejad Farid, *The relationship between problem-focused coping strategies and quality of life in schizophrenic patients*. Med J Islam Repub Iran, 2015. 29: p.288.

- [46] Rudnick, A. and J. Martins, *Coping and schizophrenia: a re-analysis*. Arch Psychiatr Nurs, 2009. **23**(1): p.11-5.
- [47] Moher, D., et al., *Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses: the PRISMA statement.* PLoS medicine, 2009. **6**(7): p.e1000097.
- [48] Falkenburg, J. and D.K. Tracy, *Sex and schizophrenia: a review of gender differences.* Psychosis, 2014. **6**(1): p.61-69.
- [49] Lazarus, R. and S. Folkman, *The ways of coping questionnaire, WCQ*. 1988, Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- [50] Folkman, S., et al., *Appraisal, coping, health status, and psychological symptoms.* J Pers Soc Psychol, 1986. **50**(3): p.571-9.
- [51] Schwarzer, R. and C. Schwarzer, *A critical survey of coping instruments*. Handbook of coping: Theory, research, applications, 1996: p.107-132.
- [52] Vitaliano, P.P., et al., *The ways of coping checklist: Revision and psychometric properties*. Multivariate behavioral research, 1985. **20**(1): p.3-26.
- [53] Folkman, S., et al., *Dynamics of a stressful encounter: Cognitive appraisal, coping, and encounter outcomes.* Journal of personality and social psychology, 1986. **50**(5): p.992.
- [54] Lundqvist, L. O., & Ahlström, G. Psychometric evaluation of the Ways of Coping Questionnaire as applied to clinical and nonclinical groups. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, (2006). 60(5), p.485-493.
- [55] Vitaliano, P. P., Russo, J., Carr, J. E., Maiuro, R. D., & Becker, J. *The ways of coping checklist: Revision and psychometric properties.* Multivariate behavioral research, (1985). **20**(1), p.3-26.
- [56] Carver, C.S., *You want to measure coping but your protocol'too long: Consider the brief cope.* International journal of behavioral medicine, 1997. **4**(1): p.92-100.
- [57] Carver, C.S., M.F. Scheier, and J.K. Weintraub, *Assessing coping strategies: a theoretically based approach*. J Pers Soc Psychol, 1989. **56**(2): p.267-83.
- [58] De Ridder, D. T. D., & Van Heck, G. L. *Coping inventory for stressful situations*. CISS Handleidin, (2004).
- [59] Brands, M., et al., *Psychometric properties of the Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations (CISS) in patients with acquired brain injury.* Psychological assessment, (2014). **26**(3), p.848.
- [60] Guppy, A., et al., *The psychometric properties of the short-version of the Cybernetic Coping Scale: A multigroup confirmatory factor analysis across four samples.* Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology, (2004). 77(1), p. 39-62.
- [61] Edwards, J.R. and A. Baglioni Jr, *The measurement of coping with stress: Construct validity of the Ways of Coping Checklist and the Cybernetic Coping Scale.* Work & Stress, 1993. 7(1): p.17-31.

- [62] Leclerc, C. & Lecomte, T., 1994. In Caron, J., et al., *Predictors of quality of life in schizophrenia*. Community Mental Health Journal, 2005. **41**(4): p.405
- [63] Heinrichs, R.W., et al., *Parsing schizophrenia with neurocognitive tests: evidence of stability and validity.* Brain and Cognition, 1997. **35**(2): p.207-224.
- [64] Heinrichs, D.W., T.E. Hanlon, and W.T. Carpenter Jr, *The Quality of Life Scale: an instrument for rating the schizophrenic deficit syndrome.* Schizophrenia bulletin, 1984. **10**(3): p.388-398.
- [65] Lehman, A. F., Postrado, L. T., & Rachuba, L. T. *Convergent validation of quality of life assessments for persons with severe mental illnesses.* Quality of life research, (1993). **2**(5), p. 327-333.
- [66] Lehman, A. F. Measures of quality of life among persons with severe and persistent mental disorders. In *Mental health outcome measures* (1996). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg: p. 75-92).
- [67] Lysaker, P.H. and A.C. Taylor, *Personality dimensions in schizophrenia: associations with symptoms and coping concurrently and 12 months later.* Psychopathology, 2007. **40**(5): p.338-44.
- [68] Jones, P.B., et al., Randomized controlled trial of the effect on Quality of Life of second-vs first-generation antipsychotic drugs in schizophrenia: Cost Utility of the Latest Antipsychotic Drugs in Schizophrenia Study (CUtLASS 1). Archives of general psychiatry, 2006. 63(10): p.1079-1087.
- [69] Leifker, F.R., et al., *Validating measures of real-world outcome: the results of the VALERO expert survey and RAND panel.* Schizophrenia Bulletin, 2009. **37**(2): p.334-343.
- [70] Harvey, P.D., Assessment of everyday functioning in schizophrenia: implications for treatments aimed at negative symptoms. Schizophrenia research, 2013. 150(2): p.353-355.
- [71] Organization, W.H., *The world health organization quality of life-100*. Field Trial WHOQOL-100. Geneva: WHO, 1995.
- [72] WHO, The World Health Organization Quality of Life Assessment (WHOQOL): development and general psychometric properties. Soc Sci Med, 1998. 46(12): p.1569-85.
- [73] Nejat, S. et al., *The World Health Organization quality of Life (WHOQOL-BREF) questionnaire: Translation and validation study of the Iranian version.* Journal of School of Public Health and Institute of Public Health Research, (2006). *4*(4), p.1-12.
- [74] Sanei pour, E., Karimlou M., Bakhshi, E, Yazdani, K.. *Construct Validity of WHOQOL-100 with Rasch Analysis.* Social Welfare, (2014). **14**(54), p.147–165.

- [75] Becker, M.A. and R. Diamond, Wisconsin Quality of Life Index (W-QLI): a multidimensional model for measuring quality of life. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 1999. 60(3): p.29.
- [76] Diener, E., et al., *The Satisfaction With Life Scale*. J Pers Assess, 1985. 49(1): p.71-5.
- [77] Neto, F. *The satisfaction with life scale: Psychometrics properties in an adolescent sample.* Journal of youth and adolescence, (1993). **22**(2): p. 125-134.
- [78] Pavot, W., & Diener, E. *Review of the satisfaction with life scale*. Psychological assessment, (1993). 5(2): p. 164.
- [79] Pavot, W., Diener, E. D., Colvin, C. R., & Sandvik, E. Further validation of the Satisfaction with Life Scale: Evidence for the cross-method convergence of well-being measures. Journal of personality assessment, (1991). **57**(1): p. 149-161.
- [80] Wilkinson, G., et al., *Self-report quality of life measure for people with schizophrenia: the SQLS.* The British Journal of Psychiatry, 2000. **177**(1): p.42-46.
- [81] Klijnsma, M., Assessing quality of life in schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry, 2001. 178(2): p.181.
- [82] Endicott, J., et al., *Quality of Life Enjoyment and Satisfaction Questionnaire: a new measure.* Psychopharmacol Bull, 1993. **29**(2): p. 321-6.
- [83] Stevanovic, D. *Quality of Life Enjoyment and Satisfaction Questionnaire–short* form for quality of life assessments in clinical practice: A psychometric study. Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing, (2011). **18**(8): p. 744-750.
- [84] Mercier, C. and P. Corten, *Évaluation de la qualité de vie de patients psychotiques*. Evaluation de la qualité en psychiatrie. Paris: Economica, 1994: p.263-87.
- [85] Baker, F. and J. Intagliata, *Quality of life in the evaluation of community support systems*. Evaluation and program planning, 1982. **5**(1): p.69-79.
- [86] Andrews, F. and S. Withey, Social Indicators of Well Being: American's Perceptions of Life Quality Plenum New York Google Scholar. 1976.
- [87] Caron, J., Mercier, C., & Tempier, R. Une validation québécoise du satisfaction with life Domains Scale. Santé mentale au Québec, (1997). **22**(2): p.195-217.
- [88] Field, A., *Discovering statistics using SPSS*. 2009: Sage publications.
- [89] Lysaker, P.H., et al., *Coping style in schizophrenia: associations with neurocognitive deficits and personality.* Schizophr Bull, 2004. **30**(1): p.113-21.
- [90] Kirschbaum, C., K.-M. Pirke, and D.H. Hellhammer, *The 'Trier Social Stress Test'a tool for investigating psychobiological stress responses in a laboratory setting.* Neuropsychobiology, 1993. **28**(1-2): p.76-81.
- [91] Crawford-Walker, C.J., A. King, and S. Chan, *Distraction techniques for schizophrenia*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2005(1): p.CD004717.

- [92] Tully, S., A. Wells, and A.P. Morrison, *An exploration of the relationship between use of safety-seeking behaviours and psychosis: A systematic review and meta- analysis.* Clin Psychol Psychother, 2017.
- [93] Tomotake, M., *Quality of life and its predictors in people with schizophrenia*. J Med Invest, 2011. **58**(3-4): p.167-74.
- [94] Eack, S.M. and C.E. Newhill, *Psychiatric symptoms and quality of life in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis.* Schizophrenia bulletin, 2007. **33**(5): p.1225-1237.
- [95] White, Y., J. Curtis, and A. Alshowkan, *Quality of life for people with schizophrenia: a literature review*. The Arab Journal of Psychiatry, 2012. 23(2): p.122-131.
- [96] Pinikahana, J., et al., *Quality of life in schizophrenia: a review of the literature from* 1995 to 2000. International journal of mental health nursing, 2002. **11**(2): p. 103-111.
- [97] Galderisi, S., et al., *The influence of illness-related variables, personal resources and context-related factors on real-life functioning of people with schizophrenia.* World Psychiatry, 2014. **13**(3): p.275-287.
- [98] Yanos, P.T. and R.H. Moos, Determinants of functioning and well-being among individuals with schizophrenia: an integrated model. Clin Psychol Rev, 2007. 27(1): p.58-77.
- [99] Lee, S.Y., et al., *Coping strategies and their relationship to psychopathologies in people at ultra high-risk for psychosis and with schizophrenia.* The Journal of nervous and mental disease, 2011. **199**(2): p.106-110.
- [100] Lysaker, P.H. and K.A. Whitney, Clinical and Psychosocial Correlates of Obsessive Compulsive Symptoms in Schizophrenia, in Advances in psychology research, Vol 43., A. Columbus and A. Columbus, Editors. 2006, Nova Science Publishers: Hauppauge, NY, US. p.1-22.
- [101] Tsai, J., P.H. Lysaker, and J.L. Vohs, *Negative symptoms and concomitant attention deficits in schizophrenia: associations with prospective assessments of anxiety, social dysfunction, and avoidant coping.* J Ment Health, 2010. **19**(2): p 184-92.
- [102] Horan, W.P. and J.J. Blanchard, *Emotional responses to psychosocial stress in schizophrenia: the role of individual differences in affective traits and coping.* Schizophr Res, 2003. **60**(2-3): p.271-83.
- [103] Franz, M., et al., *The importance of social comparisons for high levels of subjective quality of life in chronic schizophrenic patients*. Qual Life Res, 2000. **9**(5): p.481-9.
- [104] Awad, A.G. and L.N. Voruganti, *Measuring quality of life in patients with schizophrenia: an update.* Pharmacoeconomics, 2012. **30**(3): p.183-95.
- [105] Jung, H.Y., et al., *Clinician-rated functioning and patient-rated quality of life in schizophrenia: Implications of their correspondence for psychopathology and side*

effects. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 2010. **34**(1): p.225-230.

- [106] Hayhurst, K.P., et al., Validity of subjective versus objective quality of life assessment in people with schizophrenia. BMC Psychiatry, 2014. 14(1): p.365.
- [107] Coyne, J.C. and M.W. Racioppo, Never the Twain shall meet? Closing the gap between coping research and clinical intervention research. American psychologist, 2000. 55(6): p.655.
- [108] Somerfield, M.R. and R.R. McCrae, *Stress and coping research: Methodological challenges, theoretical advances, and clinical applications*. American psychologist, 2000. **55**(6): p.620-625.
- [109] Lazarus, R.S., Toward better research on stress and coping. 2000.
- [110] Steed, L.G., A critique of coping scales. Australian Psychologist, 1998. 33(3): p.193-202.
- [111] O'driscoll, M.P. and C.L. Cooper, *Coping with work-related stress: A critique of existing measures and proposal for an alternative methodology.* Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology, 1994. **67**(4): p.343-354.
- [112] Farhall, J., K.M. Greenwood, and H.J. Jackson, Coping with hallucinated voices in schizophrenia: a review of self-initiated strategies and therapeutic interventions. Clin Psychol Rev, 2007. 27(4): p.476-93.
- [113] Lipsey, M.W. and D.B. Wilson, *Practical meta-analysis*. Vol. 49. 2001: Sage publications Thousand Oaks, CA.
- [114] Boschi, S., et al., *Coping with psychotic symptoms in the early phases of schizophrenia*. Am J Orthopsychiatry, 2000. **70**(2): p.242-52.
- [115] Skinner, E.A., et al., Searching for the structure of coping: a review and critique of category systems for classifying ways of coping. Psychological bulletin, 2003.
 129(2): p.216.
- [116] Margariti, M., et al., Quality of life in schizophrenia spectrum disorders: associations with insight and psychopathology. Psychiatry research, 2015. 225(3): p.695-701.

Chapter 3. Bridging Chapter

Within stress-vulnerability models, there are several components which contribute towards the development of mental health difficulties. The relative impact of impairments resulting from these difficulties are important to consider (see Figure 4). The systematic review presented in the previous chapter focused on the impact of the complex mental health difficulty, schizophrenia. As depicted in Figure 4, mental health difficulties and several interacting biopsychosocial variables impact on the level of impairment experienced by the individual. Quality of Life (QoL) is an important area which helps us to quantify the relative impact of mental health difficulties on an individual's functioning. The systematic review presented in the previous chapter aimed to ascertain if coping (a psychological factor) influenced QoL (an impact of impairment factor) within a community sample of individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia. These aspects help to provide information about possible mechanisms which lead to reductions in QoL. However, there are several inter-connected and influential variables (vulnerability and protective factors) which also contribute to our understanding of *why* and *how* individual differences exist in the development and impact of different complex mental health problems (see Figure 4).



Figure 4. Neurobehavioral biopsychosocial model of mental health difficulties adapted from work by Lieb and colleagues (2004) and Leichsenring, Leibing, Kruse, New, & Leweke (2011).

Unlike the systematic review, which focused on the impact of impairment, the empirical paper (Chapter Four) will focus on factors involved in the potential development of symptoms using cross-sectional methodology.

As demonstrated in Chapter One, childhood trauma, attachment and emotion regulation are important areas when considering protective and vulnerability factors in individuals presenting with psychosis and borderline personality disorder (BPD) symptomatology. However, further empirical evidence is required to draw more definitive conclusions about the relative contribution of these variables and the precise mechanisms with which they may influence psychosis and BPD symptomatology. To aid our understanding, the empirical paper will explore the relative differences in childhood trauma, attachment, and

emotion regulation between a BPD, psychosis and control population. Through exploring this within the empirical paper, the relative influence of these vulnerability/protective factors will be investigated whilst addressing the specific role of childhood trauma (a psychosocial stressor) in the development of mental health difficulties (see Figure 4).

The creation, ethical application and data collection for the empirical study presented was jointly conducted with another trainee clinical psychologist who incorporated separate research areas (see Appendix B). Extended methodology relating to this are presented in Chapter Five.

Chapter 4. Empirical Paper

Prepared for submission to the Journal of Clinical Psychology.

Journal guidelines are in Appendix C.

Title Page

The impact of trauma and the role of attachment and emotion regulation in individuals with and without mental health difficulties.

Cat George^{a,b*}, D. Furnes^a, S. Coker^a, L. Gillighan^c and J. Hodgekins^a

^a Department of Clinical Psychology, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK; ^b Cambridge and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust, UK; ^c Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust

*corresponding author: <u>c.george@uea.ac.uk</u>

Short Title: Trauma, attachment and emotion regulation

Key words: "Childhood trauma", "Trauma", "Attachment", "Emotion Regulation", "Borderline Personality Disorder" & "Psychosis"

4.1. Abstract

Objective: To explore whether individuals diagnosed with borderline personality disorder (BPD), psychosis and controls differ in trauma histories and on trauma-related mechanisms, as well as exploring these relationships transdiagnostically.

Method: 28 and 29 individuals diagnosed with BPD and psychosis, respectively, and 63 controls were recruited and completed questionnaires assessing childhood trauma, attachment, emotion regulation (ER) and symptomatology.

Results: Individuals diagnosed with BPD scored significantly higher on most measures compared to individuals diagnosed with psychosis, which scored significantly higher on most measures compared to controls. A dose-response relationship was found between trauma and trauma-related mechanisms and between trauma and symptomatology. Importantly, attachment avoidance and anxiety and ER difficulties mediated the association between childhood trauma and BPD symptomatology, whilst attachment avoidance and ER difficulties mediated the association between childhood trauma and psychotic symptomatology.

Conclusions: Childhood trauma, attachment and ER are important variables for consideration in the development of BPD and psychosis symptomatology.

4.2. Introduction

Childhood trauma and later psychopathology. One in seven children are believed to experience maltreatment, with those experiencing repeated or a combination of physical, sexual or emotional abuse and/or neglect, frequently developing complex psychological trauma reactions (Bernstein et al., 2003; Ford & Courtois, 2009). When trauma is experienced in childhood, there is an increased risk of mental health difficulties in adulthood (e.g. Infurna et al., 2016; Read & Bentall, 2012; Van der Kolk, 2017). In clinical populations with mental health difficulties, 63-98% have reported experiencing some degree of childhood adverse events (Mueser et al., 1998; Rossiter et al., 2015), with females reporting higher rates than males (e.g. Anderson, Howard, Dean, Moran, & Khalifeh, 2016; Muenzenmaier et al., 2014).

Early trauma is shown to impact on brain functioning (Anda et al., 2006), psychobiological functioning, attachment, affect and behaviour regulation, cognition and self-concept (Cook et al., 2017). Whilst many individuals do not experience long-term difficulties (Elwood, Hahn, Olatunji, & Williams, 2009), for others childhood adversity is shown to increase the risk of psychosis (Morrison, Frame, & Larkin, 2003; Trotta, Murray, & Fisher, 2015) and borderline personality disorder (BPD) (Paris, 2000).

Exposure to childhood trauma has been found to be twice as likely in individuals diagnosed with psychosis compared to control populations (Varese et al., 2012). Research consistently shows a relationship between trauma and psychotic symptoms (see Barnow et al., 2010; Hardy, 2017; Spauwen, Krabbendam, Lieb, Wittchen, & Van Os, 2006), including a dose-response relationship along with causal mechanisms being suggested (e.g.
Bentall et al., 2014; Kelleher et al., 2013; Matheson, Shepherd, Pinchbeck, Laurens, & Carr, 2013; Trotta et al., 2015). Within BPD, over double the percentage of cases reported experience a severe traumatic event (93.9%) when compared with control populations (38.5%) (Bandelow et al., 2005), with the literature also suggesting a dose-response and causal relationship (Ball & Links, 2009; Silk, Lee, Hill, & Lohr, 1995; Zanarini et al., 2002).

The role of attachment. Attachment theory offers a model to understand how the early bonds formed in childhood provide a basis for the development of interpersonal and psychological functioning, personal resilience and emotion regulation (Bowlby, 1969; Fonagy, Steele, & Steele, 1991). Attachment theory has been applied to help our understanding of individual difference in coping when experiencing childhood traumarelated distress (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2012), and features in several intervention frameworks (e.g. Kinniburgh, Blaustein, Spinazzola, & Van der Kolk, 2017). The associated decreased ability to cope with distress in individuals with insecure attachments (anxious and avoidant) is theorised to intensify the negative consequences of trauma leading to an increased likelihood of later mental health difficulties (Bakermans-Kranenburg & van Ijzendoorn, 2009; Gumley, Taylor, Schwannauer, & MacBeth, 2014; Mikulincer, Shaver, & Solomon, 2015).

Interpersonal relationships are found to be an important factor in the development of BPD (Fonagy, Target, & Gergely, 2000; Levy, 2005; Liotti, Pasquini, & Cirrincione, 2000) and psychosis (Carr, Hardy, & Fornells-Ambrojo, 2018; Harder, 2014). Evidence suggests that attachment influences trauma-related impacts on psychotic (Pearce et al., 2017; Read & Gumley, 2008; Sitko, Bentall, Shevlin, & Sellwood, 2014) and BPD symptomatology

(Minzenberg, Poole, & Vinogradov, 2006), with attachment insecurity negatively impacting on distress levels, belief systems and sense of internal control (Kinniburgh et al., 2017). Literature reviews demonstrate that individuals with psychosis (Carr et al., 2018) and those with BPD (Agrawal, Gunderson, Holmes, & Lyons-Ruth, 2004) have predominantly insecure attachments compared to control populations. Specifically, attachment anxiety is evidenced to be prevalent in individuals with BPD diagnoses (Agrawal et al., 2004; Bakermans-Kranenburg & van Ijzendoorn, 2009; Levy, 2005; Levy, Meehan, Weber, Reynoso, & Clarkin, 2005) but both attachment styles are reported within individuals diagnosed with psychosis (Couture, Lecomte, & Leclerc, 2007). In a recent meta-analytic review, Carr et al. (2018) found that the pooled estimated prevalence of insecure attachment was 76% within individuals diagnosed with psychosis. Within this, avoidant (23%) attachment was more prevalent than anxious attachment (17%) but fearful attachment was the most common subtype (38%).

The role of emotion regulation. Emotion regulation or affect regulation is a multilevel process which involves the integration of behavioural and biological aspects of emotional self-control and relates to an individual's ability to perceive and respond to emotionally provoking stimuli (Thompson, Lewis, & Calkins, 2008). Childhood trauma and negative life events are associated with the development of maladaptive emotion regulation (Ehring & Quack, 2010; Garnefski, Kraaij, & Spinhoven, 2001; Van der Kolk, 2017). This includes an altered perception of emotive stimuli and emotional reactivity, but also reduced ability to recognise, discriminate, express and understand different emotions (Infurna, Rivers, Reich, & Zautra, 2015; McLaughlin, Peverill, Gold, Alves, & Sheridan, 2015; Sege, Amaya-Jackson, 2017).

Emotion regulation difficulties are a key component in the development of mental health difficulties, reducing an individual's ability to stabilise internal distress (Aldao, Nolen-Hoeksema, & Schweizer, 2010; Gross, 2002; Gross, Richards, & John, 2006). Maladaptive emotion regulation is found to predict subclinical symptomatology within control populations (e.g. Westermann, Boden, Gross, & Lincoln, 2013) and is a typical (Glenn & Klonsky, 2009) and influential feature in BPD (Berking & Wupperman, 2012; Carpenter & Trull, 2013; Domes, Schulze, & Herpertz, 2009; Rosenthal et al., 2008). Individuals with BPD have deficits in emotional awareness (Chapman, Leung, & Lynch, 2008), emotional processing, and in distinguishing between emotions (Suvak et al., 2011; Suvak et al., 2012). Individuals with psychosis have been shown to use maladaptive emotion regulation strategies such as internal-dysfunction (e.g. dwelling on feelings) and lower use of adaptive regulation such as internal-functional (e.g. reviewing thoughts) mechanisms (Horan, Hajcak, Wynn, & Green, 2013; Kring & Moran, 2008; O'Driscoll, Laing, & Mason, 2014; Trémeau, 2006). Individuals with psychosis are also shown to have a reduced emotional understanding (Lincoln, Hartmann, Köther, & Moritz, 2015), and be impaired in their ability to recognise (Kimhy et al., 2012) and express emotions (Henry et al., 2007; Henry, Rendell, Green, McDonald, & O'Donnell, 2008). Emotion regulation difficulties have been found to be associated with increased depression and psychotic symptomatology along with reduced QoL (e.g. Henry et al., 2008; Poole, Tobias, & Vinogradov, 2000). Despite some patterns being identified, the specific patterns and influence of emotion regulation difficulties on mental health remain to be fully explored (Berking & Wupperman, 2012; Perry, Henry, & Grisham, 2011).

4.3. Rationale, Aims and Hypothesis

The present study aims to explore 1) *how* trauma type and severity, attachment (anxiety and avoidance) and emotion regulation strategies differ between individuals diagnosed with psychosis and BPD and how they compare to a control group and, 2) *whether* trauma type and severity are related to attachment, emotion regulation, BPD and psychosis symptomatology irrespective of diagnostic group and finally, 3) *whether* attachment and emotion regulation mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and symptomatology irrespective of diagnostic groups; that trauma type and severity would be related to attachment, emotion regulation, BPD and psychosis symptomology; and that attachment and emotion regulation would influence the relationship between childhood trauma type and severity would be related to attachment, emotion regulation, BPD and psychosis symptomology; and that attachment and emotion regulation would influence the relationship between childhood trauma and symptomatology.

4.4. Materials and Method

Design. A quantitative cross-sectional, observational, between groups design was adopted. The current study was approved by the UK National Ethics Service, Cambridge Research Ethics Committee (17/EE/0179) and approved by relevant local NHS trusts Research and Development departments.

Sample. Power calculations indicated the largest required total sample size of 105 participants was required for the between groups-analysis. A total sample size of 120 participants was recruited across three groups: individuals diagnosed with BPD (n = 28); individuals diagnosed with psychosis (n = 29); and a non-clinical comparison group (n = 63). Inclusion criteria for all participants included being aged 18-65 years and fluent in the English language.

Clinical sample. Individuals recruited into the clinical sample had to be under the care of a mental health team, have no current serious suicide or violence risk, and meet the criteria for either a BPD diagnosis without a diagnosed secondary psychotic disorder or a psychotic disorder diagnosis without a secondary BPD diagnosis. Diagnosis was determined by the clinical team or care records. Whilst BPD was required as the primary diagnosis, comorbid personality disorders were not an exclusion criterion for the BPD group (Stuart et al., 1998). The psychosis population included individuals with nonaffective diagnoses across the psychosis continuum, ranging from first episode psychosis to enduring schizophrenia. Eligibility and diagnostic checklists were completed by clinicians for all participants. All participants were recruited between from community or inpatient services within two NHS trusts in semi-rural East Anglia.

Non-clinical sample. Current or prior diagnosis of a mental health disorder or receipt of care from an NHS mental health team were exclusion criteria within the non-clinical sample. Eligibility and diagnostic checklists were completed through self-report within the non-clinical populations. A total of 63 participants were recruited in the control sample via an internet-based survey (Survey Monkey), advertised though online social networking sites (e.g. Facebook and Twitter).

Measures. A questionnaire booklet containing the following measures was administered to all participants.

Psychotic symptoms. The brief Schizotypal Symptoms Inventory (SSI; Hodgekins et al., 2012) is a 20-item state measure of the presence and current frequency of psychotic-like symptoms which is deemed suitable for use in clinical and non-clinical populations. Respondents rate how often (if at all) in the past two weeks each experience has happened

to them on a Likert scale ranging from zero (not at all) to four (all of the time). The SSI provides a total score and anomalous experiences, paranoia and social anxiety subscales. Good internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.87$) and test-retest reliability (r = 0.86) are reported, along with high correlations to the full version (r = 0.87 and .90 for clinical and non-clinical samples respectively), indicating good convergent and construct validity (Hodgekins, 2009).

Borderline symptoms. The 23-item abbreviated Borderline Symptom List (BSL-23; Bohus et al., 2009) was used to measure BPD symptomatology and severity. Respondents rate from zero (not at all) to four (very strong) the degree to a given statement describes them over the past week. If respondents feel differently at different times, they are asked to rate how they have felt on average. Overall personal state during the last week (from absolutely down (0%) through to excellent (100%) and borderline behaviour frequency (consisting of 11-items incorporating questions about dangerous and harmful behaviours such as cutting, burning, strangling, headbanging) are also assessed. Excellent internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.97$) and good test-retest reliability (r = 0.82) are reported (Bohus et al., 2009).

Childhood trauma. The 27-item Early Trauma Inventory Self Report – Short Form (ETISR-SF; Bremner, Bolus, & Mayer, 2007) was used to assess the presence of physical, emotional and sexual abuse before 18 years and general trauma after 18 years. Trauma severity is indicated by the total number of 'YES' responses from each possible YES/NO item. The ETISR-SF is deemed a suitable assessment of childhood adversity for clinical and non-clinical samples (Thabrew, de Sylva, & Romans, 2012). Satisfactory validity (r = 0.37-0.47) and internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.70-0.87$) are reported (Bremner et al., 2007).

Attachment. The 16-item Psychosis Attachment Measure (PAM; Berry, Wearden, Barrowclough, & Liversidge, 2006) was used to measure the presence of adult anxious and avoidant attachment dimensions. Respondents rate 16-items from one ('not at all') to four ('very much') how much each statement about close-interpersonal relationships is like them. Acceptable internal consistency for the anxious ($\alpha = 0.70 - 0.86$) and avoidant dimension ($\alpha = 0.60 - 0.91$) are reported (Gumley, Taylor, Schwannauer, & MacBeth, 2014), in addition to good internal reliability for the anxious ($\alpha = 0.82$) and avoidant dimension ($\alpha = 0.72$) and all items contributing towards overall reliability (Berry et al., 2008; Berry, Barrowclough, & Wearden, 2008).

Emotion Regulation. The 36-item Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS; (Gratz & Roemer, 2004) was utilised to assesses emotion regulation difficulties. Respondents rate from one ('almost never'; 0-10%) to 5 ('almost always'; 91-100%) the degree that each statement applies to them. The DERS provides a total score and subscales of acceptance, goals, impulse, awareness, strategies, and clarity. Higher scores indicate greater difficulties in emotion regulation. It has been used in clinical and non-clinical populations (Neumann, van Lier, Gratz, & Koot, 2010; Sharp et al., 2011). Good construct validity, high total score ($\alpha = 0.93$) and subscale score ($\alpha > 0.76$), internal consistency (Salters-Pedneault, Roemer, Tull, Rucker, & Mennin, 2006) and good test-retest reliability ($p_1 = .88, p < .01$) are reported (Gratz & Roemer, 2004).

Procedure. Participant Information Sheets containing relevant information about the study were presented to all participants. Informed consent was obtained for all participants before completing a demographic information sheet and questionnaire booklet. Ordering of

the questionnaires were counterbalanced to prevent ordering effects impacting the results (Bowling, 2005).

A researcher was present throughout for the clinical group whereas the nonclinical group completed the study online. A detailed risk management protocol was followed and adequate care surrounding potential distress was provided through tailored after-care sheets in addition to pre-care sheets for non-clinical participants.

4.5. Statistical Analysis

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences was used to compute descriptive statistics and all analyses (IBM Corp, 2016). Missing data were minimal (range from 0-1.8%) and found to be completely at random ($\chi^2 = 0.00$, df = 174, p > .05).

Between-group analysis. Shapiro-Wilk's tests, visual inspection of histograms, box plots and Q-Q plots were used to assess the normality of data distributions. Within the clinical populations, outliers were considered as representative of individual differences. Within the control group, seven participants were found to be outliers across several variables. These participants were not deemed to be representative of the control population as their BSL and SSI scores were within clinical ranges; they were therefore excluded from all between-group comparisons. Rank transformations were completed to deal with the uneven sample sizes and the heterogeneity of variance between population groups (Field, 2009). Welch Tests, Fisher's Exact Test or Pearson's Chi-squared test were performed. The conservative Bonferroni correction (p < .002) was applied to correct for multiple testing and to reduce the likelihood of Type I errors (Field, 2009). For Welch Tests, the Games-Howell post-hoc was used (Zimmerman & Zumbo, 1993). For dichotomous variables,

following guidance from MacDonald and Gardner (2000), pairwise comparisons with Bonferroni correction (p < .008) were adopted.

Correlational analysis. Non-parametric testing was indicated for all variables. Kendall's Tau was used to examine relationships between continuous variables. To assess relationships between the discrete dichotomous trauma type variables, Pearsons or Kendall's Tau point-biserial correlations were used (Field, 2009; Marascuilo & McSweeney, 1977). For the correlations of interest (total scores), Bonferroni correction (*p* < .007) was adopted.

Mediational analysis. The Preacher and Hayes (2008) path analysis procedure for simple and multiple mediation was utilised to assess the relative influence of emotion regulation and attachment on the influence childhood trauma has on symptomatology (see Figure 5). Due to the attachment dimensions being associated but not causally related, parallel mediation was adopted.

The PROCSS macro Plug-In incorporating the recommended bootstrapping of 5000 was used which completes a path-analysis through an ordinary least squared analytical framework (Hayes, 2013). This method allows adjustment for non-parametric distributions and test for both direct and indirect effects (Hayes, 2013). Following guidance by Field (2009), influential cases were determined and removed. Assessment revealed no multicollinearity problems. For all analysis, heteroscedasticity was found therefore the heteroscedasticity-consistent standard error estimator (HC3) was adopted (Hayes, 2013). In accordance to current guidelines by Hayes and Rockwood (2017), 95% bootstrap confidence intervals for the indirect effect (the ab path) were examined, with results not crossing zero supporting evidence for the presence of mediation.



Figure 5. Mediation and multiple mediation model for attachment and emotion regulation.

4.6. Results

Demographic information is presented in Table 4. Significant differences between the groups were found for gender ($\chi^2(2) = 8.09, p < .05$) and education level ($\chi^2(12) =$ 49.24, p < .001). All other variables were non-significant (p > .05). More females were present within the BPD and control groups, but no difference was found within the psychosis group. The control group presented with a higher level of education compared to the clinical populations. The psychosis group reported obtaining higher levels of education when compared to the BPD group.

Table 4

Demographic information for sub-groups and total sample.

Variable		Total		
	BPD Psychosis Controls			
	(n = 28)	(n = 29)	(<i>n</i> = 63)	(N = 120)
Gender, n (%)				
Female	22(78.60)	13(44.80)	44(69.80)	79(65.80)
Male	6(21.40)	16(55.20)	19(30.20)	41(34.20)
Age - $M(SD)$	35.82(13.78)	36.86(12.83)	32.43(10.53)	34.37(12.04)
Ethnicity, n (%)				
White British	26(92.90)	20(69.00)	45(71.40)	91(75.80)
Asian British		3(10.30)	1(1.60)	4(3.30)
Black British		3(10.30)		3(2.50)
White Other	2(7.10)	3(10.30)	12(19.00)	17(14.20)
Asian Other			5(4.20)	5(4.20)
Highest Education, n (%)				
Primary School	1(3.40)	1(3.40)		1(0.80)
Secondary School	13(46.40)	4(13.80)	2(3.20)	19(15.80)
College	10(35.70)	14(48.30)	7(11.10)	31(25.80)
Undergraduate	5(17.90)	6(20.70)	17(27.00)	28(23.30)
Masters		2(6.90)	21(33.30)	23(19.20)
PhD/Doctoral			14(22.20)	14(11.70)
Other/ unknown		2(6.90)	2(3.20)	4(3.30)
Employment, n (%)				
Employed	3(10.7)	7(24.10)	38(60.30)	48(40.00)
Unemployed	22(78.6)	17(58.60)	2(3.20)	41(34.20)
Student	1(3.60)	3(10.30)	21(33.30)	25(20.80)
Retired	1(3.60)	1(3.40)	1(1.60)	3(2.50)
Other/ unknown	1(3.60)	1(3.40)	1(1.60)	3(2.50)
Marital Status, n, (%)				
Married	8(28.60)	5(17.20)	17(27.00)	30(25.00)
Separated	1(3.60)	2(6.90)		3(2.50)
Divorced	2(7.10)		2(3.20)	4(3.30)
Widowed		1(3.40)		1(0.80)
Single	15(53.60)	18(62.10)	25(39.70)	58(48.30)
Living with partner	2(7.10)	2(6.90)	17(27.00)	21(17.50)
Other/ unknown		1(3.40)	2(3.20)	3(2.50)

Note. *p < .05. **p < .0.1. **p, .001.; BPD = Borderline Personality Disorder

Between-Group Analysis. Descriptive data for all variables is presented in Table 5. Mean rank descriptive and between group analysis is presented in Table 6.

Significant differences between groups were found for all variables other than general and physical trauma (p > .002). Medium-large effect sizes were found for all variables other than for DERS awareness and PAM avoidant subscales, where small effect sizes were found.

For the presence of emotional and sexual abuse, inspection of the adjusted residuals indicated that the BPD group was significantly different (p < .001) from the other groups. Following Bonferroni adjustment, post-hoc analysis revealed that the control group had significantly lower rates of sexual (p < .001) and emotional (p = .001) trauma when compared to the BPD group, but no significant differences were found for the psychosis group when applying the Bonferroni adjustment (sexual, p = .028; emotional, p = .011). Between BPD and Psychosis groups, no significant differences were found for emotional (p = .010) and sexual (p = .418) trauma. Other post-hoc analyses showed that the control population scored significantly lower than the BPD and psychosis groups for all variables (p < .001) other than BSL behaviour (p = .199), DERS aware (p = .075), and DERS clarity (p = .005). Here no difference was found with the psychosis population, but significant differences remained for the BPD population (p < .001). The BPD group did not significantly differ from the psychosis group for SSI total (p = .005), and all SSI subscales (p = .013 - .293), PAM anxious (p = .047) and avoidant (p = .026), DERS-accept (p = .013 - .293).041), -goals (p = .007), -aware (p = .117), -clarity (p = .008), and childhood trauma frequency (p = .006) and total trauma frequency (p = .029). For BSL total and all BSL

subscales, DERS-total, -strategies, and DERS-impulse, the BPD groups scored significantly

higher than the psychosis group (p < .001).

Table 5

Descriptive information and between-groups analysis for clinical variables with literature comparisons.

Variable	Total	Group				
		BPD Psychosis		Controls		
	(N=113)	(n = 28)	(n = 29)	(n = 56)		
ETISR-SF M(SD)	9.09 (5.95)	14.12 (4.26)	11.24 (5.46)	5.41(4.35)		
General M(SD)	3.06 (2.07)	3.61 (1.59)	3.93 (2.42)	2.33 (1.83)		
YES f(%)	102 (90.3%)	28 (100%)	28 (96.6%)	46 (82.1%)		
NO <i>f</i> (%)	11(9.7%)	0 (0%)	1 (3.4%)	10 (17.9%		
Physical M(SD)	2.17 (1.45)	3.43(1.50)	2.54(1.43)	1.31(1.46)		
YES f(%)	85 (75.2%)	26 (92.9%)	25 (86.2%)	34 (60.7%)		
NO <i>f</i> (%)	28 (24.8%)	2 (7.1%)	4 (13.8%)	22 (39.3%)		
Emotional M(SD)	2.57 (2.10)	4.57(0.74)	3.14(1.92)	1.22(1.65)		
YES f(%)	75 (67%)	28 (100%)	22 (75.9%)	25 (45.5%)		
NO f(%)	37 (33.0%)	0 (0%)	7 (24.1%)	30 (54.5%)		
Sexual M(SD)	1.32 (2.04)	2.61(2.41)	1.50(2.15)	0.60(1.37)		
YES f(%)	46 (41.1%)	18 (64.3%)	14 (50%)	14 (25%)		
NO f(%)	66 (58.9%)	10 (35.7%)	14 (50%)	42 (75.0%)		
Childhood M(SD)	6.03(4.71)	10.61 (3.61)	7.24 (4.26)	3.11(3.07)		
BSL - M(SD)	1.08 (1.09)	2.35 (0.89)	1.25 (0.91)	0.32 (0.23)		
Overall Life Quality	61.9(2.22)	41.9 (1.81)	56.6 (2.39)	73.9 (1.49)		
(%)						
Behaviours	0.18 (0.26)	0.40 (0.27)	0.15 (0.22)	0.06 (0.09)		
SSI - M(SD)	21.80 (16.87)	37.77 (11.37)	28.48 (16.37)	9.82 (6.97)		
Social anxiety	10.35 (7.25)	17.00 (5.50)	12.59 (6.89)	5.91 (4.89)		
Paranoia	6.46 (6.69)	11.81 (5.91)	8.17 (7.16)	2.66 (3.59)		
Anomalous	4.98 (6.35)	8.96 (5.81)	7.72 (7.52)	1.25 (1.81)		
PAM Anxious M(SD)	1.28 (0.77)	2.16 (0.55)	1.21 (0.63)	0.88 (0.53)		
PAM Avoidant M(SD)	1.62 (0.68)	2.13 (0.46)	1.73 (0.69)	1.31 (0.62)		
DERS - M(SD)						
Acceptance	14.88 (7.55)	23.27 (6.42)	14.69 (6.91)	10.79 (4.31)		
Goals	16.42 (5.58)	21.04 (4.80)	17.00 (5.30)	13.67 (4.29)		
Impulse	12.93 (6.90)	20.62 (6.62)	13.14 (5.81)	8.75 (2.63)		
Awareness	17.71 (5.84)	21.35 (4.82)	18.62 (6.25)	15.41 (5.12)		
Strategies	20.12 (9.75)	31.69 (6.10)	21.93 (8.14)	13.25 (4.46)		
Clarity	12.58 (5.08)	17.11 (4.48)	13.45 (5.50)	9.73 (2.65)		
Total	94.65 (33.71)	135.08(23.28)	98.83 (28.80)	71.63 (14.05)		

Note. Abbreviations: BPD = Borderline Personality disorder; f = frequency, % = percentage; SD = standard deviation; ETISR-SF = Early Trauma Inventory Self Report – Short-Form; BSL= Borderline Symptom List-23 Short Version; Brief SSI = Brief Version of Schizotypal Symptoms Inventory; PAM = Psychosis Attachment Measure; DERS = Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale.

n • .• • /	•7	1 . C		7 .	1 - 6	7 7	- 77
Decermente int	$\alpha v m \alpha t \alpha n u u t n v \alpha$	ub transtarma	data and	hotwoon oroung	analysis to	e chuncal	variables
Descriptive init	ormanon win ra	nn ir ansior mei	i aana ama	Derween-eroups	ana vala 101	cimica	variables.
		,		0·-·			

Variable	Total	Group			Test Statistics	
		BPD	Psychosis	Controls	_	
	(N=113)	(n = 28)	(n = 29)	(n = 56)		
ETISR-SF $f(\%)$	113 (100)	28 (100)	29 (100)	56 (100)		
General					p = .015, C = .27*	
YES	102 (90.3)	28 (100)	28 (96.6)	46 (82.1)	-	
NO	11 (9.7)	0 (0)	1 (3.4)	10 (17.9)		
Physical					$\chi^2(2) = 12.873^{**}, C = .32^{**}$	
YES	85 (75.2)	26 (92.9)	25 (86.2)	34 (60.7)		
NO	28 (24.8)	2 (7.1)	4 (13.8)	22 (39.3)		
Emotional					$\chi^2(2) = 26.354^{***}, C = .44^{***}$	
YES	75 (67)	28 (100)	22 (75.9)	25 (45.5)		
NO	37 (33.0)	0 (0)	7 (24.1)	30 (54.5)		
Sexual					$\chi^2(2) = 13.133^{***}, C = .32^{**}$	
YES	46 (41.1)	18 (64.3%)	14 (50%)	14 (25)		
NO	66 (58.9)	10 (35.7%)	14 (50%)	42 (75.0)		
Childhood Total M(SD)	6.03 (4.71)	10.61 (3.61)	7.24(4.26)	3.12(3.07)	$F_{\text{W}}(2, 58.52) = 50.973 \text{ ***}, \omega^2 = .43$	
Trauma Total - M(SD)	9.09 (5.95)	14.12 (4.26)	11.24 (5.46)	5.41 (4.35)	$F_{w}(2,61.63) = 45.735^{***}, \omega^2 = .41$	
BSL M rank (SE)						
Total	58.93 (3.31)	99.5 (3.17)	68.93 (5.42)	33.47 (2.65)	$F_{w}(2,56.97) = 127.207 * * *, \omega^{2} = .38$	
95% CI	52.38 - 65.49	93.00 - 106.00	57.82 - 80.04	28.15-38.79		
Overall life quality (%)	61.40 (3.19)	31.27 (3.94)	53.22 (6.52)	79.62 (3.41)	$F_{\text{W}}(2,56.45) = 42.941^{***}, \omega^2 = .34$	
95% CI	55.07 - 67.72	23.16 - 39.38	39.86 - 66.59	72.79 (86.44)		
Behaviours	59.25 (3.10)	92.39 (5.15)	55.98 (5.85)	44.37 (3.16)	$F_{w}(2,53.92) = 31.285^{***}, \omega^2 = .34$	
95% CI	53.10 - 65.40	81.83 - 102.95	43.99 - 67.97	38.04 - 50.69		

Variable	Total		Group	Test Statistics	
		BPD	Psychosis	Controls	-
	(N = 113)	(n = 28)	(n = 29)	(n = 56)	
SSI M rank (SE)					
Social anxiety	60.38 (3.32)	92.57 (4.14)	70.76 (6.09)	38.91 (3.53)	$F_{\pi}(2,58.76) = 49.041^{***}, \omega^2 = .40$
95% CI	53.80 - 66.96	84.08 - 101.07	58.28 - 83.24	31.83 - 45.99	
Paranoia	59.25 (3.28)	90.96 (4.37)	68.05 (6.77)	38.83 (3.18)	$F_{w}(2,54.82) = 47.152^{***}, \omega^{2} = .38$
95% CI	52.74 - 65.75	82.00 - 99.93	54.19 - 81.91	32.46 - 45.20	
Anomalous	59.82 (3.21)	88.16 (5.05)	76.88 (5.49)	36.82 (2.92)	$F_{w}(2,53.01) = 48.271^{***}, \omega^{2} = .45$
95% CI	53.46 - 66.19	77.79 - 98.53	65.64 - 88.12	30.98 - 42.66	
Total	59.55 (3.31)	95.93 (3.17)	75.38 (5.36)	33.17 (2.82)	$F_{w}(2,58.28) = 111.144^{***}, \omega^{2} = .59$
95% CI	52.99 - 66.11	89.42 - 102.44	64.40 - 86.35	27.52 - 38.82	
PAM Anxious M rank (SE)	60.02 (3.33)	98.91 (3.33)	58.24 (5.76)	41.50 (3.74)	$F_{\pi}(2,62.14) = 67.956^{***}, \omega^2 = .43$
95% CI	53.42 - 66.62	92.08 - 105.74	46.44 - 70.05	34.00 - 49.00	
PAM Avoidant M rank (SE)	60.27 (3.31)	86.70 (4.62)	65.09 (6.60)	44.55 (4.17)	$F_{\pi}(2,60.25) = 22.706^{***}, \omega^2 = .23$
95% CI	53.70 - 66.83	77.21 - 96.18	51.58 - 78.60	36.20 - 52.90	 Expected rates and an activity material
DERS - $M(SD)$					
Acceptance	59.84 (3.31)	95.79 (4.36)	59.71 (6.15)	41.93 (3.56)	$F_{w}(2,58.24) = 45.378 * * *, \omega^{2} = .38$
95% CI	53.29 - 66.39	86.83 - 104.74	47.11 - 72.30	34.79 - 49.06	
Goals	60.69 (3.28)	90.84 (5.82)	65.17 (5.83)	43.29 (3.59)	$F_{w}(2,55.39) = 24.801^{***}, \omega^{2} = .30$
95% CI	54.20 - 67.17	78.90 - 102.78	53.24 - 77.11	36.10 - 50.47	
Impulse	59.67 (3.32)	97.21 (4.09)	65.09 (5.89)	38.09 (3.25)	$F_{w}(2,57.47) = 63.525^{***}, \omega^2 = .46$
95% CI	53.08 - 82.83	88.83 - 105.60	53.03 - 77.14	31.57 - 44.61	10° 6
Awareness	59.67 (3.32)	97.21 (4.09)	65.09 (5.89)	38.09 (3.25)	$F_{\text{w}}(2,57.72) = 14.183^{***}, \omega^2 = .16$
95% CI	53.08 - 66.25	88.83 - 105.60	53.03 - 77.14	31.57 - 44.61	 Parameters Parameters
Strategies	59.30 (3.32)	99.11 (3.41)	68.59 (5.44)	34.58 (2.89)	$F_{\text{w}}(2,57.81) = 103.591^{***}, \omega^2 = .57$
95% CI	52.71 - 65.88	92.10 - 106.11	57.44 - 79.73	28.79 - 40.37	

87

_

Test Statistics
$F_{\text{W}}(2,54.77) = 43.153^{***}, \omega^2 = .36$
$F_{W}(2,57.81) = 103.418^{***}, \omega^{2} = .56$
means; C = Pearson's Contingency nificant post Bonferroni adjust-
- •

Test Statistics

Controls

(n = 56)

40.71 (3.27)

34.17 - 47.26

35.41 (2.92)

29.56 - 41.26

Note. p = Fishers Exact Test; $\gamma^2 =$ Pearson's Chi-squared test; $F_W =$ Welch Test on rank-transformed means; C = Pearson Coefficient; $\omega^2 = \text{Omega Squared}$; *p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001. All tests are two-tailed, Significant post Bonfe ment (p = .002)

BPD

(n = 28)

92.36 (4.50)

83.13 - 101.59

100.04 (3.39)

93.07 - 107.00

Group

Psychosis

(n = 29)

66.28 (6.97)

52.00 - 80.55

67.76 (5.60)

56.28 - 79.24

Variable

Total

Clarity

95% CI

95% CI

Total

(N = 113)

60.07 (3.31)

53.51 - 66.63

59.73 (3.34)

53.11 - 66.34

Abbreviations: BPD = Borderline Personality disorder; % = percentage; SD = Standard Deviation; CI = Confidence Intervals; ETISR-SF = Early Trauma Inventory Self Report - Short Form; BSL-23 = Borderline Symptom List - Short Version; Brief SSI = Brief Version of Schizotypal Symptoms Inventory; PAM = Psychosis Attachment Measure; DERS = Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale.

Correlational analyses. Correlational analyses between trauma variables and all trauma-related variables are shown in Table 7. Childhood trauma and total trauma experiences were significantly correlated with all trauma-related variables and trauma subscales (p < .001). For general trauma, no trauma-related variable was significantly correlated with the presence of general trauma and only symptomatology measures were significantly correlated with physical trauma. The presence of emotional trauma was significantly correlated with all variables. Sexual trauma presence was significantly correlated with all variables other than attachment.

Table 7

Correlations between trauma and trauma-related variables (N = 120)

Variable	Trauma measure (ETISR-SF)					
	Childhood Total	Trauma Total	General (Y/N)	Physical (Y/N)	Emotion (Y/N)	Sexual (Y/N)
BSL	۳ 0.436 ***	*0.409 ***	τ,0.088	^τ ⁵ 0.187**	^т ₀ .387***с	^τ _b 0.278 ^{***c}
SSI	[•] 0.423 ^{***}	^τ 0.397***	^{τ₅} 0.175 [*]	^τ ³ 0.280 ^{***}	¹ ,0.376 ^{***c}	^τ »0.224 ^{**c}
PAM						
Anxious	[*] 0.359***	[*] 0.340***	^τ ³ 0.137	^𝔅 0.143	^τ ₉ 0.340 ^{***c}	™0.198*c
					rpb0.343***	
Avoidant	r0.511***	′0.479 ^{***}	r _{p0} 0.159	rpb0.187*	c	″₅₀0.197*°
DERS	°0.384***	°0.344***	^τ ³ 0.064	^τ ⁵ 0.175 [*]	^τ ^b 0.326 ^{***c}	^τ ³ 0.192 ^{**c}

Note. $\tau =$ Kendalls Tau; $\tau_0 =$ Kendalls Tau point-biserial correlation; $\tau_{pb} =$ Pearsons point-biserial correlation * p < .05; ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; a (N = 110); b (N = 111); c (N = 119). All tests are two-tailed. **Bonferroni adjustment** p = .007.

Abbreviations: BPD = Borderline Personality Disorder; ETISR-SF = Early Trauma Inventory Self Report -Short Form; BSL= Borderline Symptom List --23 Short Version; Brief SSI = Brief Version of Schizotypal Symptoms Inventory; PAM = Psychosis Attachment Measure; DERS = Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale.

Mediation analysis. The main results for the mediation analyses are summarised in

Figure 6.

Attachment. Figure 6, model a, summarises the attachment mediation model with

BPD symptomatology. For the a-path, childhood trauma significantly predicted attachment

anxiety (F(1,112) = 60.59, p < .001, $R^2 = .35$) and avoidance (F(1,112) = 47.51, p < .001, R^2

= .27). For the c-path, childhood trauma significantly predicted BPD symptomatology $(F(1,112) = 82.66, p < .001, R^2 = .46)$. Childhood trauma and attachment together also significantly predicted BPD symptomatology $(F(3,110) = 86.62, p < .001, R^2 = .70)$. The 95% bias corrected bootstrap mediation analysis indicated attachment to be a significant mediator (the ab-path; total effect = .09, bootstrap CI = .06-.13) with attachment anxiety (κ^2 = .08, bootstrap CI = .05-.11) having relatively greater effects than attachment avoidance (κ^2 = .02, bootstrap CI = .01-.03).

Figure 6, model b, summarises the attachment mediation model with psychotic symptomatology. For the a-path, childhood trauma significantly predicted attachment anxiety (F(1,114) = 60.87, p < .001, $R^2 = .35$) and avoidance (F(1,114) = 48.75, p < .001, $R^2 = .27$). For the c-path, childhood trauma significantly predicted psychotic symptomatology (F(1,114) = 64.89, p < .001, $R^2 = .37$). Combined, childhood trauma and attachment significantly predicted psychotic symptomatology (F(3,112) = 47.72, p < .001, $R^2 = .60$). The 95% bias corrected bootstrap mediation analysis indicated that when attachment avoidance and anxiety are combined in the parallel mediational model, attachment was not a significant mediator (the ab-path; total effect = 1.42, bootstrap CI = .98-2.01). However, the path through attachment avoidance was found to independently have a mediational influence ($\kappa^2 = .37$, bootstrap CI = .12-.71) whereas attachment anxiety did not ($\kappa^2 = 1.06$, bootstrap CI = .64-1.61).

Emotion regulation. Figure 6, model c summarises the emotion regulation mediation model with BPD symptomatology. For the a-path, childhood trauma significantly predicted emotion regulation (F(1,112) = 90.66, p < .001, $R^2 = .39$). For the c-path, childhood trauma significantly predicted BPD symptomatology (F(1,112) = 85.67, p

<.001, $R^2 = .46$). Childhood trauma and emotion regulation together also significantly predicted BPD symptomatology (F(2,111) = 130.59, p < .001, $R^2 = .75$). The 95% bias corrected bootstrap mediation analysis indicated emotion regulation to be a significant mediator (the ab-path; $\kappa^2 = .10$, bootstrap CI = .07-.12).

Figure 6, model d summarises the emotion regulation mediation model with psychotic symptomatology. For the a-path, childhood trauma significantly predicted emotion regulation (F(1,114) = 85.23, p < .001, $R^2 = .38$. For the c-path, childhood trauma significantly predicted psychotic symptomatology (F(1,114) = 66.20, p < .001, $R^2 = .39$). Childhood trauma and emotion regulation together significantly predicted psychotic symptomatology ($F(2,1123 = 84.58, p < .001, R^2 = .69$). The 95% bias corrected bootstrap mediation analysis indicated emotion regulation was a mediator (the ab-path; $\kappa^2 = .1.47$, bootstrap CI = 1.10-1.90).



Note. **p* < 0.05; ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001

Figure 6. Standardised regression coefficients of the multiple mediation model of the effects of childhood trauma on Borderline Personality Disorder (BPD) and psychotic symptomatology through attachment and of simple mediation model of the effects of childhood trauma on BPD and psychotic symptomatology through emotion regulation.

4.7. Discussion

The first aim of the present study sought to investigate how trauma (type and severity), attachment and emotion regulation strategies differ between a group of individuals diagnosed with psychosis; a group of individuals diagnosed with BPD; and a healthy comparison group. To the author's knowledge, the results represent the first comparison between BPD, psychosis and control groups regarding trauma (type and severity), attachment and emotion regulation. Significant differences were found between the groups for all variables other than for the presence of general and physical trauma.

It is unsurprising that control group scored lower than the clinical populations on most variables assessed. BSL behaviours did not differ between psychosis and control populations with both groups reporting low rates, but the BPD group did significantly differ from both groups, consistent with the idea that self-injurious and suicidal behaviours are a typical feature of this diagnosis (Lieb, Zanarini, Schmahl, Linehan, & Bohus, 2004). Differences between psychosis and BPD groups were found for the BSL total and subscales scores, and the impulse, strategies and total DERS score. Given the documented high prevalence of psychotic symptoms (around 20-50%) within BPD populations (see Schroeder, Fisher, & Schäfer, 2013), it is unsurprising that no differences between these groups were found between the two clinical groups for psychotic symptoms. Similarly, both populations have been reported to present with high trauma levels (Bandelow et al., 2005; Varese et al., 2012), higher rates of insecure attachment (Carr et al., 2018; Fonagy et al., 2000; Harder, 2014; Levy, 2005; Liotti et al., 2000), and emotion regulation difficulties (e.g. Berking & Wupperman, 2012; Horan et al., 2013; Kring & Moran, 2008; O'Driscoll et al., 2014; Rosenthal et al., 2008; Trémeau, 2006). The difference between the BPD and psychosis groups on BSL scores and two DERS subscales are notable findings. It could be argued that the DERS impulse (i.e. impulse control relating to negative emotion) and clarity (i.e. emotional clarity deficits) subscales are both typical of the BPD diagnosis symptoms within the DSM behavioural and affective criteria (see Lieb et al., 2004). Taken together, the typical BSL symptoms are a key differential presenting feature when compared to psychosis populations. However, psychotic symptomatology, attachment and emotion regulation difficulties are more similar.

Even after applying stringent statistical adjustment for multiple testing, the study demonstrated a link between severity of total traumas and childhood traumas including increased insecurity in attachment, worsened emotion regulation and higher BPD and psychosis symptomatology. When considering distinct types of traumas, general trauma did not significantly relate to any of the variables whereas all childhood-based traumas (physical, emotional and sexual) were all found to be related to higher symptomatology. Only emotional trauma was found to relate significantly to attachment but both emotional and sexual abuse were significantly associated with increased emotion regulation difficulties. Given that emotional trauma presented with the greatest effect, it is likely that the interpersonal nature of childhood trauma is a key mechanism of impact. Childhood traumas were shown to have the largest correlations when compared to general traumas (which occur after 18 years of age). This indicates that childhood-based traumas have greater impact that adulthood-based traumas. The combined impact of childhood traumas to BPD and psychotic symptomology within the mediation analyses is indicative of the cumulative negative impact of multiple victimisation in childhood on later mental health symptomatology.

The results are consistent with theory and literature documenting the presence and frequency of childhood traumas being linked to increased psychotic (e.g. Catalan et al., 2017)) and BPD symptomatology (e.g. Ball & Links, 2009). It also parallels this link made for other mental health difficulties in adulthood (e.g. Infurna et al., 2016; Read & Bentall, 2012; Van der Kolk, 2017).

Given that general traumas occur after 18 years of age, the lack of between-group differences and correlation with other variables can be viewed to support literature suggesting childhood traumas are particularly important to later psychopathology (Read & Bentall, 2012). It is consistent with findings from studies focusing on complex PTSD symptoms, where adulthood-based traumas were not shown to be predictive of adult symptom complexity, whereas childhood traumas were (Cloitre et al., 2009). Additionally, the effect size for correlations with the trauma-related variables was higher for childhood traumas compared with total trauma. Combined, this supports wider literature evidence that childhood-based traumas are particularly influential to BPD (Paris, 2000) and psychotic symptomatology (Morrison et al., 2003; Trotta et al., 2015).

The lack of between-group differences for physical trauma and the non-significant correlation with attachment and emotion regulation may be due to the interpersonal nature of emotional and sexual abuse. Interpersonal trauma has been shown to be particularly influential in the development of psychiatric disorders (e.g. Cloitre et al., 2009; Cook et al., 2017; Van der Kolk, 2017). It is possible that emotional abuse co-occurs more with sexual compared to physical abuse potentially resulting in complex trauma reactions with greater impacts. However, in a non-clinical sample, physical and sexual abuse most likely to co-occur (Bigras, Daspe, Godbout, Briere, & Sabourin, 2017). Another possibility is that the

gender bias within the sample impacted on the results as additive and multiplicative synergistic patters of childhood trauma are found to differ between genders (see Putnam, Harris, & Putnam, 2013). Furthermore, unlike physical abuse, emotional and sexual abuse were both found to significantly relate to emotion regulation difficulties. This may suggest a possible differential mechanism for the impact of different types of traumas on symptom severity.

The difference between the types of childhood trauma can be seen within the wider literature. Sexual abuse is seen to have a larger impact on mental health when compared to physical abuse (e.g. Briere & Elliott, 2003; Fergusson, Boden, & Horwood, 2008; Gibb, Chelminski, & Zimmerman, 2007) and is specifically identified as a key risk factor in the development of BPD (Fossati, Madeddu, & Maffei, 1999). Emotional abuse is also found to be particularly damaging. Within a meta-analysis of the literature, Norman et al. (2012) found the highest pooled odds ratio for emotional abuse when compared to neglect and physical abuse in relation to depressive and anxiety disorders, substance use, and suicidal behaviour. The present study replicates these findings given that emotional abuse presented with the largest correlational effect sizes compared to other types of abuse. Emotional abuse was also the only type of trauma found to relate to attachment. This supports theoretical models and research suggesting that emotional abuse contributes towards increased attachment insecurity and combines to impair emotion regulation skills and maladaptive coping mechanisms. This results in reduced social functioning and ability to form helpful adult attachments and contributes towards worsened mental health (see Riggs, 2010).

As highlighted in Hayes and Rockwood (2017), whilst it is important to note the limitations of the mediation analysis, the results provide an insight into potential causal inferences between childhood trauma and symptomatology, in addition to recognising the influence of attachment and emotion regulation. The analysis adopted by this study had potentially reduced validity given the presence of heteroscedasticity. It must also be emphasised that the models of interaction presented are reductionistic and limit the conclusions inferred. The mediation analysis provided insight into the third aim of the study by transdiagnostically exploring the role attachment and emotion regulation have in the relationship between childhood trauma and BPD and psychotic symptomatology.

The significant associations revealed within the mediation analysis supports prior findings and theoretical frameworks for the impact of childhood trauma on symptomatology, emotion regulation and insecure attachment (see Baer & Martinez, 2006; Cook et al., 2017; Kinniburgh et al., 2017; Read & Bentall, 2012). The same is found for identified associations between attachment and emotion regulation with BPD (e.g. Levy, Johnson, Clouthier, Scala, & Temes, 2015; Minzenberg et al., 2006) and psychotic symptoms (e.g. Carr et al., 2018; Harder, 2014; Poole et al., 2000).

The analysis suggest that attachment mediates the relationship between childhood trauma and BPD symptomatology. The combined model accounted for 70% of the variance in presenting BPD symptomatology. Within this model, attachment anxiety accounted for a greater proportion than attachment avoidance, indicating more relative influence. Attachment combined with childhood trauma accounted for 60% of the variance in presenting psychotic symptomatology. Only attachment avoidance was found to mediate the association of childhood trauma to psychotic symptomatology. The finding that

attachment, specifically attachment anxiety, is a significant mediator between trauma and psychopathology is consistent with literature for BPD symptoms (Minzenberg et al., 2006), post-traumatic stress disorder (Sandberg, Suess, & Heaton, 2010), eating disorders (Tasca et al., 2013), general psychological adjustment (Limke, Showers, & Zeigler-Hill, 2010) and levels of somatisation (Waldinger, Schulz, Barsky, & Ahern, 2006). For psychotic symptomatology, the literature on attachment mediating the association between trauma and symptomatology is mixed, and the results of this study are only partially supported. Van Dam, Korver-Nieberg, Velthorst, Meijer, and de Haan (2014) found attachment style to partially mediate childhood maltreatment's association on positive symptomatology within psychosis populations, their siblings, but not within control populations. Contradictory to this, in a control sample Goodall, Rush, Grunwald, Darling and Tiliopoulos (2015) found that attachment anxiety and avoidance significantly mediated the association between emotional abuse and schizotypy. Similarly, within an undergraduate sample, Sheinbaum, Kwapil, & Barrantes-Vidal (2014) found significant mediation effects of fearful attachment (i.e. combined high attachment anxiety and avoidance) on the association of physical and emotional trauma with schizotypy, suspiciousness, and psychotic-like symptomatology. Finally, Pearce et al. (2017) found that fearful attachment mediated the relationship between trauma and paranoia symptomatology.

These findings can be viewed to support the mediational role of attachment avoidance on the influence of childhood trauma on psychotic symptomatology; however, to some degree they contradict the findings for attachment anxiety not being a significant mediator. However, it is important to note that the results presented for attachment anxiety mediating the relationship between childhood trauma and psychotic symptoms may have been influenced by the inclusion of the social anxiety subscale within the SSI measure of psychotic symptoms. Indeed, there may be an overlap between social anxiety and attachment anxiety. Additional analysis would be required to ascertain if this influenced results, however this is beyond the scope of this thesis. In summary, attachment is consistently presented as a key factor; however, the evidence is mixed for its mediational role on the association between trauma and symptomatology y. It is possible that the mediational influence may only be relevant to certain types of traumas and for certain domains of psychotic symptomatology.

Emotion regulation was found to be a significant mediator of the relationships between trauma and both BPD and psychotic symptomatology. In total, these variables accounted for 75% of the variance in BPD symptomatology and 69% of variance in psychotic symptomatology. Similar to the literature presented for attachment, the mediational role of emotion regulation has been previously evidenced (Alink, Cicchetti, Kim, & Rogosch, 2009). This includes BPD (Gaher, Hofman, Simons, & Hunsaker, 2013), PTSD (Stevens et al., 2013), anxiety, depression (Goldsmith, Chesney, Heath, & Barlow, 2013; Matos, Pinto-Gouveia, & Costa, 2013) and general psychological maladjustment (Choi & Oh, 2014). Given that trauma causes distressing internal emotional responses, it is unsurprising that an individual's ability to stabilise internal distress influences the impact it has. It is important to consider that there may be differential effects of the various emotion regulation dimensions on the relationship between childhood trauma and symptoms. Specifically, Bardeen, Fergus, and Orcutt (2012) suggest that the awareness dimension of the DERS may represent a different higher-order emotion regulation construct when compared to the other five dimensions.

There are documented interacting influences between attachment and emotion regulation (e.g. Alink et al., 2009; Benoit, Bouthillier, Moss, Rousseau, & Brunet, 2010; Matos et al., 2013) which add a further level of complexity to consider but are beyond the current scope of this paper. Nevertheless, collectively, these findings support emotion regulation and attachment being critical areas of consideration for BPD and psychotic symptomatology when considering the impact of childhood trauma. This study finds anxious dimensions to be more important for BPD symptomatology and avoidant dimensions to be more important for psychotic symptomatology.

Strengths and limitations. Notable strengths of this research include the urbanrural geographical area covered which incorporated two NHS trusts. The sample characteristics and findings were also predominantly comparable and supportive of prior research. However, this study should be interpreted in the light of several limitations. The presenting homogeneity in gender and requirement for English-language within the community-based control and NHS-based clinical samples have limited generalisability. Additionally, there is potential bias resulting from the title of the study which could appeal more to potential participants with trauma histories. Furthermore, given the complexity of this field, there are several notable confounding variables not accounted for by this study including medication, IQ, age, gender and socio-economic status which were not controlled for and may impact on results. Finally, the cross-sectional nature of this study precludes definitive causal interpretations regarding the long-term impacts of childhood trauma and longitudinal studies have documented evidence for this (e.g. Fergusson, McLeod, & Horwood, 2013; Rabinovitch, Kerr, Leve, & Chamberlain, 2015).

Implications for practice and research. Despite limitations, the results are of clinical relevance and importance. The presented study demonstrates a clear relationship between trauma and symptoms of both BPD and psychosis and supports a trauma-focused understanding of complex mental health difficulties. Although BPD and psychosis diagnoses differentially present, there may be more similarities than originally theorised, with both presenting with overlapping causal factors. Full assessment of trauma experiences should be a routine aspect of contact with services. Screening for attachment styles and emotion regulation difficulties may provide helpful information to allow care teams to more effectively tailor treatment and help clients to better engage with interventions. Within psychological interventions, it is essential that trauma, attachment and emotion regulation are incorporated into formulations and treatment. Transdiagnostic person-centred assessment of symptom development and maintenance of BPD and psychosis presentations will add depth to formulations and aid optimal intervention planning and implementation. Therapeutic approaches incorporating some form of emotion regulation training, such as Third Wave Cognitive Behavioural Therapies (Hayes, 2016) or Emotion-Regulation Therapy (Renna, Quintero, Fresco, & Mennin, 2017) are likely to be helpful in reducing BPD and psychotic symptoms. Similarly, interventions incorporating attachment, such as transference-focused psychotherapy (Levy et al., 2006), are likely to be helpful in addressing BPD symptomatology.

Regarding recommendations for future research, there is a growing need for more longitudinal studies to help infer causality relationships and to better ascertain the multifaceted vulnerability and protective factors which influence presenting psychopathology. Further investigation of the direction and cause of multidimensional influences underpinning psychotic and BPD experiences are needed. Larger and more heterogenous samples need to attend to gender influences when considering the potential differential distribution and influence of trauma, attachment and emotion regulation difficulties. Finally, more detailed examination of the different dimensions of attachment and emotion regulation will provide greater understanding to these complex and influential constructs.

4.8. Conclusions

This study provides a helpful insight into presenting differences and similarities between the BPD and psychosis population groups relative to control populations. The trauma rates presented highlight the high prevalence of childhood trauma within both clinical and non-clinical population groups. Whilst causality cannot be assumed, the results provide further confirmation of the already widely documented relationship between childhood trauma and BPD and psychosis symptoms in adulthood.

Clinicians need to consider, thoroughly assess and attend to the presence and influence of trauma, attachment and emotion regulation difficulties on presenting psychopathology. Treatment plans need to be person-centred and incorporate these influential factors. From a wider societal perspective, progression in preventative measures and effective early interventions to reduce trauma rates may help reduce rates of complex mental health conditions including BPD and psychosis.

4.9. Acknowledgements

Thanks go to all those who participated in this study and to the clinical teams for their ongoing helpful collaboration.

4.10. References

- Agrawal, H. R., Gunderson, J., Holmes, B. M., & Lyons-Ruth, K. (2004). Attachment studies with borderline patients: A review. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*, *12*(2), 94-104.
- Aldao, A., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Schweizer, S. (2010). Emotion-regulation strategies across psychopathology: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(2), 217-237.
- Alink, L. R., Cicchetti, D., Kim, J., & Rogosch, F. A. (2009). Mediating and moderating processes in the relation between maltreatment and psychopathology: Mother-child relationship quality and emotion regulation. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 37(6), 831-843.
- Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Bremner, J. D., Walker, J. D., Whitfield, C., Perry, B. D., . . . Giles, W. H. (2006). The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. *European Archives Of Psychiatry And Clinical Neuroscience*, 256(3), 174-186.
- Anderson, F., Howard, L., Dean, K., Moran, P., & Khalifeh, H. (2016). Childhood maltreatment and adulthood domestic and sexual violence victimisation among people with severe mental illness. *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 51(7), 961-970.
- Baer, J. C., & Martinez, C. D. (2006). Child maltreatment and insecure attachment: a metaanalysis. Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology, 24(3), 187-197.
- Bakermans-Kranenburg, M., & van Ijzendoorn, M. H. (2009). The first 10,000 Adult Attachment Interviews: Distributions of adult attachment representations in clinical and non-clinical groups. *Attachment and Human Development*, 11(3), 223-263.
- Ball, J. S., & Links, P. S. (2009). Borderline personality disorder and childhood trauma: evidence for a causal relationship. *Current psychiatry reports, 11*(1), 63-68.
- Bandelow, B., Krause, J., Wedekind, D., Broocks, A., Hajak, G., & Rüther, E. (2005).
 Early traumatic life events, parental attitudes, family history, and birth risk factors in patients with borderline personality disorder and healthy controls. *Psychiatry Research*, 134(2), 169-179.
- Bardeen, J. R., Fergus, T. A., & Orcutt, H. K. (2012). An examination of the latent structure of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 34(3), 382-392.

- Barnow, S., Arens, E. A., Sieswerda, S., Dinu-Biringer, R., Spitzer, C., & Lang, S. (2010). Borderline personality disorder and psychosis: a review. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 12(3), 186-195.
- Bentall, R. P., De Sousa, P., Varese, F., Wickham, S., Sitko, K., Haarmans, M., & Read, J. (2014). From adversity to psychosis: Pathways and mechanisms from specific adversities to specific symptoms. *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 49(7), 1011-1022.
- Berking, M., & Wupperman, P. (2012). Emotion regulation and mental health: recent findings, current challenges, and future directions. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 25(2), 128-134.
- Bernstein, D. P., Stein, J. A., Newcomb, M. D., Walker, E., Pogge, D., Ahluvalia, T., ... Desmond, D. (2003). Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child abuse & neglect*, 27(2), 169-190.
- Berry, K., Barrowclough, C., & Wearden, A. (2008). Attachment theory: A framework for understanding symptoms and interpersonal relationships in psychosis. *Behav Res Ther*, 46(12), 1275-1282.
- Berry, K., Wearden, A., Barrowclough, C., & Liversidge, T. (2006). Attachment styles, interpersonal relationships and psychotic phenomena in a non-clinical student sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *41*(4), 707-718.
- Bigras, N., Daspe, M.-È., Godbout, N., Briere, J., & Sabourin, S. (2017). Cumulative childhood trauma and adult sexual satisfaction: Mediation by affect dysregulation and sexual anxiety in men and women. J Sex Marital Ther, 43(4), 377-396.
- Bohus, M., Kleindienst, N., Limberger, M. F., Stieglitz, R.-D., Domsalla, M., Chapman, A. L., . . . Wolf, M. (2009). The short version of the Borderline Symptom List (BSL-23): development and initial data on psychometric properties. *Psychopathology*, 42(1), 32-39.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and Loss (Vol. 1). New York: Basic Books.
- Bowling, A. (2005). Mode of questionnaire administration can have serious effects on data quality. *Journal of public health*, 27(3), 281-291.
- Bremner, J. D., Bolus, R., & Mayer, E. A. (2007). Psychometric properties of the early trauma inventory–self report. *The Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, 195(3), 211-218.
- Briere, J., & Elliott, D. M. (2003). Prevalence and psychological sequelae of self-reported childhood physical and sexual abuse in a general population sample of men and women. *Child abuse & neglect*, *27*(10), 1205-1222.

- Carpenter, R. W., & Trull, T. J. (2013). Components of emotion dysregulation in borderline personality disorder: A review. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 15(1), 1-8.
- Carr, S. C., Hardy, A., & Fornells-Ambrojo, M. (2018). Relationship between attachment style and symptom severity across the psychosis spectrum: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 59, 145-158.
- Catalan, A., Angosto, V., Díaz, A., Valverde, C., de Artaza, M. G., Sesma, E., . . . Bilbao, A. (2017). Relation between psychotic symptoms, parental care and childhood trauma in severe mental disorders. *Psychiatry Research*, 251, 78-84.
- Chapman, A. L., Leung, D. W., & Lynch, T. R. (2008). Impulsivity and emotion dysregulation in borderline personality disorder. *Journal of personality disorders*, 22(2), 148-164.
- Choi, J. Y., & Oh, K. J. (2014). Cumulative childhood trauma and psychological maladjustment of sexually abused children in Korea: Mediating effects of emotion regulation. *Child abuse & neglect*, 38(2), 296-303.
- Cloitre, M., Stolbach, B. C., Herman, J. L., Kolk, B. v. d., Pynoos, R., Wang, J., & Petkova, E. (2009). A developmental approach to complex PTSD: Childhood and adult cumulative trauma as predictors of symptom complexity. *J Trauma Stress*, 22(5), 399-408.
- Cook, A., Spinazzola, J., Ford, J., Lanktree, C., Blaustein, M., Cloitre, M., . . . Liautaud, J. (2017). Complex trauma in children and adolescents. *Psychiatric annals*, 35(5), 390-398.
- IBM Corp. (2016). SPSS statistics, Version 23 [Computer Software]. Chicago: IBM Corporation.
- Couture, S., Lecomte, T., & Leclerc, C. (2007). Personality characteristics and attachment in first episode psychosis: Impact on social functioning. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 195*(8), 631-639.
- Domes, G., Schulze, L., & Herpertz, S. C. (2009). Emotion recognition in borderline personality disorder—a review of the literature. *Journal of personality disorders*, 23(1), 6-19.
- Ehring, T., & Quack, D. (2010). Emotion regulation difficulties in trauma survivors: The role of trauma type and PTSD symptom severity. *Behavior Therapy*, 41(4), 587-598.
- Elwood, L. S., Hahn, K. S., Olatunji, B. O., & Williams, N. L. (2009). Cognitive vulnerabilities to the development of PTSD: A review of four vulnerabilities and the

proposal of an integrative vulnerability model. *Clinical Psychology Review, 29*(1), 87-100.

- Fergusson, D. M., Boden, J. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2008). Exposure to childhood sexual and physical abuse and adjustment in early adulthood. *Child abuse & neglect*, 32(6), 607-619.
- Fergusson, D. M., McLeod, G. F., & Horwood, L. J. (2013). Childhood sexual abuse and adult developmental outcomes: Findings from a 30-year longitudinal study in New Zealand. *Child abuse & neglect*, 37(9), 664-674.
- Field, A. (2009). *Discovering Statistics Using SPSS* (3rd ed.). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Fonagy, P., Steele, H., & Steele, M. (1991). Maternal representations of attachment during pregnancy predict the organization of infant-mother attachment at one year of age. *Child Dev*, 62(5), 891-905.
- Fonagy, P., Target, M., & Gergely, G. (2000). Attachment and borderline personality disorder: A theory and some evidence. *Psychiatric Clinics*, 23(1), 103-122.
- Courtois, C. A. & Ford, J. D. (Eds.). (2009). *Treating complex traumatic stress disorders: An evidence-based guide*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Fossati, A., Madeddu, F., & Maffei, C. (1999). Borderline personality disorder and childhood sexual abuse: a meta-analytic study. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 13(3), 268-280.
- Gaher, R. M., Hofman, N. L., Simons, J. S., & Hunsaker, R. (2013). Emotion regulation deficits as mediators between trauma exposure and borderline symptoms. *Cognitive therapy and research*, 37(3), 466-475.
- Garnefski, N., Kraaij, V., & Spinhoven, P. (2001). Negative life events, cognitive emotion regulation and emotional problems. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 30(8), 1311-1327.
- Gibb, B. E., Chelminski, I., & Zimmerman, M. (2007). Childhood emotional, physical, and sexual abuse, and diagnoses of depressive and anxiety disorders in adult psychiatric outpatients. *Depression and anxiety*, 24(4), 256-263.
- Glenn, C. R., & Klonsky, E. D. (2009). Emotion dysregulation as a core feature of borderline personality disorder. *Journal of personality disorders, 23*(1), 20-28.
- Goodall, K., Rush, R., Grünwald, L., Darling, S., & Tiliopoulos, N. (2015). Attachment as a partial mediator of the relationship between emotional abuse and schizotypy. *Psychiatry research*, 230(2), 531-536.

- Goldsmith, R. E., Chesney, S. A., Heath, N. M., & Barlow, M. R. (2013). Emotion regulation difficulties mediate associations between betrayal trauma and symptoms of posttraumatic stress, depression, and anxiety. *J Trauma Stress*, 26(3), 376-384.
- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral* Assessment, 26(1), 41-54.
- Gross, J. J. (2002). Emotion regulation: Affective, cognitive, and social consequences. *Psychophysiology*, *39*(3), 281-291.
- Gross, J. J., Richards, J. M., & John, O. P. (2006). Emotion regulation in everyday life. In S. K. Douglas, J. A. Simpson, J. N. Hughes (Eds.), *Emotion regulation in couples* and families: Pathways to dysfunction and health (pp. 13-35). US: American Psychological Association.
- Gumley, A., Taylor, H., Schwannauer, M., & MacBeth, A. (2014). A systematic review of attachment and psychosis: measurement, construct validity and outcomes. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 129(4), 257-274.
- Harder, S. (2014). Attachment in schizophrenia Implications for research, prevention, and treatment. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 40(6), 1189-1193.
- Hardy, A. (2017). Pathways from trauma to psychotic experiences: A theoretically informed model of posttraumatic stress in psychosis. *Front Psychol*, *8*, 697. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00697
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York: Guilford Publications.
- Hayes, A. F., & Rockwood, N. J. (2017). Regression-based statistical mediation and moderation analysis in clinical research: Observations, recommendations, and implementation. *Behav Res Ther*, 98, 39-57. doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2016.11.001
- Hayes, S. C. (2016). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy, Relational Frame Theory, and the Third Wave of Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies–Republished Article. *Behavior Therapy*, 47(6), 869-885.
- Henry, J. D., Rendell, P. G., Green, M. J., McDonald, S., & O'Donnell, M. (2008). Emotion regulation in schizophrenia: Affective, social, and clinical correlates of suppression and reappraisal. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, 117(2), 473.
- Hodgekins, J., Coker, S., Freeman, D., Ray-Glover, K., Bebbington, P., & Garety, P.(2012). Assessing levels of subthreshold psychotic symptoms in the recovery phase:

the Schizotypal Symptoms Inventory (SSI). *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, *3*(4), 582-593.

- Hodgekins, J. M. (2009). The nature of schizotypal symptoms and social recovery in psychosis (Doctoral dissertation, University of East Anglia). Retrieved from https://ueaeprints.uea.ac.uk/10626/1/Thesis_wm098_J_M_Hodgekins.pdf
- Horan, W. P., Hajcak, G., Wynn, J. K., & Green, M. F. (2013). Impaired emotion regulation in schizophrenia: evidence from event-related potentials. *Psychological Medicine*, 43(11), 2377-2391.
- Infurna, F. J., Rivers, C. T., Reich, J., & Zautra, A. J. (2015). Childhood trauma and personal mastery: Their influence on emotional reactivity to everyday events in a community sample of middle-aged adults. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(4), e0121840.
- Infurna, M. R., Reichl, C., Parzer, P., Schimmenti, A., Bifulco, A., & Kaess, M. (2016). Associations between depression and specific childhood experiences of abuse and neglect: a meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord*, 190, 47-55. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.006
- Kelleher, I., Keeley, H., Corcoran, P., Ramsay, H., Wasserman, C., Carli, V., . . . Cannon, M. (2013). Childhood trauma and psychosis in a prospective cohort study: cause, effect, and directionality. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 170(7), 734-741.
- Kimhy, D., Vakhrusheva, J., Jobson-Ahmed, L., Tarrier, N., Malaspina, D., & Gross, J. J. (2012). Emotion awareness and regulation in individuals with schizophrenia: implications for social functioning. *Psychiatry Research*, 200(2), 193-201.
- Kinniburgh, K. J., Blaustein, M., Spinazzola, J., & Van der Kolk, B. A. (2017). Attachment, Self-Regulation, and Competency: A comprehensive intervention framework for children with complex trauma. *Psychiatric Annals*, 35(5), 424-430.
- Kring, A. M., & Moran, E. K. (2008). Emotional response deficits in schizophrenia: insights from affective science. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 34(5), 819-834.
- Levy, K. N. (2005). The implications of attachment theory and research for understanding borderline personality disorder. *Development and Psychopathology*, *17*(4), 959-986.
- Levy, K. N., Johnson, B. N., Clouthier, T. L., Scala, J., & Temes, C. M. (2015). An attachment theoretical framework for personality disorders. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie canadienne*, 56(2), 197.
- Levy, K. N., Meehan, K. B., Kelly, K. M., Reynoso, J. S., Weber, M., Clarkin, J. F., & Kernberg, O. F. (2006). Change in attachment patterns and reflective function in a randomized control trial of transference-focused psychotherapy for borderline personality disorder. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 74(6), 1027.
- Lieb, K., Zanarini, M. C., Schmahl, C., Linehan, M. M., & Bohus, M. (2004). Borderline personality disorder. *The Lancet*, 364(9432), 453-461.
- Limke, A., Showers, C. J., & Zeigler-Hill, V. (2010). Emotional and sexual maltreatment: Anxious attachment mediates psychological adjustment. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 29(3), 347-367.
- Lincoln, T. M., Hartmann, M., Köther, U., & Moritz, S. (2015). Do people with psychosis have specific difficulties regulating emotions? *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 22(6), 637-646.
- Liotti, G., Pasquini, P., & Cirrincione, R. (2000). Predictive factors for borderline personality disorder: Patients' early traumatic experiences and losses suffered by the attachment figure. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *102*(4), 282-289.
- MacDonald, P. L., & Gardner, R. C. (2000). Type I error rate comparisons of post hoc procedures for I j Chi-Square tables. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 60(5), 735-754.
- Marascuilo, L. A., & McSweeney, M. (1977). *Nonparametric and distribution-free methods for the social sciences.* Baltimore: BrooksCole Publishing Co.
- Matheson, S., Shepherd, A. M., Pinchbeck, R., Laurens, K., & Carr, V. J. (2013). Childhood adversity in schizophrenia: a systematic meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 43(2), 225-238.
- Matos, M., Pinto-Gouveia, J., & Costa, V. (2013). Understanding the importance of attachment in shame traumatic memory relation to depression: The impact of emotion regulation processes. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 20(2), 149-165.
- McLaughlin, K. A., Peverill, M., Gold, A. L., Alves, S., & Sheridan, M. A. (2015). Child maltreatment and neural systems underlying emotion regulation. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(9), 753-762.
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2012). Adult attachment orientations and relationship processes. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 4(4), 259-274.
- Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., & Solomon, Z. (2015). An attachment perspective on traumatic and posttraumatic reactions. In M. Safir, H. Wallach, A. Rizzo (Eds.), *Future Directions in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder* (pp. 79-96). Boston: Springer.
- Minzenberg, M. J., Poole, J. H., & Vinogradov, S. (2006). Adult social attachment disturbance is related to childhood maltreatment and current symptoms in borderline personality disorder. *The Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, 194(5), 341-348.

- Morrison, A. P., Frame, L., & Larkin, W. (2003). Relationships between trauma and psychosis: a review and integration. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 42(4), 331-353.
- Muenzenmaier, K., Schneeberger, A. R., Castille, D. M., Battaglia, J., Seixas, A. A., & Link, B. (2014). Stressful childhood experiences and clinical outcomes in people with serious mental illness: a gender comparison in a clinical psychiatric sample. *Journal of Family Violence*, 29(4), 419-429.
- Mueser, K. T., Goodman, L. B., Trumbetta, S. L., Rosenberg, S. D., Osher, F. C., Vidaver, R., ... Foy, D. W. (1998). Trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder in severe mental illness. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 66(3), 493-499.
- Neumann, A., van Lier, P. A., Gratz, K. L., & Koot, H. M. (2010). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation difficulties in adolescents using the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Assessment*, 17(1), 138-149.
- Norman, R. E., Byambaa, M., De, R., Butchart, A., Scott, J., & Vos, T. (2012). The longterm health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS medicine*, *9*(11), e1001349.
- O'Driscoll, C., Laing, J., & Mason, O. (2014). Cognitive emotion regulation strategies, alexithymia and dissociation in schizophrenia, a review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 34(6), 482-495.
- Paris, J. (2000). Childhood precursors of borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 23(1), 77-88.
- Pearce, J., Simpson, J., Berry, K., Bucci, S., Moskowitz, A., & Varese, F. (2017). Attachment and dissociation as mediators of the link between childhood trauma and psychotic experiences. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 24(6), 1304-1312.
- Perry, Y., Henry, J. D., & Grisham, J. R. (2011). The habitual use of emotion regulation strategies in schizophrenia. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 50(2), 217-222.
- Poole, J. H., Tobias, F. C., & Vinogradov, S. (2000). The functional relevance of affect recognition errors in schizophrenia. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 6(6), 649-658.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behavior research methods*, 40(3), 879-891.
- Putnam, K. T., Harris, W. W., & Putnam, F. W. (2013). Synergistic childhood adversities and complex adult psychopathology. *J Trauma Stress*, 26(4), 435-442.

- Rabinovitch, S. M., Kerr, D. C., Leve, L. D., & Chamberlain, P. (2015). Suicidal behavior outcomes of childhood sexual abuse: Longitudinal study of adjudicated girls. *Suicide and life-threatening behavior*, 45(4), 431-447.
- Read, J., & Bentall, R. P. (2012). Negative childhood experiences and mental health: theoretical, clinical and primary prevention implications. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 200(2), 89-91.
- Read, J., & Gumley, A. (2010). Can attachment theory help explain the relationship between childhood adversity and psychosis. In S. Benamer (Ed.), *Telling Stories; Attachment Based Approaches To The Treatment of Psychosis* (pp. 51-91). London: Karnac Books.
- Renna, M. E., Quintero, J. M., Fresco, D. M., & Mennin, D. S. (2017). Emotion Regulation Therapy: A Mechanism-Targeted Treatment for Disorders of Distress. *Front. Psychol.*, 8(98), 1-14. doi:https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00098
- Riggs, S. A. (2010). Childhood emotional abuse and the attachment system across the life cycle: What theory and research tell us. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 19*(1), 5-51.
- Rosenthal, M. Z., Gratz, K. L., Kosson, D. S., Cheavens, J. S., Lejuez, C., & Lynch, T. R. (2008). Borderline personality disorder and emotional responding: A review of the research literature. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28(1), 75-91.
- Rossiter, A., Byrne, F., Wota, A. P., Nisar, Z., Ofuafor, T., Murray, I., . . . Hallahan, B. (2015). Childhood trauma levels in individuals attending adult mental health services: An evaluation of clinical records and structured measurement of childhood trauma. *Child abuse & neglect*, 44, 36-45. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.01.001.
- Salters-Pedneault, K., Roemer, L., Tull, M. T., Rucker, L., & Mennin, D. S. (2006). Evidence of broad deficits in emotion regulation associated with chronic worry and generalized anxiety disorder. *Cognitive therapy and research*, 30(4), 469-480.
- Sandberg, D. A., Suess, E. A., & Heaton, J. L. (2010). Attachment anxiety as a mediator of the relationship between interpersonal trauma and posttraumatic symptomatology among college women. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(1), 33-49.
- Schroeder, K., Fisher, H. L., & Schäfer, I. (2013). Psychotic symptoms in patients with borderline personality disorder: prevalence and clinical management. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 26(1), 113-119.
- Sege, R. D., Amaya-Jackson, L., Abuse, A. A. O. P. C. o. C., & Neglect. (2017). Clinical considerations related to the behavioral manifestations of child maltreatment. *Pediatrics*, 139(4), e20170100.

- Sharp, C., Pane, H., Ha, C., Venta, A., Patel, A. B., Sturek, J., & Fonagy, P. (2011). Theory of mind and emotion regulation difficulties in adolescents with borderline traits. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50(6), 563-573. e561.
- Sheinbaum, T., Kwapil, T. R., & Barrantes-Vidal, N. (2014). Fearful attachment mediates the association of childhood trauma with schizotypy and psychotic-like experiences. *Psychiatry Research*, 220(1), 691-693.
- Silk, K. R., Lee, S., Hill, E. M., & Lohr, N. E. (1995). Borderline personality disorder symptoms and severity of sexual abuse. *Am J Psychiatry*, 152(7), 1059-1046.
- Sitko, K., Bentall, R. P., Shevlin, M., & Sellwood, W. (2014). Associations between specific psychotic symptoms and specific childhood adversities are mediated by attachment styles: an analysis of the National Comorbidity Survey. *Psychiatry Research*, 217(3), 202-209.
- Spauwen, J., Krabbendam, L., Lieb, R., Wittchen, H.-U., & Van Os, J. (2006). Impact of psychological trauma on the development of psychotic symptoms: relationship with psychosis proneness. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 188(6), 527-533.
- Stevens, N. R., Gerhart, J., Goldsmith, R. E., Heath, N. M., Chesney, S. A., & Hobfoll, S. E. (2013). Emotion regulation difficulties, low social support, and interpersonal violence mediate the link between childhood abuse and posttraumatic stress symptoms. *Behavior Therapy*, 44(1), 152-161.
- Stuart, S., Pfohl, B., Battaglia, M., Bellodi, L., Grove, W., & Cadoret, R. (1998). The cooccurrence of DSM-III-R personality disorders. *Journal of personality disorders*, 12(4), 302-315.
- Suvak, M. K., Litz, B. T., Sloan, D. M., Zanarini, M. C., Barrett, L. F., & Hofmann, S. G. (2011). Emotional granularity and borderline personality disorder. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, 120(2), 414.
- Suvak, M. K., Sege, C. T., Sloan, D. M., Shea, M. T., Yen, S., & Litz, B. T. (2012). Emotional processing in borderline personality disorder. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment, 3*(3), 273.
- Tasca, G. A., Ritchie, K., Zachariades, F., Proulx, G., Trinneer, A., Balfour, L., . . . Bissada, H. (2013). Attachment insecurity mediates the relationship between childhood trauma and eating disorder psychopathology in a clinical sample: a structural equation model. *Child abuse & neglect*, 37(11), 926-933.

- Thabrew, H., de Sylva, S., & Romans, S. (2012). Evaluating childhood adversity. In G. A. Fava, N. Sonino, T. N. Wise (Eds.), *The Psychosomatic Assessment. Strategies to Improve Clinical Practice* (pp. 35-57). Basel: Karger Publishers.
- Thompson, R. A., Lewis, M. D., & Calkins, S. D. (2008). Reassessing emotion regulation. *Child Development Perspectives*, 2(3), 124-131.
- Trémeau, F. (2006). A review of emotion deficits in schizophrenia. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci, 8*(1), 59.
- Trotta, A., Murray, R., & Fisher, H. (2015). The impact of childhood adversity on the persistence of psychotic symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 45(12), 2481-2498.
- Van Dam, D., Korver-Nieberg, N., Velthorst, E., Meijer, C., & de Haan, L. (2014). Childhood maltreatment, adult attachment and psychotic symptomatology: a study in patients, siblings and controls. *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 49(11), 1759-1767.
- Van der Kolk, B. A. (2017). Developmental Trauma Disorder: Toward a rational diagnosis for children with complex trauma histories. *Psychiatric annals*, *35*(5), 401-408.
- Varese, F., Smeets, F., Drukker, M., Lieverse, R., Lataster, T., Viechtbauer, W., . . . Bentall, R. P. (2012). Childhood Adversities Increase the Risk of Psychosis: A Meta-analysis of Patient-Control, Prospective- and Cross-sectional Cohort Studies. *Schizophrenia Bulletin, 38*(4), 661-671.
- Waldinger, R. J., Schulz, M. S., Barsky, A. J., & Ahern, D. K. (2006). Mapping the road from childhood trauma to adult somatization: the role of attachment. *Psychosom Med*, 68(1), 129-135.
- Westermann, S., Boden, M. T., Gross, J. J., & Lincoln, T. M. (2013). Maladaptive cognitive emotion regulation prospectively predicts subclinical paranoia. *Cognitive therapy and research*, 37(4), 881-885.
- Zanarini, M. C., Yong, L., Frankenburg, F. R., Hennen, J., Reich, D. B., Marino, M. F., & Vujanovic, A. A. (2002). Severity of reported childhood sexual abuse and its relationship to severity of borderline psychopathology and psychosocial impairment among borderline inpatients. *The Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease*, 190(6), 381-387.

Chapter 5. Extended Methodology

5.1. Introduction

The extended more detailed sections presented here relate to the full empirical paper within Chapter Four. The creation, ethical application and data collection were jointly conducted with another trainee clinical psychologist who examined separate research areas (see Appendix B for joint-working procedures).

5.2. Participants

The study inclusion and exclusion criteria are in Appendix D. A total of 286 adults entered the study. One hundred and twenty fully completed the questionnaire pack. The 120 participants were aged between 19-64 years (79 females and 41 males).

Non-clinical population. A total of 224 adults entered the study. Across the eligibility criteria, 153 did not fully complete the initial screening questioning or were not deemed eligible for participation (e.g. 15 individuals indicated that they had received mental health care; two people were not fluent in spoken and written English; 38 individuals had or had previously had a mental health diagnosis; six people indicated that they were suicidal; and one person did not provide consent). Of the remaining participants, 71 clicked the cancel button during participation or did not fully complete the survey. The final total for the non-clinical population (N = 63) were aged between 21 and 61 years and were recruited primarily from the UK but included other countries.

Clinical population. A total of 171 eligible participants were approached, 114 were unreachable, declined to participate or were lost to follow-up following initial contact with a researcher. Twenty-eight participants with a diagnosis of BPD (aged between 19 and 64

years) and 29 participants with a diagnosis of psychosis (aged between 19 and 62 years) took part.

5.3. Ethical Approval

To ensure the study met all ethical principles and legislative requirements, the study was planned and conducted following guidance from the British Psychological Society Code of Ethics and Conduct (2009) and the Code of Human Research Ethics (Reeves, 2011). The study was ethically considered and approved by the Cambridge Research Ethics Committee (Appendix E). Relevant to the two clinical samples, additional approval was granted from Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT) and Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) research and development departments.

All study documents were reviewed by a local public and patient involvement (PPI) panel review panel and followed the Research Governance Frameworks (Department of Health, 2005) provided by the NHS Health Research Authority.

5.4. Ethical Considerations

Recruitment (consent, withdrawal and coercion). All participants were provided with a Participant Information Sheet (PIS) which outlined the details of the study, including that participation was voluntary, to enable them to make an informed decision (see Appendix F). All participants were encouraged to take time to fully consider the information and reminded to discuss this with family, friends or mental health team members before deciding to participate.

Non-clinical population. The non-clinical sample were recruited anonymously via an internet-based survey advertised though social networking sites (e.g. Facebook and Twitter). Study adverts contained the study title and a link to the survey. Potential participants were provided with an electronic copy of the non-clinical PIS. All participants were required to complete an electronic-based Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist (Appendix D). Participants created a non-identifiable code by selecting four random (not consecutive) letters followed by four random digits. Only eligible participants were able to access an online version of the study demographic sheet and questionnaire booklet.

The clinical population. The Screening and Enrolment Log (see Appendix G) recorded recruitment related activities. When the researcher met with potential participants, the researchers assured them that they had the right to withdraw at any time without giving a reason and that this would not impact on their current care, medical or legal rights.

The clinical population groups were recruited NHS services via tear-off self-referral posters (see Appendix H) placed in clinical areas (e.g. waiting rooms) or through clinical teams. For participants referred via their clinician, consent to contact was ascertained prior to the researcher contacting them. To ensure informed consent was obtained before taking part, researchers checked the potential participant had read and understood the information within the PIS and had been in receipt of the PIS for a minimum of 48 hours. Once confirmed, participants were given the opportunity to ask questions and have them answered by the researcher.

Specific study mobile phones were purchased with the contact numbers solely used for study purposes. For all telephone self-referrals, a telephone guidance protocol (see Appendix I) was utilised. Potential participants were sent the PIS via their preferred method

(i.e. by email or post). During the consent procedure, potential participants' right to withdraw at any point, and reasons for potential limitations in removal of data (i.e. after the data has been analysed), was explained and the opportunity to ask questions was given. NHS Trust specific checklist documents (Appendix J) and a Clinical Note Template (Appendix K) ensured trust-specific procedures were upheld and details regarding an individual's participation were appropriately recorded. Clinicians were informed about participation via the Clinician Information Letter (see Appendix L), direct contact with the clinician or via email.

Confidentiality and Safeguarding. Information flow to participants was considered to ensure that autonomy, privacy and dignity were maintained. Good Clinical Practice Guidelines were upheld (Emanuel, Wendler & Grady, 2000). For the non-clinical population, all participants were asked to make a note of their self-created non-identifiable code, in case they wanted to use this later to withdraw their data. For the clinical population, confidentiality of source data was maintained through the provision of a unique non-identifiable number on all data sheets. Any identifiable information was stored separately to the questionnaire booklets. The Prize draw and research feedback sheet (Appendix M) which had participant's full name and contact details on did not contain any information which could be linked to their data. The Data Protection Act (1998) regulations and guidelines from the University of East Anglia (UEA) were upheld throughout. All study documents containing identifiable information were securely stored in allocated locked areas within respective NHS trusts during recruitment. All non-identifiable data were stored on password-protected folders on password-protected laptops. Throughout, only the research team had access to study data. Following specific guidelines, all identifiable information and source data were relocated and stored in a locked location at the UEA.

All participants presenting with current serious suicidal or violence risk were excluded from participating. For the clinical population group, participants were informed of confidentiality procedures including breaches of confidentiality if they revealed clinical malpractice or risks to themselves or others. Additionally, questions relating to current risk (within the Borderline Symptom List; Appendix N) were checked by the researcher at the end of the questionnaire pack completion to ensure any risks revealed were appropriately identified and managed prior to the participant leaving. At the end of participating, participants were asked if they would like to share any information (if at all) with a member of their clinical team to ensure that if requested it would be disseminated appropriately.

Coercion. Whilst the use of monetary compensation within clinical research is debated, Pandya and Desai (2013) outline that intent of compensation outweighs the means. Within this study, four £20 Amazon vouchers were provided as an offer of gratitude rather than a means of coercion. Entry into the draw was voluntary.

5.5. Distress

Potential distress was carefully considered and efforts to minimise distress were operationalised throughout. The PIS contained all relevant information participants required to decide whether they would like to participate and included a section relating to potential distress caused by some of the sensitive questions. To minimise participant harm and maximise benefits, all questionnaire measures were carefully chosen based on the literature, guidance from research supervisors and collaborating clinicians. All questionnaires were deemed suitable for all population groups and shortened versions of various questionnaires which retained good psychometric properties were selected to limit the time and length of questioning. Furthermore, to ensure all questionnaires were deemed appropriate, the research team submitted these for review by the PPI panel in addition to being reviewed by the ethics committee.

The non-clinical population. Given the online platform and anonymity of the nonclinical participants, the potential distress and risk management for the non-clinical sample was raised by the ethics committee and required careful consideration. Before participating, all non-clinical participants were provided with a pre-care information sheet (see Appendix O) which included information and signposting to relevant services and helplines. Any potential participant was excluded from participating if they answered 'yes' to the question "do you currently have any thoughts or plans about hurting yourself or ending your life?" If excluded, withdrawn, or after completing the study, individuals were redirected to a page providing aftercare information (Appendix P). If they required it, participants were given the option to request this information to be sent to them via email.

The clinical population. For the clinical population groups, participants were only eligible to participate if they were not deemed to currently pose a serious suicide or violence risk. The severity of the risk was determined collaboratively between a responsible clinician and the researcher. Potential participants were not able to participate if they reported current suicidal plans or intent to act on these or if participation was deemed to be detrimental to the participant's wellbeing (see Appendix Q for diagrammatic representation of recruitment). A researcher was present throughout to provide support if required and to ensure participants were debriefed and had the opportunity to ask any questions. At any point, if distress or risks were disclosed a Risk Management Protocol (see Appendix R) was followed to minimise distress and risk.

5.6. Procedure

Clinical group. The clinical population groups were recruited via tear-off self-referral posters (see Appendix H) or via their clinical teams. Where possible, to promote the study, researchers presented information about the study to services via a PowerPoint presentation (Appendix S). Clinicians were provided with study information sheets (Appendix L) and Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklists (see Appendix D) to help them successfully identify suitable participants.

Before completing the questionnaire booklet, participants signed a consent form (see Appendix T). It was emphasised that an individual could withdraw at any time without explanation or consequences to their treatment or support. When a participant confirmed participation, the Demographic Information Sheet (see Appendix U) was given prior to the questionnaire booklet (see Appendix N). Participants completed the questionnaire booklet at their own pace and were able to take breaks when required. All participants were booked a two-hour appointment to allow for adjustment for individual needs. The estimated completion time was about one hour and 10 minutes. Most participants completed the research booklet on one occasion but, when required or requested, participants were given additional appointments to complete the questionnaire booklet.

Study appointments occurred within suitable and preferable locations for the participant which included within the NHS trust and at the participant's home. Only participants considered to pose a low risk were offered appointments outside NHS premises. Lone

working policies and buddying systems were employed to ensure researcher safeguarding. At any point during the study appointment, if risk or distress was expressed or disclosed the Risk Management Protocol (see Appendix R) was followed.

On completion of the study measures, participants were verbally debriefed about the content of the questionnaire pack, the aims of the study, given the opportunity to ask any questions they had and thanked for their participation. Participants were asked if there was any information collected within the questionnaire booklet which they would like to be shared with a member of their clinical team. Participants were then provided with a Prize Draw form (Appendix M) to enable them to indicate whether they would like to be entered into the prize draw in addition to indicating if they would like information about the overall study findings once available.

Non-clinical group. The non-clinical group completed a similar online version of the procedure documented for the clinical group. This included confirmation of receipt of an online PIS and comprehension of the information provided within this, the completion of a specific non-clinical Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist (Appendix D) and an online consent form (Appendix T). The research team purchased a 12-month contract with surveymonkey.com to provide a secure server which the study could be completed on.

Any question which deemed the potential participant to be ineligible for participation (e.g. responding 'YES' to "Are you currently or have you ever been under the care of a mental health NHS team?") were excluded from taking part and provided with the aftercare information sheet. Following completion of the consent form, all participants deemed eligible created a non-identifiable code comprising of four random (not consecutive) letters followed by four random digits. Participants were asked to make a note of their code. All participants were provided with a pre-care information sheet. Participants started by completing an online version of the Demographic Information Sheet. After completion, in accordance with the Online Procedure Template (Appendix V), an online version of the questionnaire booklet was provided. Finally, an online version of the prize draw sheet was given (Appendix M). If participants wanted a debrief or to ask questions at the end of participation, contact information for the research team was provided. When completing the study questionnaires or if a participant withdrew at any point, all participants were given an online Aftercare sheet (Appendix P).

5.7. Measures

All measures included in the study can be found in Appendix N. The demographic information sheet (Appendix U) was completed before the main questionnaire booklet.

All measures were validated for working age adults and available freely or with permission from the author. To minimise burden to participants, shortened versions with adequate psychometric qualities were adopted. Total completion time was estimated to be approximately one hour and 10 minutes. Explanations for the choice of certain questionnaires are outlined below.

- The Early Trauma Inventory Self Report Short Form (ETISR-SF; Bremner, Bolus, & Mayer, 2007) is a shortened version of the Early Trauma Inventory Self Report measure of traumas and has an administration time of five minutes compared to the original 30 minutes completion time (Bremner et al., 2007; Plaza et al., 2011).
- In clinical samples, the Psychosis Attachment Measure (PAM; Berry, Wearden, Barrowclough, & Liversidge, 2006) is considered more appropriate than other

measures given its reference to 'key people' rather than specifically on romantic relationships or parents (Berry et al., 2006). Estimated completion time is between 5-10 minutes (Berry et al., 2006; Berry, et al., 2009). Permission to use this measure was obtained from the author (Appendix W).

- The Brief Schizotypal Symptoms Inventory (SSI; Hodgekins et al., 2012). The SSI is designed to measure schizotypal symptoms rather than schizotypy as a personality trait as the original Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire (SPQ; Raine, 1991) which it was derived from measured (Hodgekins, 2009). The estimated completion time is five minutes.
- The Abbreviated Borderline Symptom List (BSL-23; Bohus et al., 2009). The BSL-23 is a self-report measure of borderline personality disorder symptomatology and severity. It is a shortened version of the Borderline Symptom List (BSL; Bohus et al., 2007) and contains 23 items rather than the 95 items in the BSL. BSL-23 administration time is between three and four minutes (Soler et al., 2013).

5.8. Power Calculations and Statistical Analysis

See Appendix X for detailed information on sample size calculations and analysis procedure.

Chapter 6. General Discussion and Conclusions

This chapter summarises and discusses the findings of the collective thesis. It also enables reflection on the research process, overall strengths and limitations and contributions to research and practice.

6.1. Rationale

The rationale for this study was developed from the ongoing need to further investigate influential mechanisms and protective factors in the development of the complex mental health difficulties of psychosis and Borderline Personality Disorder (BPD).

Specifically, this thesis aimed to improve current understanding of how coping may influence quality of life (QoL) outcomes within schizophrenia. Through exploring the relative differences between psychosis, BPD and control populations, an understanding of the relative influences of childhood trauma and the potential impact of attachment and emotion regulation can be determined. The completion of the systematic literature review and empirical paper presented adds to the evidence base for various theoretical models and advances understanding of the multifaceted mechanisms and influence of different components which impact on symptomatology and QoL.

6.2. Summary of Findings

The systematic review involving nine community-based studies of schizophrenia patients demonstrated some cross-sectional evidence for the relationship between coping and QoL. Problem-focused coping was found to be particularly important and positively associated with QoL improvements, with a small-medium positive correlation found. However, definitive conclusions regarding the influence of both problem- and emotion-

focused coping on QoL is beyond the scope of the current literature. The review highlighted the need for better reporting of results within this field, and a requirement of a better agreed conceptualisation and measurement of coping as a construct.

The empirical paper revealed the relative differences between BPD, psychosis and control populations in childhood trauma type and severity, attachment, emotion regulation and symptomatology (BPD and psychosis). Between-group differences were found across all variables with the control population having the lowest scores compared to the clinical populations. Predominantly the BPD group scored highest. Transdiagnostic analysis revealed that total and childhood trauma frequency were positively related to all variables, with childhood-based traumas found to have the largest effect on all variables. Emotional and sexual abuse types were highlighted to be important regarding symptom presentation and for emotion regulation difficulties. Emotional abuse was found to be particularly influential. Emotion regulation and attachment were found to have mediational influences on the relationship between childhood trauma and symptomatology. For attachment anxiety, this influence was solely found for BPD symptomatology. For attachment avoidance, this influence was present for both psychotic and BPD symptomatology.

6.3. Critical Evaluation.

The presented thesis has notable strengths. All questionnaires adopted have been used previously and were validated. The large sample size of the empirical paper has enabled effectively powered statistical testing. Furthermore, the study has contributed theoretically and has clinical and research implications. However, it is important to identify potential improvements and highlight several limitations which impact on the interpretation of results.

Design and methodology. The large sample size recruited within the empirical paper was made possible through collaboration with another Trainee Clinical Psychologist and through professional relationships developed across the two NHS recruiting trusts. Collaboration allowed pooled resources which included the ethics application process, the development of recruitment aids (e.g. Appendix S), a larger geographical region to be covered and flexibility of days for study appointments. It also enabled contributions to the current evidence base in further analysis incorporating all variables from the wider study. Additionally, the differential outlooks, ways of working and skill base has been highly fruitful regarding knowledge acquisition, problem-solving and mutual support.

Quality assessment. All papers within the systematic review were doubly quality assessed. If more resources were available, it would be beneficial for the study selection regarding the inclusion/exclusion criteria to be double-checked for accuracy, therefore improving the reliability of results. The completion of a meta-analysis may also be beneficial. However, given the limited number of studies meeting inclusion criteria and the limits in results reported, it was decided that results would be unreliable and were beyond the scope of the current evidence base.

Cross-sectional methodology. The cross-sectional self-report nature of the questionnaires used in the studies within the systematic review and the empirical study may limit interpretations.

In the empirical study, bias could have resulted from under- or over-reporting across all domains. The title of the project may have created a self-selection bias and the self-report retrospective nature of questionnaires may have influenced responses. Hardt and Rutter (2004) indicate that retrospective accounts of childhood trauma are typically underreported and therefore the rates presented here may still under-estimate true rates. However, Fisher et al. (2009) showed that for individuals diagnosed with psychosis, retrospective reports of childhood trauma are reliable and stable over time, regardless of symptom severity and the trauma assessment method used. Furthermore, all the measures adopted within the empirical paper were found to present with good internal consistency, providing evidence for a level of reliability for self-reporting across all domains.

The cross-sectional methodology does not allow causal inferences to be determined. It is important to recognise that this is particularly problematic for the mediational analyses which postulates that causal processes develop over time. The results of mediational influences within the systematic review and empirical paper may therefore be misleading or biased in their estimations (Maxwell & Cole, 2007). However, as evidenced by Hayes and Rockwood (2017), whilst mediational analysis warrants longitudinal methodology, there is still value in completing this analysis on cross-sectional data. Therefore, the findings of the mediational analysis are still of value in aiding our understanding of the relative influence emotion regulation and attachment may have.

It may be beneficial to incorporate mixed method approaches such as the clinicianrated and qualitative interviews. It would also be helpful to have longitudinal data incorporated, including any available retrospective information, for example from child and adolescent clinical notes, to help infer causal mechanisms. However, recruitment would have been significantly impacted given these methodologies take comparatively more time. For the empirical paper presented here, given the online platform used for the control populations, a mixed method approach would have been problematic, if not impossible. Given the time-limited doctorate, longitudinal methodologies would have also been impossible.

Eligibility criteria. The eligibility criteria used within both papers impact on the reliability, validity and generalisability of results.

The systematic review is limited in generalisability and scope due to only utilising published studies which are in English (Parekh-Bhurke et al., 2011). Additionally, the systematic review focused on community-dwelling individuals with a diagnosis of schizophrenia. The review could have included inpatient sample, been more inclusive of other psychotic-based disorders and incorporated a wider population age-range. This would have increased the number of studies included. However, incorporating wider samples may result in problems of inappropriately generalising conclusions across psychotic disorders and settings where relative influences on QoL are variable.

Within the empirical paper, individuals from inpatient and outpatient settings were included. Whilst this allowed for acute phases and stable / chronic phases to be incorporated, given that the study excluded those with significant risks and those who lacked capacity, it is likely that this stopped acutely unwell individuals from taking part. Given that clinical settings impact on severity of symptoms (given that there are thresholds for warranting inpatient care), it would have been beneficial to document and control for the clinical setting that participants were recruited from.

The empirical paper included those meeting criteria for BPD or a 'Psychotic Disorder' diagnosis. In BPD, symptoms have been shown to present in late childhood although treatment is often sought, and diagnoses are frequently only given in late adolescence (Chanen & Kaess, 2012; Zanarini, Frankenburg, Khera, & Bleichmar, 2001). This, alongside the evidence that adolescent-based diagnoses are reliable and valid (see Sharp & Fonagy, 2015), indicates that a proportion of those presenting with diagnosable or diagnosed BPD would have been excluded from taking part in the study. Consequently, the generalisability of findings is age-limited.

The inclusion of 'psychotic' disorders enabled several different diagnosable psychotic disorders to be incorporated. Whilst this has the benefit of being more of an accurate snapshot of those presenting within clinical services, as outlined within the systematic review article, there are methodological difficulties in heterogenous sampling. It would have been beneficial to document and control for different psychotic disorders or have limited the inclusion to specific diagnoses; however, this would have limited generalisability and would have impacted on recruitment.

The empirical paper also has limited generalisability due to age, English language restrictions and geographical limitations for the clinical groups. Given the high proportion of females within the BPD and control groups, there are limitations in generalisability to males presenting within these groups. It is also possible that across all groups, those who chose not to take part could have differentially responded and altered results.

Reductionist perspective, omitted and confounding variables. For all variables presented within this thesis, it is important to recognise that their conceptualisations, assessment and the statistical analysis performed are reductionistic, given the complexity within this field. Additionally, there are several possible confounding variables which may have impacted results and variables of interest which were not included.

Confounding and omitted variables of influence may have impacted on the findings. Amongst others, gender age, substance misuse, medication, social-environmental, sociodemographic intrapersonal and interpersonal influences along with genetic, endocrine and neurological factors are important areas of influence within mental health and QoL and therefore could have influenced the results within both papers (e.g. Bornovalova, Hicks, Iacono, & McGue, 2013; Cohen, Chen, Gordon, Johnson, Brook, & Kasen, 2008; Di Forti, Iyegbe, Falcone, Powell, & Murray, 2014; Nolen-Hoeksema, 2012; Sara, Burgess, Malhi, Whiteford, & Hall, 2014). Controlling for such variables would have been beneficial and may have improved the validity of results.

Within the systematic review, confounders were inadequately addressed. Although several studies recognised this as a limitation, it would not have been feasible to only include studies which addressed confounding variable influences. This is something for consideration once more literature is available. Within the empirical paper, the extent of potential confounders is vast. Given the previously reported gender differences in childhood trauma experiences and the higher prevalence of females within BPD diagnosed population groups, it is likely that gender differences are influential within this field. Expectedly, gender was found to significantly differ between the three population groups. However, whilst several studies have demonstrated attenuated results when controlling for age, gender etc., they also find that they do not eliminate significant findings between trauma impacts on mental health symptomatology (e.g. Janssen et al., 2004; Springer, Sheridan, Kuo, & Carnes, 2007). Furthermore, it is important to recognise that the influence of potential confounding variables is complex and may be particularly relevant to certain types of trauma (e.g. see Fergusson, Boden, & Horwood, 2008). This is also something to recognise and consider in future studies.

Given the ethical dilemma of potentially overburdening participants with questionnaires, and the complexity within this field, certain key areas were not assessed within the empirical study. First, it may have been beneficial to the validity of the diagnostic groups to include a diagnostic interview. However, given eligibility checklists were completed alongside clinicians to confirm diagnosis, this could be viewed as unnecessary. Second, amongst others, the relational context of traumatic events, childhood neglect and adulthood-based life-stressors such as revictimisation are prominent variables which were not included (Alink, Cicchetti, Kim, & Rogosch, 2009; Classen, Palesh, & Aggarwal, 2005; Widom, Czaja, & Dutton, 2014). Third, negative symptomatology within psychotic disorders was not assessed by the brief Schizotypal Symptoms Inventory (Hodgekins et al., 2012). Negative symptomatology is evidenced as an important feature in psychosis (Möller, 2016). Therefore, it may have been beneficial to assess psychotic symptoms using a broader measure, such as the Positive and Negative Symptom scale (Kay, Fiszbein, & Opfer, 1987). However, given research suggests that childhood trauma is particularly influential in positive symptomatology severity (Hammersley et al. 2003; Lysaker, Beattie, Strasburger & Davis, 2005; Schenkel et al. 2005), negative symptoms may not be as important for specific aims of this research. Fourth, the empirical paper omits the investigation of physiological aspects of emotional experience which would be a helpful theoretical component to explore given that childhood-based traumas are found to impact the neurobiological stress sensitivity and response system (Neigh et al., 2009; Lardinois, Lataster, Mengelers, Van Os & Myin-Germeys, 2011).

Whilst it is important to consider an interplay between different variables when conceptualising the cause and impact of childhood trauma, and the influential factors on QoL outcomes, given the time- and resource-limited scope of Clinical Psychology Doctoral level research projects, it is understandable that incorporating further variables was not feasible.

6.4. Theoretical Implications

As well as providing evidence for various theoretical models, overall the results are congruent with theory and the wider literature.

Existing models which incorporate coping mechanisms in explaining QoL variation in schizophrenia, such as Caron, Lecomte, Stip, and Renaud (2005) and Ritsner (2007) are broadly supported by the systematic review findings. However, the results demonstrate that there may be particular mechanisms of influence, namely problem-focused coping. Further clarity within these models would be beneficial.

The thesis adds to the evidence base and understanding of complexity within stressvulnerability and distress-protection models (e.g. Lazarus & Folkman, 1987; Zubin & Spring, 1977; Ritsner, 2007). Risk factors identified here include childhood trauma, insecurity in attachment (avoidance and anxiety) and emotion regulation difficulties whereas coping mechanisms (such as problem-focused mechanisms) act as a protective factor. These combine to influence symptomatic presentations. Interacting aspects include attachment and emotion regulation. Specific models within psychosis and BPD are therefore supported (e.g. Barnow et al., 2010; Hardy, 2017; Read, Fosse, Moskowitz, Connolly, 2014).

The results also support the evidence that traumas occurring in childhood have a greater magnitude of negative impact (e.g. Oshri, Sutton, Clay-Warner, & Miller, 2015). A possible explanation for this is that childhood-based traumas have more extensive consequences due to alterations in the developing brain (e.g. Champagne, 2010; Hoy et al., 2012; Tyrka, Burgers, Philip, Price, & Carpenter, 2013). Brain development alterations, such as reduced volume of the prefrontal cortex (Morandotti et al., 2013) and amygdala (Veer et al., 2015), amplify the impact of stress-inducing events (McLaughlin, Conron, Koenen, & Gilman, 2010). This increases vulnerability to mental health difficulties. Consequently, traumagenic neurodevelopmental models are promising aids to enhancing the theoretical and clinical understanding of the impacts of trauma on symptomatology (e.g. for psychosis see Read, Fosse, Moskowitz, & Perry, 2014).

The rates of childhood and general traumas presented within the empirical paper highlight the commonality of adverse events experienced across all three groups. Within the control group, the self-reported rates of trauma are generally higher than some previously reported rates. For example, Oswald et al. (2014) report lower rates of general, emotional and sexual abuse. Similarly, this study found higher rates than others across all trauma types for the psychosis (e.g. Bohus et al., 2009) and BPD group (Bremner et al 2007). This could be due to bias resulting from self-selecting sampling. It could also indicate that the prevalence of trauma may be higher than originally anticipated.

The results suggest that emotion regulation should be incorporated into conceptualisations of BPD (e.g. Linehan, 1993; Lynch, Trost, Salsman, & Linehan, 2007) and psychotic symptomatologies (e.g. Hardy, 2017). Similarly, attachment is another important variable, although this study highlights that its role may differentiate between BPD and psychosis symptom development. It is equally possible that trauma influences attachment.

The results from the empirical paper can be taken as further support for the adoption of a continuum model for psychosis (e.g. Baumeister, Sedgwick, Howes, & Peters, 2017; Mørch et al., 2016; Shevlin, McElroy, Bentall, Reininghaus, & Murphy, 2016; van Os & Reininghaus, 2016) in addition to a similar model for BPD. Despite differences being found between the clinical and non-clinical groups, the presence of psychotic and BPD symptoms within the non-clinical population suggest that they fall on a continuum. Given the rates reported within the non-clinical population and the prevalence of BPD and psychotic symptoms across the BPD and psychosis groups, this provides evidence that the experience of psychotic and borderline symptomatology is not unique to the respective diagnosis. Whilst it is important to recognise there may be other variables which make quantitative diagnosable differences in diagnostic symptom presentation, such as the relative stability in presentation and distress associated with psychotic symptoms (Shevlin, Boyda, Houston, & Murphy, 2015), this study demonstrates that despite presenting as different diagnoses, there are commonalities between BPD and psychosis groups, which can both be understood from a similar trauma-focused perspective. These results are in line with prior research within this field which documents some specific similarities and differences between these population groups (e.g. Bahorik & Eack, 2010; Merrett, Rossell, & Castle, 2016; Nicol, Pope, Romaniuk, & Hall, 2015; Ryan, Graham, Nelson, & Yung, 2017; Volavka, 2014) and suggest the need for more transdiagnostic models to be adopted (e.g. Figure 4, chapter 3).

6.5. Research and Clinical Implications

In addition to the specific research and clinical implications outlined within chapters 2 and 4, there are several additional research and clinical implications from this thesis.

Better understanding of the protective and influential factors on the development and maintenance of mental health difficulties is needed. Longitudinally-based research, with large sample sizes, will aid the detection of more specified areas of influence on QoL and the actiological factors in BPD and Psychotic symptomatology. To help increase the accuracy of conclusions drawn, potential confounding variables should be appropriately addressed. The use of advanced statistical techniques such as latent class growth analysis and growth mixture modelling in longitudinal psychological research will help detect any variables of influence over time (Andruff, Carraro, Thompson, Gaudreau, & Louvet, 2009; Jung & Wickrama, 2008). Finally, research needs to explore more efficacious preventative interventions within this field. Evidenced-based treatments which address the immediate impact of traumas may help prevent future mental health difficulties from developing. Components of such treatments have been summarised using the acronym PRACTICE: psychoeducation and parenting skills, relaxation skills, affect regulation and modulation, cognitive coping skills, trauma narrative, in-vivo exposure, conjoint parent-child sessions, cognitive restructuring, and enhancing future safety (see Dvir et al., 2013).

The complexity of the literature and the results presented by this study exemplifies both the heterogeneity in response to childhood adversities, and the requirement to continually assess an array of influential variables. In accordance with the World Health Organisation (2006) report on preventing child maltreatment, this thesis highlights the need for a systematic multisectoral approach to childhood maltreatment and its impacts. There is the need for an expansion of the evidence base for the preventability of childhood maltreatment, the true prevalence rates, successful detection, and a better understanding of the consequences.

It is essential that studies within this field are incorporated into clinical practice and wider NHS and societal policies. Widespread trauma-focused psychoeducation and interventions promoting family and societal resilience are likely to be beneficial (Walsh, 2007) alongside evidence-based trauma-informed care when childhood trauma is detected (Kinniburgh, Blaustein, Spinazzola, & Van der Kolk, 2017). Improvements need to be made within mental health care in addition to the multiple secondary service systems (e.g. health, education and social services) to aid the coordination and efficacious implementation of preventative or early-intervention programmes. This is likely to be individually and economically beneficial in comparison to the extensive impact and economic burden of mental health difficulties in adulthood.

Trauma histories are often neglected or actively avoided by clinicians due to understandable barriers such as concern for distress (Read 2007; Read, Os, Morrison, & Ross, 2005). However, there is cumulative evidence suggesting that the advantages of addressing this outweigh the costs (Chu & DePrince, 2013) and given its commonality and known extensive impacts on therapeutic relationships, service engagement and adherence to treatment, trauma-screening and trauma-informed interventions should become routinely available should patients wish to engage with such an approach (Cicchetti & Toth, 2005; Everett & Gallop, 2000; Janssen et al., 2004; Pechtel & Pizzagalli, 2011). Due to the evidenced rarity of spontaneous trauma-disclosure (Everett & Gallop, 2000), standardised assessments of childhood trauma should be adopted (see review by Thabrew, de Sylva, & Romans, 2012).

Finally, interventions aimed at reducing BPD and psychotic symptomatology should seek to incorporate attachment and emotion regulation. For attachment, specific attention to certain interventions and methods, such as a focus on the therapeutic relationship and effective management of boundaries are likely to be beneficial (Atkinson & Goldberg, 2008; Pearlman and Courtois, 2005). For emotion regulation, therapies and techniques which include teaching healthier methods of managing emotions and addressing beliefs that emotions cannot be changed or muted, are likely to reduce symptomatology (Gross, 2014; Vohs and Baumeister, 2016). When delivering psychological therapies, some of the therapeutic components from 'PRACTICE,' such as psychoeducation, relaxation skills, affect regulation and modulation, cognitive coping skills, trauma narrative, in-vivo exposure, cognitive restructuring, and enhancing future safety will probably aid the recovery trajectory. Lastly, the attachment self-regulation and competency framework for youth and families (Kinniburgh et al., 2017) is a promising early intervention structure for managing the immediate impact of trauma in childhood.

6.6. Conclusions

In summary, the findings show that childhood trauma is common and negatively impacts on mental health, specifically BPD and psychotic symptomatology. Attachment and emotion regulation are variables of influence to symptomatology. Coping mechanisms need to be considered in relation to QoL within schizophrenia. Collectively, this thesis adds insight into important mechanisms within stress-vulnerability models of complex mental health difficulties.

Despite the growing research into this field, further longitudinal research is required. Finally, research and funding need to focus on preventative and early-intervention-based programme implementation.

Combined References (Chapters 1, 3, 5 & 6)

- Aas, M., Dazzan, P., Mondelli, V., Melle, I., Murray, R. M., & Pariante, C. M. (2014). A systematic review of cognitive function in first-episode psychosis, including a discussion on childhood trauma, stress, and inflammation. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 4(182), 1-13.
- Afifi, T. O., Mather, A., Boman, J., Fleisher, W., Enns, M. W., MacMillan, H., & Sareen, J. (2011). Childhood adversity and personality disorders: results from a nationally representative population-based study. *J Psychiatr Res*, 45(6), 814-822.
- Aldao, A., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Schweizer, S. (2010). Emotion-regulation strategies across psychopathology: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(2), 217-237.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2001). *Practice guideline for the treatment of patients with borderline personality disorder*. Washington: American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2006). *APA Practice Guidelines for the treatment of psychiatric disorders: compendium 2006*. Washington: American Psychiatric Association.
- Amos, A. (2012). Assessing the cost of early intervention in psychosis: a systematic review. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 46(8), 719-734.
- Andruff, H., Carraro, N., Thompson, A., Gaudreau, P., & Louvet, B. (2009). Latent class growth modelling: a tutorial. *Tutorials in Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, 5(1), 11-24.
- Ansell, E. B., Sanislow, C. A., McGlashan, T. H., & Grilo, C. M. (2007). Psychosocial impairment and treatment utilization by patients with borderline personality disorder, other personality disorders, mood and anxiety disorders, and a healthy comparison group. *Compr Psychiatry*, 48(4), 329-336.
- Atkinson, L., & Goldberg, S. (Eds.). (2008). *Attachment Issues in Psychopathology and Intervention*. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Bahorik, A. L., & Eack, S. M. (2010). Examining the course and outcome of individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia and comorbid borderline personality disorder. *Schizophrenia Research*, 124(1), 29-35.
- Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., & van Ijzendoorn, M. H. (2009). The first 10,000 Adult Attachment Interviews: distributions of adult attachment representations in clinical and non-clinical groups. *Attachment & Human Development*, 11(3), 223-263.

- Balaratnasingam, S., & Janca, A. (2015). Normal personality, personality disorder and psychosis: current views and future perspectives. *Current opinion in psychiatry*, 28(1), 30-34.
- Ball, J. S., & Links, P. S. (2009). Borderline personality disorder and childhood trauma: evidence for a causal relationship. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 11(1), 63-68.
- Bandelow, B., Krause, J., Wedekind, D., Broocks, A., Hajak, G., & Rüther, E. (2005). Early traumatic life events, parental attitudes, family history, and birth risk factors in patients with borderline personality disorder and healthy controls. *Psychiatry Research*, 134(2), 169-179.
- Barnow, S., Arens, E. A., Sieswerda, S., Dinu-Biringer, R., Spitzer, C., & Lang, S. (2010). Borderline personality disorder and psychosis: a review. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 12(3), 186-195.
- Bartholomew, K. (1990). Avoidance of intimacy: An attachment perspective. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 7(68), 147–178.
- Bartholomew, K., Cobb, R.J., & Poole, J.A. (1997). Adult attachment patterns and social support processes. In G. Pierce & B. Lakey (Eds.), *Sourcebook of social support* and personality (pp. 359–378). New York: Plenum Press.
- Baumeister, D., Sedgwick, O., Howes, O., & Peters, E. (2017). Auditory verbal hallucinations and continuum models of psychosis: a systematic review of the healthy voice-hearer literature. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *51*, 125-141.
- Bentall, R. P., de Sousa, P., Varese, F., Wickham, S., Sitko, K., Haarmans, M., & Read, J. (2014). From adversity to psychosis: pathways and mechanisms from specific adversities to specific symptoms. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 49(7), 1011-1022.
- Berry, K., Barrowclough, C., & Wearden, A. (2007). A review of the role of adult attachment style in psychosis: unexplored issues and questions for further research. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 27(4), 458-475.
- Berry, K., Barrowclough, C., & Wearden, A. (2009). Adult attachment, perceived earlier experiences of care giving and trauma in people with psychosis. *Journal of Mental Health*, *18*(4), 280-287.
- Berry, K., Wearden, A., Barrowclough, C., & Liversidge, T. (2006). Attachment styles, interpersonal relationships and psychotic phenomena in a non-clinical student sample. *Personality & Individual Differences*; 41(4), 707–718.

- Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2012). Child development in the context of adversity:
 Experiential canalization of brain and behavior. *American Psychologist*, 67(4), 309–318. doi: 10.1037/a0027493.
- Blasco-Ros, C., Sánchez-Lorente, S., & Martinez, M. (2010). Recovery from depressive symptoms, state anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder in women exposed to physical and psychological, but not to psychological intimate partner violence alone: A longitudinal study. *BMC psychiatry*, 10(1), 98.
- Blum, N., St. John, D., Pfohl, B., Stuart, S., McCormick, B., Allen, J., . . . Black, D. W. (2008). Systems Training for Emotional Predictability and Problem Solving (STEPPS) for outpatients with borderline personality disorder: a randomized controlled trial and 1-year follow-up. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 165(4), 468-478.
- Bohus, M., Kleindienst, N., Limberger, M. F., Stieglitz, R. D., Domsalla, M., Chapman, A. L., ... & Wolf, M. (2009). The short version of the Borderline Symptom List (BSL-23): development and initial data on psychometric properties. *Psychopathology*, 42(1), 32-39.
- Bohus, M., Limberger, M. F., Frank, U., Chapman, A. L., Kühler, T., & Stieglitz, R. D. (2007). Psychometric properties of the borderline symptom list (BSL). *Psychopathology*, 40(2), 126-132.
- Bornovalova, M. A., Hicks, B. M., Iacono, W. G., & McGue, M. (2013). Longitudinal twin study of borderline personality disorder traits and substance use in adolescence: developmental change, reciprocal effects, and genetic and environmental influences. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 4(1), 23-32.
- Bottlender, R., Strauß, A., & Möller, H. J. (2010). Social disability in schizophrenic, schizoaffective and affective disorders 15 years after first admission. *Schizophrenia Research*, 116(1), 9-15.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and Loss (Vol. 1). New York: Basic Books.
- Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss (Vol. 2). Middlesex, UK: Penguin Books.
- Bowlby, J. (1980). Attachment and loss (Vol. 3). London, UK: The Hogarth Press.
- Braet, C., Theuwis, L., Van Durme, K., Vandewalle, J., Vandevivere, E., Wante, L., ...Goossens, L. (2014). Emotion regulation in children with emotional problems. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 38(5), 493–504. 10.1007/s10608-014-9616-x
- Bremner, J. D., Bolus, R., & Mayer, E. A. (2007). Psychometric properties of the early trauma inventory-self report. *The Journal of nervous and mental disease*, 195(3), 211.

- Briere, J., & Elliott, D. M. (2003). Prevalence and psychological sequelae of self-reported childhood physical and sexual abuse in a general population sample of men and women. *Child abuse & neglect*, 27(10), 1205-1222.
- Briere, J., Agee, E., & Dietrich, A. (2016). Cumulative trauma and current posttraumatic stress disorder status in general population and inmate samples. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 8(4), 439.
- British Psychological Society. (2009). Code of ethics and conduct: Guidance published by the ethics committee of the British Psychological Society. UK: British Psychological Society.
- Cantazaro, A., & Wei, M. (2010). Adult attachment, dependence, self-criticism, and depressive symptoms: *A test of a mediational model. Journal of Personality*, 78(4), 1135–1162.
- Caron, J., Lecomte, Y., Stip, E., & Renaud, S. (2005). Predictors of quality of life in schizophrenia. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 41(4), 399-417.
- Carr, S. C., Hardy, A., & Fornells-Ambrojo, M. (2017). Relationship between attachment style and symptom severity across the psychosis spectrum: A meta-analysis. *Clinical psychology review*, 59, 145-158.
- Catalan, A., Angosto, V., Díaz, A., Valverde, C., de Artaza, M. G., Sesma, E., ... & van Os, J. (2017). Relation between psychotic symptoms, parental care and childhood trauma in severe mental disorders. *Psychiatry research*, 251, 78-84.
- Champagne, F. A. (2010). Early adversity and developmental outcomes: Interaction between genetics, epigenetics, and social experiences across the life span. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 5(5), 564–574.
- Chan, S., and Yu Iu, W. (2004). Quality of life of clients with schizophrenia. *J Adv Nurs* 45(1), 72-83.
- Chanen, A. M., & Kaess, M. (2012). Developmental pathways to borderline personality disorder. *Curr Psychiatry Rep, 14*(1), 45-53.
- Chapman, A. L., Leung, D. W., & Lynch, T. R. (2008). Impulsivity and emotion Dysregulation in borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 22(2), 148–164.
- Chu, A. T., & DePrince, A. P. (2013). Perceptions of trauma research with a sample of atrisk youth. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 8(4), 67-76.
- Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (2005). Child maltreatment. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol, 1, 409-438.

- Clamor, A., Schlier, B., Köther, U., Hartmann, M. M., Moritz, S., & Lincoln, T. M. (2015).
 Bridging psychophysiological and phenomenological characteristics of psychosis—
 Preliminary evidence for the relevance of emotion regulation. *Schizophrenia Research*, 169(1), 346-350.
- Classen, C. C., Palesh, O. G., & Aggarwal, R. (2005). Sexual revictimization: A review of the empirical literature. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 6*(2), 103-129.
- Cloitre, M., Stolbach, B. C., Herman, J. L., Kolk, B. V. D., Pynoos, R., Wang, J., & Petkova, E. (2009). A developmental approach to complex PTSD: Childhood and adult cumulative trauma as predictors of symptom complexity. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 22(5), 399-408.
- Cohen, P., Chen, H., Gordon, K., Johnson, J., Brook, J., & Kasen, S. (2008). Socioeconomic background and the developmental course of schizotypal and borderline personality disorder symptoms. *Development and psychopathology*, 20(2), 633-650.
- Coid, J., Yang, M., Bebbington, P., Moran, P., Brugha, T., Jenkins, R., ... Ullrich, S. (2009). Borderline personality disorder: health service use and social functioning among a national household population. *Psychol Med*, 39(10), 1721-1731.
- Coid, J., Yang, M., Tyrer, P., Roberts, A., & Ullrich, S. (2006). Prevalence and correlates of personality disorder in Great Britain. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 188(5), 423-431.
- Collins, N. L., & Feeney, B. C. (2004). Working models of attachment shape perceptions of social support: Evidence from experimental and observational studies. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 87(3), 363–383.
- Cook, A., Spinazzola, J., Ford, J., Lanktree, C., Blaustein, M., Cloitre, M., & Van der Kolk, B. (2005). Complex trauma. *Psychiatric annals*, *35*(5), 390-398.
- Cotter, J., Kaess, M., & Yung, A. (2015). Childhood trauma and functional disability in psychosis, bipolar disorder and borderline personality disorder: a review of the literature. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*, *32*(1), 21-30.
- Couture, S., Lecomte, T., & Leclerc, C. (2007). Personality characteristics and attachment in first episode psychosis: impact on social functioning. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 195*(8), 631-639.
- Cramer, V., Torgersen, S., & Kringlen, E. (2006). Personality disorders and quality of life. A population study. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 47(3), 178-184.

- Creamer, M., Burgess, P., & McFarlane, A. C. (2001). Post-traumatic stress disorder: findings from the Australian National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. *Psychological medicine*, 31(7), 1237-1247.
- Data Protection Act (1998). Data Protection Act 1998 [C29]. UK: Office of Public Sector.
- Davidson, M., & Murray, R. M. (2014). What is the long-term outcome of schizophrenia? *Schizophrenia Research*, *153*, S49. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(14)70160-4.
- Department of Health. (2005). *Research governance framework for health and social care*. UK: COI for the Department of Health.
- Di Forti, M., Iyegbe, C., Falcone, A., Powell, J., & Murray, R. (2014). Vulnerability to cannabis-related psychosis: association with frequency and potency of cannabis use, and interaction with genes regulating dopamine signalling. *The Lancet*, 383(1), S41.
- Dorahy, M. J., Middleton, W., Seager, L., McGurrin, P., Williams, M., & Chambers, R. (2015). Dissociation, shame, complex PTSD, child maltreatment and intimate relationship self-concept in dissociative disorder, chronic PTSD and mixed psychiatric groups. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 172, 195-203.
- Dvir, Y., Denietolis, B., & Frazier, J. A. (2013). Childhood trauma and psychosis. *Child* and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics, 22(4), 629-641.
- Eack, S. M., & Newhill, C. E. (2007). Psychiatric symptoms and quality of life in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Schizophrenia bulletin*, *33*(5), 1225-1237.
- Ein-Dor, T., Doron, G., Solomon, Z., Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2010). Together in pain: Attachment-related dyadic processes and posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 57(3), 317–327.
- Emanuel, E. J., Wendler, D., & Grady, C. (2000). What makes clinical research ethical? *Jama*, 283(20), 2701-2711.
- Espeleta, H. C., Palasciano-Barton, S., & Messman-Moore, T. L. (2016). The impact of child abuse severity on adult attachment anxiety and avoidance in college women: the role of emotion dysregulation. *Electronic Journal of Family Violence*, 32(4), 399-407.
- Everett, B., & Gallop, R. (2000). *The link between childhood trauma and mental illness: Effective interventions for mental health professionals*. London: Sage Publications.
- Feeney, B.C., & Collins, N.L. (2003). Motivations for caregiving in adult intimate relationships: Influences on caregiving behavior and relationship functioning. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin, 29*(8), 950–968.
- Fergusson, D. M., Boden, J. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2008). Exposure to childhood sexual and physical abuse and adjustment in early adulthood. *Child abuse & neglect*, 32(6), 607-619.
- Ferraz, L., Portella, M. J., Vállez, M., Gutiérrez, F., Martín-Blanco, A., Martín-Santos, R., & Subirà, S. (2013). Hostility and childhood sexual abuse as predictors of suicidal behaviour in Borderline Personality Disorder. *Psychiatry research*, 210(3), 980-985.
- Fisher, H. L., Craig, T. K., Fearon, P., Morgan, K., Dazzan, P., Lappin, J., ... & Murray, R. M. (2009). Reliability and comparability of psychosis patients' retrospective reports of childhood abuse. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 37(3), 546-553.
- Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1986). Stress processes and depressive symptomatology. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 95, 107–113.
- Fonagy, P., Target, M., & Gergely, G. (2000). Attachment and borderline personality disorder: A theory and some evidence. *Psychiatric Clinics*, 23(1), 103-122.
- Ford, J. D., & Courtois, C. A. (2014). Complex PTSD, affect dysregulation, and borderline personality disorder. *Borderline Personality Disorder and Emotion Dysregulation*, 1(1), 9.
- Fossati, A., Feeney, J. A., Donati, D., Donini, M., Novella, L., Bagnato, M., . . . Maffei, C. (2003). On the Dimensionality of the Attachment Style Questionnaire in Italian Clinical and Nonclinical Participants. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 20(1), 55-79.
- Fowke, A., Ross, S., & Ashcroft, K. (2012). Childhood maltreatment and internalized shame in adults with a diagnosis of bipolar disorder. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 19(5), 450-457.
- Fraley, R. C. (2002). Attachment stability from infancy to adulthood: meta-analysis and dynamic modelling of developmental mechanisms. *Personality Social Psychology Review*, 6(2), 123–151.
- Friedrich, W. N. (2002). *Psychological assessment of sexually abused children and their families*. London: Sage Publications.
- Glenn, C. R., & Klonsky, E. D. (2009). Emotion dysregulation as a core feature of borderline personality disorder. *Journal of personality disorders*, 23(1), 20-28.
- Golier, J. A., Yehuda, R., Bierer, L. M., Mitropoulou, V., New, A. S., Schmeidler, J., . . . Siever, L. J. (2003). The relationship of borderline personality disorder to posttraumatic stress disorder and traumatic events. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 160(11), 2018-2024.

- Goodman, G. S., Quas, J. A., Ogle, C. M. (2010). Child maltreatment and memory. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *61*, 325–351.
- Grant, B. F., Chou, S. P., Goldstein, R. B., Huang, B., Stinson, F. S., Saha, T. D., ...
 Pickering, R. P. (2008). Prevalence, correlates, disability, and comorbidity of DSM-IV borderline personality disorder: results from the Wave 2 National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 69(4), 533.
- Green, B. L., Goodman, L. A., Krupnick, J. L., Corcoran, C. B., Petty, R. M., Stockton, P., & Stern, N. M. (2000). Outcomes of single versus multiple trauma exposure in a screening sample. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 13(2), 271-286.
- Gross, J. J. (2002). Emotion regulation: Affective, cognitive, and social consequences. *Psychophysiology*, *39*(3), 281-291.
- Gross, J. J. (2014). Emotion regulation: Conceptual and empirical foundations. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 3-20). New York: Guilford Press.
- Gross, J. J. (Ed.). (2013). Handbook of emotion regulation. Guilford publications.
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 85(2), 348.
- Gumley, A. I., Taylor, H. E. F., Schwannauer, M., & MacBeth, A. (2014). A systematic review of attachment and psychosis: measurement, construct validity and outcomes. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 129(4), 257-274.
- Häfner, H., Löffler, W., Maurer, K., Hambrecht, M., & An Der Heiden, W. (1999).
 Depression, negative symptoms, social stagnation and social decline in the early course of schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 100(2), 105-118.
- Hammersley, P., Dias, A., Todd, G., Bowen-Jones, K. I. M., Reilly, B., & Bentall, R. P. (2003). Childhood trauma and hallucinations in bipolar affective disorder: preliminary investigation. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 182(6), 543-547.
- Harder, S. (2014). Attachment in schizophrenia: Implications for research, prevention, and treatment. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 40(6), 1189–1193.
- Hardt, J., & Rutter, M. (2004). Validity of adult retrospective reports of adverse childhood experiences: review of the evidence. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(2), 260-273.
- Hardy, A. (2017). Pathways from trauma to psychotic experiences: A theoretically informed model of posttraumatic stress in psychosis. *Front Psychol*, *8*, 697. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00697

- Hayes, A. F., & Rockwood, N. J. (2017). Regression-based statistical mediation and moderation analysis in clinical research: Observations, recommendations, and implementation. *Behav Res Ther*, 98, 39-57.
- Hecht, K. F., Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., & Crick, N. R. (2014). Borderline personality features in childhood: the role of subtype, developmental timing, and chronicity of child maltreatment. *Development and Psychopathology*, 26(3), 805-815.
- Heim, C., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2001). The role of childhood trauma in the neurobiology of mood and anxiety disorders: preclinical and clinical studies. *Biological Psychiatry*, 49(12), 1023-1039.
- Henry, J. D., Greenm M. J., de Lucia, A., Restuccia, C., McDonald, S., & O'Donnell, M. (2007). Emotion dysregulation in schizophrenia: Reduced amplification of emotional expression is associated with emotional blunting - schizophrenia research. *Schizophrenia Research*, 95(1), 197–204.
- Herman, J. L. (1992). Complex PTSD: A syndrome in survivors of prolonged and repeated trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 5(3), 377-391.
- Hodgekins, J. M. (2009). The nature of schizotypal symptoms and social recovery in psychosis (Doctoral dissertation, University of East Anglia). Retrieved from https://ueaeprints.uea.ac.uk/10626/1/Thesis_wm098_J_M_Hodgekins.pdf
- Hodgekins, J., Coker, S., Freeman, D., Ray-Glover, K., Bebbington, P., & Garety, P. (2012). Assessing levels of subthreshold psychotic symptoms in the recovery phase: The Schizotypal Symptoms Inventory (SSI). *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, 3(4), 582-593.
- Honings, S., Drukker, M., Groen, R., & van Os, J. (2016). Psychotic experiences and risk of self-injurious behaviour in the general population: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 46(2), 237-251.
- Hoy, K., Barrett, S., Shannon, C., Campbell, C., Watson, D., Rushe, T., ... & Mulholland, C. (2011). Childhood trauma and hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in firstepisode psychosis. *Schizophrenia bulletin*, 38(6), 1162-1169.
- Hurt, S. W., & Brown, R. (1984). Reliability of criteria for borderline personality disorder: a comparison of DSM-III and the Diagnostic Interview for Borderline Patients. *Am J Psychiatry*, 141(9).
- Infurna, M. R., Reichl, C., Parzer, P., Schimmenti, A., Bifulco, A., & Kaess, M. (2016). Associations between depression and specific childhood experiences of abuse and neglect: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 190(2), 47–55.

- Janssen, I., Krabbendam, L., Bak, M., Hanssen, M., Vollebergh, W., Graaf, R. d., & Os, J. v. (2004). Childhood abuse as a risk factor for psychotic experiences. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 109(1), 38-45.
- John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Healthy and unhealthy emotion regulation: Personality processes, individual differences, and life span development. *Journal of Personality*, 72(6), 1301-1334.
- Jung, T., & Wickrama, K. (2008). An introduction to latent class growth analysis and growth mixture modeling. *Social and personality psychology compass*, *2*(1), 302-317.
- Karow, A., Wittmann, L., Schöttle, D., Schäfer, I., and Lambert, M. (2014). The assessment of quality of life in clinical practice in patients with schizophrenia. *Dialogues in clinical neuroscience*, *16*(2), 185.
- Kay, S. R., Fiszbein, A., & Opfer, L. A. (1987). The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 13(2), 261.
- Keane, T. M., Marshall, A. D., & Taft, C. T. (2006). Posttraumatic stress disorder: etiology, epidemiology, and treatment outcome. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.*, 2(1), 161-197.
- Kelleher, I., Harley, M., Lynch, F., Arseneault, L., Fitzpatrick, C., & Cannon, M. (2008). Associations between childhood trauma, bullying and psychotic symptoms among a school-based adolescent sample. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 193(5), 378-382.
- Kelleher, I., Keeley, H., Corcoran, P., Ramsay, H., Wasserman, C., Carli, V., ... & Cannon, M. (2013). Childhood trauma and psychosis in a prospective cohort study: cause, effect, and directionality. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 170(7), 734-741.
- Kennedy, J. L., Altar, C. A., Taylor, D. L., Degtiar, I., & Hornberger, J. C. (2014). The social and economic burden of treatment-resistant schizophrenia: a systematic literature review. *International Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 29(2), 63-76.
- Kennedy, S. C., Tripodi, S. J., & Pettus-Davis, C. (2013). The relationship between childhood abuse and psychosis for women prisoners: assessing the importance of frequency and type of victimization. *Psychiatr Quarterly*, 84(4), 439-453.
- Kessler, R. C. (2000). Posttraumatic stress disorder: The burden to the individual and to society. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *61*(5), 4–12.
- Kessler, R. C., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Alonso, J., Benjet, C., Bromet, E. J., Cardoso, G., ... & Florescu, S. (2017). Trauma and PTSD in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *European journal of psychotraumatology*, 8(5), 1353383.

- Kessler, R. C., McLaughlin, K. A., Green, J. G., Gruber, M. J., Sampson, N. A., Zaslavsky, A. M., ... & Benjet, C. (2010). Childhood adversities and adult psychopathology in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 197(5), 378-385.
- Kilcommons, A. M., & Morrison, A. P. (2005). Relationships between trauma and psychosis: an exploration of cognitive and dissociative factors. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 112(5), 351-359.
- Kimhy, D., Vakhrusheva, J., Jobson-Ahmed, L., Tarrier, N., Malaspina, D., & Gross, J. J. (2012). Emotion awareness and regulation in individuals with schizophrenia: Implications for social functioning. *Psychiatry Research*, 200(2-3), 193-201.
- Kingdon, D. G., Ashcroft, K., Bhandari, B., Gleeson, S., Warikoo, N., Symons, M., ... & Mason, A. (2010). Schizophrenia and borderline personality disorder: similarities and differences in the experience of auditory hallucinations, paranoia, and childhood trauma. *The Journal of nervous and mental disease*, *198*(6), 399-403.
- Kinniburgh, K. J., Blaustein, M., Spinazzola, J., & Van der Kolk, B. A. (2017). Attachment, Self-Regulation, and Competency: A comprehensive intervention framework for children with complex trauma. *Psychiatric Annals*, 35(5), 424-430.
- Korver-Nieberg, N., Berry, K., Meijer, C. J., & Haan, L. D. (2014). Adult attachment and psychotic phenomenology in clinical and non-clinical samples: A systematic review. *Psychology and Psychotherapy*, 87(2), 127–154.
- Korver-Nieberg, N., Berry, K., Meijer, C., de Haan, L., & Ponizovsky, A. M. (2015). Associations between attachment and psychopathology dimensions in a large sample of patients with psychosis. *Psychiatry Research*, 228(1), 83-88.
- Korzekwa, M. I., Dell, P. F., Links, P. S., Thabane, L., & Webb, S. P. (2008). Estimating the prevalence of borderline personality disorder in psychiatric outpatients using a two-phase procedure. *Compr Psychiatry*, 49(4), 380-386.
- Krueger, R. F., & Markon, K. E. (2006). Reinterpreting comorbidity: A model-based approach to understanding and classifying psychopathology. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 2(1), 111–133.
- Lally, J., Ajnakina, O., Stubbs, B., Cullinane, M., Murphy, K. C., Gaughran, F., & Murray, R. M. (2017). Remission and recovery from first-episode psychosis in adults: systematic review and meta-analysis of long-term outcome studies. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 211(6), 350-358.
- Lardinois, M., Lataster, T., Mengelers, R., Van Os, J., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2011). Childhood trauma and increased stress sensitivity in psychosis. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 123(1), 28-35.

- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1987). Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. *European Journal of personality*, 1(3), 141-169.
- Leible, T. L., & Snell, W. E. (2004). Borderline personality disorder and multiple aspects of emotional intelligence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *37*(2), 393–404.
- Leichsenring, F., Leibing, E., Kruse, J., New, A. S., & Leweke, F. (2011). Borderline personality disorder. *The Lancet*, *377*(9759), 74-84.
- Lenzenweger, M. F., Lane, M. C., Loranger, A. W., & Kessler, R. C. (2007). DSM-IV personality disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Biol Psychiatry*, 62(6), 553-564.
- Lieb, K., Zanarini, M. C., Schmahl, C., Linehan, M. M., & Bohus, M. (2004). Borderline personality disorder. *The Lancet*, *364*(9432), 453-461.
- Lincoln, T. M., Hartmann, M., Köther, U., & Moritz, S. (2015). Do people with Psychosis have specific difficulties regulating emotions? *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 22(6), 637–646.
- Linehan, M. (1993). *Cognitive-behavioral treatment of borderline personality disorder*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Links, P. S., Kolla, N. J., Guimond, T., & McMain, S. (2013). Prospective risk factors for suicide attempts in a treated sample of patients with borderline personality disorder. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 58(2), 99-106.
- Liotti, G., Pasquini, P., & Cirrincione, R. (2000). Predictive factors for borderline personality disorder: Patients' early traumatic experiences and losses suffered by the attachment figure. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *102*(4), 282-289.
- Lynch, T. R., Trost, W. T., Salsman, N., & Linehan, M. M. (2007). Dialectical behavior therapy for borderline personality disorder. *Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol.*, *3*, 181-205.
- Lysaker, P. H., Beattie, N. L., Strasburger, A. M., & Davis, L. W. (2005). Reported history of child sexual abuse in schizophrenia: associations with heightened symptom levels and poorer participation over four months in vocational rehabilitation. *The Journal of nervous and mental disease*, *193*(12), 790-795.
- Mancini, A. D., & Bonanno, G. A. (2009). Predictors and Parameters of Resilience to Loss: Toward an Individual Differences Model. *Journal of personality*, 77(6), 1805-1832.
- Matheson, S., Shepherd, A. M., Pinchbeck, R., Laurens, K., & Carr, V. J. (2013). Childhood adversity in schizophrenia: a systematic meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 43(2), 225-238.

- Maxwell, S. E., & Cole, D. A. (2007). Bias in cross-sectional analyses of longitudinal mediation. *Psychological methods*, 12(1), 23-44.
- McGlashan, T. H., Grilo, C. M., Skodol, A. E., Gunderson, J. G., Shea, M. T., Morey, L. C., . . . Stout, R. L. (2000). The Collaborative Longitudinal Personality Disorders Study: baseline Axis I/II and II/II diagnostic co-occurrence. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 102(4), 256-264.
- McGrath, J. J., Saha, S., Al-Hamzawi, A., Alonso, J., Bromet, E. J., Bruffaerts, R., . . . Fayyad, J. (2015). Psychotic experiences in the general population: a cross-national analysis based on 31 261 respondents from 18 countries. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 72(7), 697-705.
- McLaughlin, K. A., Conron, K. J., Koenen, K. C., & Gilman, S. E. (2010). Childhood adversity, adult stressful life events, and risk of past-year psychiatric disorder: A test of the stress sensitization hypothesis in a population-based sample of adults. *Psychological Medicine*, 40(10), 1647–1658.
- Merrett, Z., Rossell, S. L., & Castle, D. J. (2016). Comparing the experience of voices in borderline personality disorder with the experience of voices in a psychotic disorder: A systematic review. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 50(7), 640-648.
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2004). Adult attachment: Theory, research, and clinical implications. In W. S. Rholes, & J. Simpson (Eds.), *Adult Attachment* (pp. 143-165). New York: Guilford Press.
- Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., & Pereg, D. (2003). Attachment theory and affect regulation: The dynamics, development, and cognitive consequences of attachment-related strategies. *Motivation and Emotion*, *27(2)*, 77–102.
- Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., & Solomon, Z. (2015). An Attachment Perspective on Traumatic and Posttraumatic Reactions. In M. Safir, H. Wallach, & A. Rizzo (Eds.), *Future Directions in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder* (pp. 79-96). US: Springer.
- Minzenberg, M. J., Poole, J. H, Vinogradov, S. (2006). Adult social attachment disturbance is related to childhood maltreatment and current symptoms in borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 194, 341–348.
- Moffitt, T. E., Arseneault, L., Belsky, D., Dickson, N., Hancox, R. J., Harrington, H., et al. (2011). A gradient of childhood self-control predicts health, wealth, and public safety. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(7), 2693–2698.
- Möller, H.-J. (2016). The relevance of negative symptoms in schizophrenia and how to treat them with psychopharmaceuticals. *Psychiatr Danub*, 28(4), 435-440.

- Morandotti, N., Dima, D., Jogia, J., Frangou, S., Sala, M., Vidovich, G. . . . Brambilla, P. (2013). Childhood abuse is associated with structural impairment in the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex and aggressiveness in patients with borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 213(1), 18–23.
- Mørch, R. H., Dieset, I., Færden, A., Hope, S., Aas, M., Nerhus, M., . . . Agartz, I. (2016). Inflammatory evidence for the psychosis continuum model. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 67, 189-197.
- Morgan, C., & Fisher, H. (2007). Environment and schizophrenia: environmental factors in schizophrenia: childhood trauma—a critical review. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 33(1), 3-10.
- Moroz, K. (2005). The effects of psychological trauma on children and adolescents. Report Prepared for the Vermont Agency of Human Services Department of Health Division of Mental Health Child, Adolescent and Family Unit. Retrieved from: http://mentalhealth.vermont.gov/sites/dmh/files/report/cafu/DMH-CAFU_Psychological_Trauma_Moroz.pdf
- Morrissette, D. A. (2011). Affective symptoms in schizophrenia. *Drug discovery today*. *Therapeutic strategies*, 8(1-2), 3-9.
- Narvaez, J. M., Twamley, E.W., McKibbin, C. L., Heaton, R. K., and Patterson, T. L. (2008). Subjective and objective quality of life in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* 98(1-3), 201-208.
- Nicol, K., Pope, M., Romaniuk, L., & Hall, J. (2015). Childhood trauma, midbrain activation and psychotic symptoms in borderline personality disorder. *Transl Psychiatry*, *5*(5), e559.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2012). Emotion regulation and psychopathology: The role of gender. *Annual review of clinical psychology, 8*, 161-187.
- Nyklíček, I., Vingerhoets, A., & Zeelenberg, M. (Eds.). (2010). *Emotion regulation and well-being*. Berlin: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Ogle, C. M., Rubin, D. C., & Siegler, I. C. (2013). The impact of the developmental timing of trauma exposure on PTSD symptoms and psychosocial functioning among older adults. *Developmental psychology*, 49(11), 2191.
- Oldham, J. M. (2013). Borderline personality disorder and suicidality. *Focus*, 11(2), 277-283.
- Olesen, J., Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., Wittchen, H. U., & Jönsson, B. (2012). The economic cost of brain disorders in Europe. *Eur J Neurol*, 19(1), 155-162.

- Oshri, A., Sutton, T. E., Clay-Warner, J., & Miller, J. D. (2015). Child maltreatment types and risk behaviors: Associations with attachment style and emotion regulation dimensions. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 73, 127-133.
- Oswald, L. M., Wand, G. S., Kuwabara, H., Wong, D. F., Zhu, S., & Brasic, J. R. (2014). History of childhood adversity is positively associated with ventral striatal dopamine responses to amphetamine. *Psychopharmacology*, 231(12), 2417-2433.
- Pandya, M., & Desai, C. (2013). Compensation in clinical research: The debate continues. *Perspectives in clinical research*, *4*(1), 70-74.
- Parekh-Bhurke, S., Kwok, C. S., Pang, C., Hooper, L., Loke, Y. K., Ryder, J. J., . . . Song, F. (2011). Uptake of methods to deal with publication bias in systematic reviews has increased over time, but there is still much scope for improvement. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 64(4), 349-357.
- Pearce, J., Simpson, J., Berry, K., Bucci, S., Moskowitz, A., & Varese, F. (2017). Attachment and dissociation as mediators of the link between childhood trauma and psychotic experiences. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 24(6), 1304-1312.
- Pearlman, L. A., & Courtois, C. A. (2005). Clinical applications of the attachment framework: Relational treatment of complex trauma. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 18(5), 449-459.
- Pechtel, P., & Pizzagalli, D. A. (2011). Effects of early life stress on cognitive and affective function: an integrated review of human literature. *Psychopharmacology*, 214(1), 55-70.
- Pepper, H., & Agius, M. (2009). Phenomenology of PTSD and psychotic symptoms. *Psychiatria Danubina*, *21*(1), 82-84.
- Perry, Y., Henry, J. D., & Grisham, J. R. (2011). The habitual use of emotion regulation strategies in schizophrenia. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *50*(2), 217–222.
- Picken, A. L., Berry, K., Tarrier, N., & Barrowclough, C. (2010). Traumatic events, posttraumatic stress disorder, attachment style, and working alliance in a sample of people with psychosis. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 198(10), 775-778.
- Plaza, A., Torres, A., Martin-Santos, R., Gelabert, E., Imaz, M. L., Navarro, P., ... & Garcia-Esteve, L. (2011). Validation and test-retest reliability of early trauma inventory in Spanish postpartum women. *The Journal of nervous and mental disease*, 199(4), 280.
- Pollak, S. D., & Tolley-Schell, S. A. (2003). Selective attention to facial emotion in physically abused children. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 112(3), 323.

- Poole, J. H., Tobias, F. C., & Vinogradov, S. (2000). The functional relevance of affect recognition errors in schizophrenia. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 6(6), 649-658.
- Raine, A. (1991). The SPQ: a scale for the assessment of schizotypal personality based on DSM-III-R criteria. *Schizophrenia bulletin*, 17(4), 555.
- Read (2007). Breaking the silence: Learning why, when and how to ask about trauma, and how to respond to disclosures. In Larkin, W., & Morrison, A. P. (Eds.). (2007). *Trauma and psychosis: New directions for theory and therapy* (pp. 195-221). New York: Routledge.
- Read, J., & Bentall, R. P. (2012). Negative childhood experiences and mental health: theoretical, clinical and primary prevention implications. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 200(2), 89-91.
- Read, J., & Gumley, A. (2010). Can attachment theory help explain the relationship between childhood adversity and psychosis. In S. Benamer (Ed.), *Telling Stories; Attachment Based Approaches To The Treatment of Psychosis* (pp. 51-91). London: Karnac Books.
- Read, J., Bentall, R. P., & Fosse, R. (2009). Time to abandon the bio-bio-bio model of psychosis: exploring the epigenetic and psychological mechanisms by which adverse life events lead to psychotic symptoms. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 18(4), 299-310.
- Read, J., Fosse, R., Moskowitz, A., & Perry, B. (2014). The traumagenic neurodevelopmental model of psychosis revisited. *Neuropsychiatry*, 4(1), 65.
- Read, J., Os, J. v., Morrison, A. P., & Ross, C. A. (2005). Childhood trauma, psychosis and schizophrenia: a literature review with theoretical and clinical implications. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 112(5), 330-350.
- Reeves, M. (2011). *Code of human research ethics*. Retrieved from http://www.bps.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/code_of_human_research_ethics.pdf
- Ritsner, M. S. (2007). The Distress/Protection Vulnerability Model of Quality of Life Impairment Syndrome. In M. S. Ritsner & A. Awad (Eds.), *Quality of Life Impairment in Schizophrenia, Mood and Anxiety Disorders*. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Roberts, A. L., Gilman, S. E., Breslau, J., Breslau, N., & Koenen, K. C. (2011). Race/ethnic differences in exposure to traumatic events, development of post-traumatic stress disorder, and treatment-seeking for post-traumatic stress disorder in the United States. *Psychological Medicine*, 41(1), 71-83.

- Rosenberg, S. D., Lu, W., Mueser, K. T., Jankowski, M. K., Cournos, F. (2007). Correlates of adverse childhood events among adults with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, 58(2), 245–253.
- Rössler, W., Salize, H. J., van Os, J., & Riecher-Rössler, A. (2005). Size of burden of schizophrenia and psychotic disorders. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 15(4), 399-409.
- Rowland, J. E., Hamilton, M. K., Vella, N., Lino, B. J., Mitchell, P. B., & Green, M. J. (2013). Adaptive associations between social Cognition and emotion regulation are absent in schizophrenia and Bipolar disorder. *Electronic Frontiers in Psychology, 3, 607.* doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00607
- Ruggeri, M., Nose, M., Bonetto, C., Cristofalo, D., Lasalvia, A., Salvi, G., et al. (2005). Changes and predictors of change in objective and subjective quality of life. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 187(2), 121-130.
- Ryan, J., Graham, A., Nelson, B., & Yung, A. (2017). Borderline personality pathology in young people at ultra high risk of developing a psychotic disorder. *Early Intervention In Psychiatry*, 11(3), 208-214.
- Salsman, N. L., & Linehan, M. M. (2012). An investigation of the relationships among negative affect, difficulties in emotion regulation, and features of borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 34(2), 260-267.
- Sar, V., Taycan, O., Bolat, N., Ozmen, M., Duran, A., Oztürk, E., Ertem-Vehid, H. (2010). Childhood trauma and dissociation in schizophrenia. *Psychopathology*, *43*, 33–40.
- Sara, G. E., Burgess, P. M., Malhi, G. S., Whiteford, H. A., & Hall, W. C. (2014). Stimulant and other substance use disorders in schizophrenia: prevalence, correlates and impacts in a population sample. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*, 48(11), 1036-1047.
- Schenkel, L. S., Spaulding, W. D., DiLillo, D., Silverstein, S. M. (2005). Histories of childhood maltreatment in schizophrenia: relationships with premorbid functioning, symptomatology, and cognitive deficits. *Schizophrenia Research*, 76(2-3), 273–286.
- Sharp, C., & Fonagy, P. (2015). Practitioner Review: Borderline personality disorder in adolescence–recent conceptualization, intervention, and implications for clinical practice. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 56(12), 1266-1288.
- Sharp, C., Wright, A. G., Fowler, J. C., Frueh, B. C., Allen, J. G., Oldham, J., & Clark, L. A. (2015). The structure of personality pathology: Both general ('g') and specific ('s') factors? *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 124(2), 387.

- Shevlin, M., Boyda, D., Houston, J., & Murphy, J. (2015). Measurement of the psychosis continuum: Modelling the frequency and distress of subclinical psychotic experiences. *Psychosis*, 7(2), 108-118.
- Shevlin, M., McElroy, E., Bentall, R. P., Reininghaus, U., & Murphy, J. (2016). The psychosis continuum: testing a bifactor model of psychosis in a general population sample. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 43(1), 133-141.
- Silk, K. R., Lee, S., Hill, E. M., & Lohr, N. E. (1995). Borderline personality disorder symptoms and severity of sexual abuse. *Am J Psychiatry*, 152(7), 1059-1064.
- Sitko, K., Bentall, R. P., Shevlin, M., & Sellwood, W. (2014). Associations between specific psychotic symptoms and specific childhood adversities are mediated by attachment styles: an analysis of the National Comorbidity Survey. *Psychiatry Research*, 217(3), 202-209.
- Skodol, A. E., Pagano, M. E., Bender, D. S., Shea, M. T., Gunderson, J. G., Yen, S., . . . McGlashan, T. H. (2005). Stability of functional impairment in patients with schizotypal, borderline, avoidant, or obsessive-compulsive personality disorder over two years. *Psychol Med*, 35(3), 443-451.
- Slotema, C. W., Blom, J. D., Niemantsverdriet, M., Deen, M., & Sommer, I. E. (2018). Comorbid Diagnosis of Psychotic Disorders in Borderline Personality Disorder: Prevalence and Influence on Outcome. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 9, 84.
- Slotema, C. W., Daalman, K., Blom, J. D., Diederen, K. M., Hoek, H. W., & Sommer, I. E. C. (2012). Auditory verbal hallucinations in patients with borderline personality disorder are similar to those in schizophrenia. *Psychological medicine*, 42(9), 1873-1878.
- Soler, J., Vega, D., Feliu-Soler, A., Trujols, J., Soto, A., Elices, M., ... & Pascual, J. C. (2013). Validation of the Spanish version of the Borderline Symptom List, short form (BSL-23). *BMC psychiatry*, 13(139), 1-7.
- Spinazzola, J., Ford, J. D., Zucker, M., van der Kolk, B. A., Silva, S., Smith, S. F., & Blaustein, M. (2005). Survey Evaluates: Complex Trauma Exposure, Outcome, and Intervention Among Children and Adolescents. *Psychiatric Annals*, 35(5), 433-439.
- Springer, K. W., Sheridan, J., Kuo, D., & Carnes, M. (2007). Long-term physical and mental health consequences of childhood physical abuse: Results from a large population-based sample of men and women. *Child abuse & neglect*, 31(5), 517-530.
- Stanghellini, G., & Ballerini, M. (2002). Dis-sociality: The phenomenological approach to social dysfunction in schizophrenia. *World Psychiatry*, 1(2), 102-106.

- Stanley, B., & New, A. (2017). *Borderline personality disorder*. UK: Oxford University Press.
- Stirling, J., & Amaya-Jackson, L. (2008). Understanding the behavioral and emotional consequences of child abuse. *Pediatrics*, 122(3), 667-673.
- Suvak, M. K., Litz, B. T., Sloan, D. M., Zanarini, M. C., Barrett, L. F., & Hofmann, S. G. (2011). Emotional granularity and borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 120(2), 414–426.
- Swartz, M., Blazer, D., George, L., & Winfield, I. (1990). Estimating the prevalence of borderline personality disorder in the community. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 4(3), 257-272.
- Tait, L., Birchwood, M., Trower, P. (2004). Adapting to the challenge of psychosis: personal resilience and the use of sealing-over (avoidant) coping strategies. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 185(5), 410–415.
- Taylor, S. E., & Stanton, A. L. (2007). Coping resources, coping processes, and mental health. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 3, 377-401. doi:10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091520
- Terr, L. C. (2003). Childhood traumas: An outline and overview. Focus, 1(3), 322-334.
- Thabrew, H., de Sylva, S., & Romans, S. (2012). Evaluating childhood adversity. In G. A. Fava, N. Sonino, T. N. Wise (Eds.), *The Psychosomatic Assessment. Strategies to Improve Clinical Practice* (pp. 35-57). Basel: Karger Publishers.
- Thompson, A. D., Nelson, B., Yuen, H. P., Lin, A., Amminger, G. P., McGorry, P. D., ... & Yung, A. R. (2013). Sexual trauma increases the risk of developing psychosis in an ultra-high-risk "prodromal" population. *Schizophrenia bulletin*, 40(3), 697-706.
- Thompson, R. A., Lewis, M. D., & Calkins, S. D. (2008). Reassessing emotion regulation. *Child Development Perspectives*, 2(3), 124-131.
- Tolman, A. W., & Kurtz, M. M. (2012). Neurocognitive predictors of objective and subjective quality of life in individuals with schizophrenia: a meta-analytic investigation. *Schizophr Bull*, 38(2), 304-315.
- Tomko, R. L., Trull, T. J., Wood, P. K., & Sher, K. J. (2014). Characteristics of borderline personality disorder in a community sample: comorbidity, treatment utilization, and general functioning. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 28(5), 734-750.
- Torgersen, S., Kringlen, E., & Cramer, V. (2001). The prevalence of personality disorders in a community sample. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 58(6), 590-596.

- Trotta, A., Murray, R., & Fisher, H. (2015). The impact of childhood adversity on the persistence of psychotic symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 45(12), 2481-2498.
- Trull, T. J., Jahng, S., Tomko, R. L., Wood, P. K., & Sher, K. J. (2010). Revised NESARC personality disorder diagnoses: gender, prevalence, and comorbidity with substance dependence disorders. *J Pers Disord*, 24(4), 412-426.
- Tugade, M. M., & Fredrickson, B. L. (2007). Regulation of positive emotions: Emotion regulation strategies that promote resilience. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 8(3), 311-333.
- Tyrka, A. R., Burgers, D. E., Philip, N. S., Price, L. H., Carpenter, L. L. (2013). The neurobiological correlates of childhood adversity and implications for treatment. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 128, 434–447. doi:10.1111/acps.12143
- Van Asselt, A., Dirksen, C. D., Arntz, A., & Severens, J. L. (2007). The cost of borderline personality disorder: societal cost of illness in BPD-patients. *European Psychiatry*, 22(6), 354-361.
- Van der Kolk, B. A. (2017). Developmental Trauma Disorder: Toward a rational diagnosis for children with complex trauma histories. *Psychiatric annals*, *35*(5), 401-408.
- van Os, J., & Reininghaus, U. (2016). Psychosis as a transdiagnostic and extended phenotype in the general population. *World Psychiatry*, 15(2), 118-124.
- van Rossum, I., Lieb, R., Wittchen, H.-U., & van Os, J. (2011). Affective dysregulation and reality distortion: a 10-year prospective study of their association and clinical relevance. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *37*(3), 561-571.
- Varese, F., Barkus, E., & Bentall, R. P. (2012). Dissociation mediates the relationship between childhood trauma and hallucination-proneness. *Psychological Medicine*, 42(05), 1025-1036.
- Varese, F., Smeets, F., Drukker, M., Lieverse, R., Lataster, T., Viechtbauer, W., . . . Bentall, R. P. (2012). Childhood adversities increase the risk of psychosis: a metaanalysis of patient-control, prospective-and cross-sectional cohort studies. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 38(4), 661-671.
- Veer, I. M., Oei, N. Y., van Buchem, M. A., Spinhoven, P., Elzinga, B. M., & Rombouts, S. A. (2015). Evidence for smaller right amygdala volumes in posttraumatic stress disorder following childhood trauma. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 233(3), 436-442.
- Vohs, K. D., & Baumeister, R. F. (Eds.). (2016). *Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory, and applications.* UK: Guilford Publications.

- Volavka, J. (2014). Comorbid personality disorders and violent behavior in psychotic patients. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, *85*(1), 65-78.
- Walsh, F. (2007). Traumatic loss and major disasters: Strengthening family and community resilience. *Family Process*, 46(2), 207-227.
- Wickham, S., Sitko, K., & Bentall, R. P. (2015). Insecure attachment is associated with paranoia but not hallucinations in psychotic patients: The mediating role of negative self-esteem. *Psychological Medicine*, 45, 1495–1507. doi:10.1017/S0033291714002633
- Widom, C. S., Czaja, S., & Dutton, M. A. (2014). Child abuse and neglect and intimate partner violence victimization and perpetration: A prospective investigation. *Child abuse & neglect*, 38(4), 650-663.
- World Health Organisation. (2015). *Schizophrenia*. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/mental health/management/schizophrenia/en/
- World Health Organization. (2006). *Preventing child maltreatment: a guide to action and generating evidence*. Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/43499/1/9241594365_eng.pdf
- Wu, E. Q., Birnbaum, H. G., Shi, L., Ball, D. E., Kessler, R. C., Moulis, M., & Aggarwal, J. (2005). The economic burden of schizophrenia in the United States in 2002. *Journal* of Clinical Psychiatry, 66(9), 1122-1129.
- Yung, A., Cotter, J., Wood, S., McGorry, P., Thompson, A., Nelson, B., & Lin, A. (2015). Childhood maltreatment and transition to psychotic disorder independently predict long-term functioning in young people at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Psychological Medicine*, 45(16), 3453-3465.
- Zanarini, M. C., Frankenburg, F. R., Dubo, E. D., Sickel, A. E., Trikha, A., Levin, A., & Reynolds, V. (1998). Axis II comorbidity of borderline personality disorder. *Compr Psychiatry*, 39(5), 296-302.
- Zanarini, M. C., Frankenburg, F. R., Khera, G. S., & Bleichmar, J. (2001). Treatment histories of borderline inpatients. *Compr Psychiatry*, 42(2), 144-150.
- Zanarini, M. C., Frankenburg, F. R., Reich, D. B., Silk, K. R., Hudson, J. I., & McSweeney,
 L. B. (2007). The subsyndromal phenomenology of borderline personality disorder:
 a 10-year follow-up study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 164(6), 929-935.
- Zanarini, M. C., Williams, A. A., Lewis, R. E., & Reich, R. B. (1997). Reported pathological childhood experiences associated with the development of borderline personality disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*, 154(8), 1101-1106.
- Zanarini, M. C., Yong, L., Frankenburg, F. R., Hennen, J., Reich, D. B., Marino, M. F., & Vujanovic, A. A. (2002). Severity of reported childhood sexual abuse and its

relationship to severity of borderline psychopathology and psychosocial impairment among borderline inpatients. *The Journal Of Nervous And Mental Disease, 190*(6), 381-387.

- Zimmerman, M., Rothschild, L., & Chelminski, I. (2005). The prevalence of DSM-IV personality disorders in psychiatric outpatients. *Am J Psychiatry*, 162(10), 1911-1918.
- Zubin, J., & Spring, B. (1977). Vulnerability--a new view of schizophrenia. J Abnorm Psychol, 86(2), 103-126.

Appendix

Systematic Review Journal Guidelines and Quality Assessment Tool	157
Details on Joint Working	161
Journal Guidelines for Empirical Paper	163
Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklists	166
Ethical Approval Documentation	168
Participant Information Sheets	176
Screening and Enrolment Log	188
Recruitment posters	189
Telephone Self-Referrals Guidance	191
NHS Trust Specific Checklists	194
Clinical Note Template	200
Clinician-Related Documents	201
Prize Draw and Publication Sheet	203
Questionnaire Pack	204
Pre-Care Information Sheet	220
Aftercare Sheets	221
Clinical Group Recruitment and Procedure Diagrams	223
Risk Management Protocol	224
Clinical Recruitment Presentation	225
Consent forms	228
Demographic Information Sheet	230
Online Procedure Template	231
Author permission to use the Psychosis Attachment Measure	233
Power Calculation and Additional Statistical Analysis Information	234
	Systematic Review Journal Guidelines and Quality Assessment ToolDetails on Joint WorkingJournal Guidelines for Empirical PaperEligibility and Diagnostic ChecklistsEthical Approval DocumentationParticipant Information SheetsScreening and Enrolment LogRecruitment postersTelephone Self-Referrals GuidanceNHS Trust Specific ChecklistsClinicial Note TemplateQuestionnaire PackPre-Care Information SheetAftercare SheetsClinical Group Recruitment and Procedure DiagramsRisk Management ProtocolClinical Recruitment PresentationConsent formsDemographic Information SheetAuthor permission to use the Psychosis Attachment MeasurePower Calculation and Additional Statistical Analysis Information

Appendix A

Systematic Review Journal Guidelines and Quality Assessment Tool

Schizophrenia Research and Development (Hindawi)

Journal Title

Concise and Informative Article Title

Firstname M. I. Lastname,1 Firstname A. Lastname,2 and Firstname B. Lastname1,2

¹ Department, Institute, City ZIP/Post code, Country.
² Department, Institute, City ZIP/Post code, Country.

Correspondence should be addressed to Firstname B. Lastname; lastname@institution.edu

Abstract

The abstract should be a single, self-contained paragraph which summarises the manuscript. Ideally it will provide a brief context for the study, before describing the scientific approach and some key results in a qualitative manner. It should finish with a sentence to describe the implications for the field. The abstract must not include references, figures or tables.

Introduction

The introduction should be succinct, with no subheadings. Limited figures may be included only if they are truly introductory, and contain no new results.

Materials and Methods

The materials and methods section should contain sufficient detail so that all procedures can be repeated. It may be divided into headed subsections if several methods are described.

Results and Discussion

Subheadings

The results and discussion may be presented separately, or in one combined section, and may optionally be divided into headed subsections.

Advice on Equations

Equations should be provided in a text format, rather than as an image. Microsoft Word's equation tool is acceptable. Equations should be numbered consecutively, in round brackets, on the right-hand side of the page. They should be referred to as Equation 1, etc. in the main text.

$$x = \frac{-b \pm \sqrt{b^2 - 4ac}}{2a} \tag{1}$$

Advice on Figures

At the point of submission, authors may provide all figures embedded within the manuscript at a convenient break near to where they are first referenced or, alternatively, they may be provided as separate files. All figures should be cited in the paper in a consecutive

order. Where possible, figures should be displayed on a white background. When preparing figures, consider that they can occupy either a single column (half page width) or two columns (full page width), and should be sized accordingly. All figures must have an accompanying caption which includes a title and, preferably, a brief description (see Figure 1).



Figure 1: Basic rocket ship design. The rocket ship is propelled with three thrusters and features a single viewing window. The nose cone is detachable upon impact.

The caption can also be used to explain any acronyms used in the figure, as well as providing information on scale bar sizes or other information that cannot be included in the figure itself. Plots that show error bars should include in the caption a description of how the error was calculated and the sample size (see Figure 2).



Figure 2: Plot of nanoparticle size with respect to time, recorded over a 90 s period. The error bars represent the standard deviation of measurements for 20 particles in five separate sample runs (n = 100).

If a figure consists of multiple panels, they should be ordered logically and labelled with lower case roman letters (i.e., a, b, c, etc.). If it is necessary to mark individual features within a panel (e.g., in Figure 3a), this may be done with lowercase Roman numerals, i, ii, iii, iv, etc. All labels should be explained in the caption. Panels should not be contained within boxes unless strictly necessary.



Figure 3: Representations of some common weather symbols. (a) The sun with (i) core, and (ii) rays. (b) Thunder bolt. (c) Cloud. (d) Moon.

Upon acceptance, authors will be asked to provide the figures as separate electronic files. At that stage, figures should be supplied in either vector art formats (Illustrator, EPS, WMF, FreeHand, CorelDraw, PowerPoint, Excel, etc.) or bitmap formats (Photoshop, TIFF, GIF, JPEG, etc.). Bitmap images should be of at least 300 dpi resolution, unless due to the limited resolution of a scientific instrument. If a bitmap image has labels, the image and labels should be embedded in separate layers.

Advice on Tables

Every table must have a descriptive title and, if numerical measurements are given, the units should be included in the column heading. Vertical rules should not be used (see Table 1). Tables should be cited consecutively in the text.

e 1: Temperature and wildlife count in the three areas covered by the :					
Location	T [" C]	Turtles	Sharks	Octopuses	Starfish
Blue Lagoon	21.2	3	3	4	543
Repent's Canal	5.2	8	0	24	312
Shark Bey	12.8	4	7	9	122

Conclusions

The Conclusions section should clearly explain the main findings and implications of the work, highlighting its importance and relevance.

Data Availability

A data availability statement is compulsory for research articles and clinical trials. Here, authors must describe how readers can access the data underlying the findings of the study, giving links to online repositories and providing deposition codes where applicable.

Conflicts of Interest

This section is compulsory. A competing interest exists when professional judgment concerning the validity of research is influenced by a secondary interest, such as financial gain. We require that our authors reveal any possible conflict of interest in their submitted manuscripts. If there is no conflict of interest, authors should state that "The author(s) declare(s) that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this paper."

Funding Statement

Authors should state how the research and publication of their article was funded, by naming financially supporting bodies followed by any associated grant numbers in square brackets.

Acknowledgments

An Acknowledgements section is optional and may recognise those individuals who provided help during the research and preparation of the manuscript.

Supplementary Materials

If Supplementary Materials are provided (e.g., audio files, video clips or datasets) they should be described here. Note that authors are responsible for providing the final Supplementary Materials files that will be published along with the article, which are not modified by our production team. You should remember to reference the Supplementary Materials' contents at appropriate points within the manuscript. We recommend citing specific items, rather than referring to the Supplementary Materials in general, for example: "See Figures \$1-\$10 in the Supplementary Material for comprehensive image analysis."

References

References will be reformatted in house, there is no need to adhere to a specific style at the point of submission. Authors are responsible for ensuring that the information in each reference is complete and accurate. All citations in the text must be numbered consecutively in square brackets, before any punctuation, for example, "as discussed by Smith [1]," and "as discussed elsewhere [2,3]." All uncited references will be automatically removed. The references should not contain footnotes. For your information, our citation style is:

 [x] Author initials and surname, "Title in sentence style," Journal title, vol. (volume number), no. (issue number), pp. (page numbers separated by an en-dash), Year.

For example:

[1] J. D. Watson and F. H. C. Crick, "A structure for deoxyribose nucleic acid," Nature, vol. 171, no. 4356, pp. 737-738, 1953.

For articles with six or more authors, the first three authors are listed followed by 'et al.'. When journals use only article numbers, no page numbers are necessary. For example:

[2] B. P. Abbott, R. Abbott, T. D. Abbott et al., "Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger," Physical Review Letters, vol. 116, no. 6, Article ID 061102, 2016.

NTA Initiative # 13 + February away STANDARD QUALITY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA for Evaluating Primary Research Papers from a Variety of Fields $\bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$ $\bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$ \odot \odot \odot \odot $\circ \circ \circ \circ$ $\circ \circ \circ \circ$ $\bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$ $\bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$ 0000 0000 0000 0000 M AHFMR 🧐 capita Telefit Inger

Quality Assessment Tool

Table 1. Checklist for assessing the quality of quantitative studies

Criteria		YES (2)	PARTIAL (1)	NO (0)	N/A
ĩ	Question / objective sufficiently described?				
2	Study design evident and appropriate?				
3	Method of subject/comparison group selection or source of information/input variables described and appropriate?				
4	Subject (and comparison group, if applicable) characteristics sufficiently described?				
5	If interventional and random allocation was possible, was it described?				
б	If interventional and blinding of investigators was possible, was it reported?				
7	If interventional and blinding of subjects was possible, was it reported?				
8	Outcome and (if applicable) exposure measure(s) well defined and robust to measurement / misclassification bias? Means of assessment reported?				
9	Sample size appropriate?				
10	Analytic methods described/justified and appropriate?				
- 11	Some estimate of variance is reported for the main results?				
12	Controlled for confounding?				
13	Results reported in sufficient detail?				
14	Conclusions supported by the results?				

Appendix B

Details on Joint Working

The Research Team:

Primary Researcher
Cat George
Supervisors
Dr Joanne Hodgekins (primary)
Dr Sian Coker (secondary)
Secondary Researcher
Desire Furnes who collected data, and through utilising additional measures, researched alternative questions.
Key Collaborator
Dr Liam Gillighan who aided data collection.

This study was jointly with Desire Furnes (trainee clinical psychologist). Dr Liam Gillighan (Clinical Psychologist) was also involved in data collection. We recruited the clinical participants from two NHS foundation trusts and therefore combined efforts into a single project. The single research project enabled us to have separate research questions and aims but enabled us to focus recruitment efforts in different geographical areas around East Anglia. Data collection for both projects were combined and the ethics application, study documents and other research tasks were evenly split. The research presented here utilised data from the trauma screen, the attachment measure, the emotion regulation measure and the demographic information sheet. Desire incorporated the trauma screen, the demographic information sheet, the 6-Item Post Traumatic Stress Disorder Checklist – Civilian Form (PCL-C; Weathers, Litz, Huska & Keane, 1993), the Post-Traumatic

Cognitions Inventory (PTCI; Foa Ehlers, Clark, Tolin, & Orsillo, 1999) and the Dissociative Experience Scale-II (DES-II; Carlson & Putnam, 1993) to answer the parallel thesis project aim and are therefore not detailed within this thesis.

Throughout we have ensured an equal workload which has been supervised by our research supervisors.

References

- Carlson, E. B., & Putnam, F. W. (1993). An update on the dissociative experiences scale. *Dissociation: progress in the dissociative disorders*.
- Foa, E. B., Ehlers, A., Clark, D. M., Tolin, D. F., & Orsillo, S. M. (1999). The posttraumatic cognitions inventory (PTCI): Development and validation. *Psychological assessment*, 11(3), 303.
- Weathers, F. W., Litz, B. T., Herman, D. S., Huska, J. A., & Keane, T. M. (1993, October). The PTSD Checklist (PCL): Reliability, validity, and diagnostic utility. In *annual convention of the international society for traumatic stress studies, San Antonio, TX* (Vol. 462).

Appendix C

Journal Guidelines for Empirical Paper

Journal of Clinical Psychology



Edited By: Timothy R. Elliott (Editor) and Barry A. Farber (In Session) Impact Factor: 2.123 ISI Journal Citation Reports © Ranking: 2016: 50/121 (Psychology Clinical) Online ISSN: 1097-4679

Author Guidelines

NIH Public Access Mandate

For those interested in the Wiley-Blackwell policy on the NIH Public Access Mandate, please visit our policy stater For those intervised and whey elackwee points with reaching and an analysis of the with reaching the status of the http://authorservices.wifey.com for more details on online production tracking and for a wealth of resources including FAQs and tips on article preparation, submission and more. • Copyright Transfer Agreement

Permission Request Form

All papers published in Journal of Clinical Psychology are eligible for Panel A: Psychology, Psychiatry and Neuroscience in the Research Excellence Framework (REF)

Wiley's Self-Archiving Policy

Author Guidelines

Manuscript Submission

Manuscripts for submission to The Journal of Citoreal Psychology should be forwarded to the Editor as follows

On to your Internet borveer (e.g., Netscope, Internet Explorer).
 On to be URL http://www.manucritotomid.com/db
 Reprint of you have not does to advance of the individual of the state of the individual of the state of the individual of the international to indust your paper.
 Note to be Avador Center and follow the international to indust your paper.
 Private spload for following a support document. But for gase (with identifying information), the body of your manuscript (centuming to identifying information), each table, and each figure.
 Private spload for following a support document. But for gase (with identifying information), the body of your manuscript (centuming to identifying information), each table, and each figure.
 Private spload for following a support document. But for gase (with identifying information), the body of the manuscript (centuming to identifying information), each table, and each figure.
 Private spload for the information in during information (that may reveal authorities) and the internation that may reveal authorities identifying information.
 Private spload for the information in during information (the first well) be concentrated automatical information that may reveal authorities in a support of the files need to be replaced.

Tanothy P. Elliott, Editor-m-Chief The Journal of Climital Psychology 4223 TANJU Texas A&M University

Manuscript Preparation

Format . Number all pages of the manuscript sequentially. Manuscripts should contain each of the following elements in sequence: 1) Title page 2) Abstract 3) Text 4) Acknowledgments 5) References 6) Tables 7) Figures 8) Figure Legends 9) Permissions. Start each element on a new page. Because the *Journal of Clinical Psychology* utilizes an anonymous peer-review process, authors' names and affiliations should appear ONLY on the title page of the manuscript. Please submit the title page as a separate document within the attachment to facilitate the anonymous peer review process.

Style - Please follow the stylistic guidelines detailed in the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, Sixth Edition, available from the American Psychological Association, Washington, D.C. Webster's New World Dictionary of American English, 3rd College Edition, is the accepted source for spelling. Define unusual abbreviations at the first mention in the text. The text should be written in a uniform style, and its contents as submitted for consideration. Should be deemed by the author to be final and suitable for publication.

spelling. Ustine unusual abbreviations at the first mention in the text. The text should be written in a uniform style, and its contents as submitted for consideration should be deemed by the author to be final and suitable for publication. **Reference Style and EndNote**. EndNote is a software product that we recommend to our journal authors to help simplify and streamline the research process. Using EndNote's bibliographic management tools, you can search bibliographic databases, build and organize your reference collection, and then instantly output your bibliography in any Wiley journal style. *Download Reference Style for this Journal:* If you already use EndNote, you can download the reference style for this journal. How to Order: To learn more about EndNote, contact endnote@isiresearchsoft.com, or visit www.endnote.com/support. **THe Remo**. The title acree schedule download the units the unext was performed.

Title Page. The title page should contain the complete title of the manuscript, names and affiliations of all authors, institution(s) at which the work was performed, and name, address (including e-mail address), telephone and telefax numbers of the author responsible for correspondence. Authors should also provide a short title of not more than 45 characters (including spaces), and five to ten key words, that will highlight the subject matter of the article. Please submit the title page as a separate document within the attachment to facilitate the anonymous peer review process.

Abstract. Abstracts are required for research articles, review articles, commentaries, and notes from the field. A structured abstract is required and should be 150 words or less. The headings that are required are:

Objective(s): Succinctly state the reason, aims or hypotheses of the study.

Method (or Design): Describe the sample (including size, gender and average age), setting, and research design of the study.

Results: Succinctly report the results that pertain to the expressed objective(s).

Conclusions: State the important conclusions and implications of the findings

In addition, for systematic reviews and meta-analyses the following headings can be used, Context; Objective; Methods (data sources, data extraction); Results; Conclusion. For Clinical reviews: Context; Methods (evidence acquisition); Results (evidence synthesis); Conclusion.

Permissions. Reproduction of an unaltered figure, table, or block of text from any non-federal government publication requires permission from the copyright holder. All direct quotations should have a source and page citation. Acknowledgment of source material cannot substitute for written permission. It is the author's responsibility to obtain such written permission from the owner of the rights to this material.

Final Revised Manuscript . A final version of your accepted manuscript should be submitted electronically, using the instructions for electronic submission detailed above.

Artwork Files. Figures should be provided in separate high-resolution EPS or TIFF files and should not be embedded in a Word document for best quality reproduction in the printed publication. Journal quality reproduction will require gray scale and color files at resolutions yielding approximately 300 ppi. Bitmapped line art should be submitted at resolutions yielding 600-1200 ppi. These resolutions refer to the output size of the file; if you anticipate that your images will be enlarged or reduced, resolutions should be adjusted accordingly. All print reproduction requires files for full-color images to be in a CMYK color space. If possible, ICC or ColorSync profiles of your output device should accompany all digital image submissions. All illustration files should be in TIFF or EPS (with preview) formats. Do not submit native application formats.

Software and Format. Microsoft Word is preferred, although manuscripts prepared with any other microcomputer word processor are acceptable. Refrain from complex formatting; the Publisher will style your manuscript according to the journal design specifications. Do not use desktop publishing software such as PageMaker or Quark XPress. If you prepared your manuscript with one of these programs, export the text to a word processing format. Please make sure your word processing program's "fast save" feature is turned off. Please do not deliver files that contain hidden text: for example, do not use your word processor's automated features to create footnotes or reference lists.

Article Types

- <u>Research Articles</u>. Research articles may include quantitative or qualitative investigations, or single-case research. They should contain Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, and Conclusion sections conforming to standard scientific reporting style (where appropriate, Results and Discussion may be combined).
- <u>Review Articles</u>. Review articles should focus on the clinical implications of theoretical perspectives, diagnostic approaches, or innovative strategies for assessment or treatment. Articles should provide a critical review and interpretation of the literature. Although subdivisions (e.g., introduction, methods, results) are not required, the text should flow smoothly, and be divided logically by topical headings.
- Commentaries . Occasionally, the editor will invite one or more individuals to write a commentary on a research report.
- Editorials . Unsolicited editorials are also considered for publication.
- Notes From the Field. Notes From the Field offers a forum for brief descriptions of advances in clinical training; innovative treatment methods or community based initiatives; developments in service delivery; or the presentation of data from research projects which have progressed to a point where preliminary observations should be disseminated (e.g., pilot studies, significant findings in need of replication). Articles submitted for this section should be limited to a maximum of 10 manuscript pages, and contain logical topical subheadings.
- News and Notes
 This section offers a vehicle for readers to stay abreast of major awards, grants, training initiatives; research projects; and conferences in clinical psychology. Items for this section should be summarized in 200 words or less. The Editors reserve the right to determine which News and Notes submissions are appropriate for inclusion in the journal.

Editorial Policy

Manuscripts for consideration by the *Journal of Clinical Psychology* must be submitted solely to this journal, and may not have been published in another publication of any type, professional or lay. This policy covers both duplicate and fragmented (piecemeal) publication. Although, on occasion it may be appropriate to publish several reports referring to the same data base, authors should inform the editors at the time of submission about all previously published or submitted reports terming from the data set, so that the editors can judge if the article represents a new contribution. If the article is accepted for publication, the article must include a citation to all reports using the same data and methods or the same sample. Upon acceptance of a manuscript for publication, the corresponding author will be required to sign an agreement transferring copyright to the Publisher, copies of the Copyright Transfer form are available from the editorifice. All accepted manuscripts become the property of the Publisher. No material published in the journal may be reproduced or published elsewhere without written permission from the Publisher, who reserves copyright.

Any possible conflict of interest, financial or otherwise, related to the submitted work must be clearly indicated in the manuscript and in a cover letter accompanying the submission. Research performed on human participants must be accompanied by a statement of compliance with the Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) and the standards established by the author's Institutional Review Board and granting agency. Informed consent statements,

if applicable, should be included with the manuscript stating that informed consent was obtained from the research participants after the nature of the experimental procedures was explained.

The Journal of Clinical Psychology requires that all identifying details regarding the client(s)/patient(s), including, but not limited to name, age, race, occupation, and place of residence be altered to prevent recognition. By signing the Copyright Transfer Agreement, you acknowledge that you have altered all identifying details or obtained all necessary written releases.

All statements in, or omissions from, published manuscripts are the responsibility of authors, who will be asked to review proofs prior to publication. No page charges will be levied against authors or their institutions for publication in the journal. Authors should retain copies of their manuscripts; the journal will not be responsible for loss of manuscripts at any time.

Additional Reprint Purchases. Should you wish to purchase additional copies of your article, please click on the link and follow the instructions provided: https://caesar.sheridan.com/reprints/redir.php?pub=100898&acro=JCLP

Production Questions: JCLP Production Office E-mail: JCLPprod@wiley.com

Appendix D

Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklists

Clinical Group Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist

Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist



Version 1, September 2016

Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist

To be completed with guidance from care team and/or clinical records.

Name of researcher/ lead health care professional:

Service User Trust Non Identifiable Number:

	YES	NO
Under the care of mental health NHS teams.	Č.	ž į
Age 18-65 years, inclusive		*
Fluent in written and spoken English language		×
Criteria met for Borderline Personality Disorder <i>and</i> no secondary diagnosis of a Psychotic Disorder OR criteria met for a Psychotic Disorder <i>and</i> no secondary diagnosis of Borderline Personality Disorder as assessed by the clinical team.		<u>×</u>
Ability to understand and willing to give written informed consent	8	
No cognitive or language difficulties that prevent providing informed consent or compromise participation in completing study questionnaires		
No current serious suicidal or violence risk		
Substance use that is considered severe enough to impact on a person's ability to give informed consent and participate in the study		3

I confirm that they meet the above criteria for inclusion to this study.

Name:

Signature:

Date: __/__/

Control Group Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist

Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist



Version 1, September 2016

Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist – Online Template

To be completed online by the potential participant before being able to take part in the online

survey.

Question in the screening survey		Response Option	
Are you currently or have you ever been under the care of mental health NHS teams?	YES	NO	
Are you aged between 18 and 65 years?	YES	NO	
Are you fluent in written and spoken English language?	YES	NO	
Have you ever been diagnosed with a mental health disorder?	YES	NO	
Do you currently have any thoughts or plans about hurting yourself or ending your life?	YES	NO	

Appendix E

Ethical Approval Documentation

NHS

Health Research Authority

Email: hra.approval@nhs.net

Miss Catherine George Trainee Clinical Psychologist Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust Norwich Medical School Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences University of East Anglia, Norwich NR4 7TJ

31 May 2017

Dear Miss George

Letter of HRA Approval

Study title:

IRAS project ID: REC reference: Sponsor Exploring the Impact of Trauma and the Role of Attachment, Emotion Regulation, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Trauma-Induced Cognitions and Dissociation in Individuals with Mental Health Difficulties 213333 17/EE/0179 University of East Anglia

I am pleased to confirm that <u>HRA Approval</u> has been given for the above referenced study, on the basis described in the application form, protocol, supporting documentation and any clarifications noted in this letter.

Participation of NHS Organisations in England

The sponsor should now provide a copy of this letter to all participating NHS organisations in England.

Appendix B provides important information for sponsors and participating NHS organisations in England for arranging and confirming capacity and capability. Please read Appendix B carefully, in particular the following sections:

- Participating NHS organisations in England this clarifies the types of participating
 organisations in the study and whether or not all organisations will be undertaking the same
 activities
- Confirmation of capacity and capability this confirms whether or not each type of participating
 NHS organisation in England is expected to give formal confirmation of capacity and capability.
 Where formal confirmation is not expected, the section also provides details on the time limit
 given to participating organisations to opt out of the study, or request additional time, before
 their participation is assumed.
- Allocation of responsibilities and rights are agreed and documented (4.1 of HRA assessment onteria) - this provides detail on the form of agreement to be used in the study to confirm capacity and capability, where applicable.

IRA8 project ID 213333

Further information on funding, HR processes, and compliance with HRA criteria and standards is also provided.

It is critical that you involve both the research management function (e.g. R&D office) supporting each organisation and the local research team (where there is one) in setting up your study. Contact details and further information about working with the research management function for each organisation can be accessed from <u>www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-approval</u>.

Appendices

The HRA Approval letter contains the following appendices:

- A List of documents reviewed during HRA assessment
- B Summary of HRA assessment

After HRA Approval

The document "After Ethical Review – guidance for sponsors and investigators", issued with your REC favourable opinion, gives detailed guidance on reporting expectations for studies, including:

- Registration of research
- Notifying amendments
- Notifying the end of the study

The HRA website also provides guidance on these topics, and is updated in the light of changes in reporting expectations or procedures.

In addition to the guidance in the above, please note the following:

- HRA Approval applies for the duration of your REC favourable opinion, unless otherwise notified in writing by the HRA.
- Substantial amendments should be submitted directly to the Research Ethics Committee, as
 detailed in the After Ethical Review document. Non-substantial amendments should be
 submitted for review by the HRA using the form provided on the <u>HRA website</u>, and emailed to
 bra.amendments@nhs.net.
- The HRA will categorise amendments (substantial and non-substantial) and issue confirmation
 of continued HRA Approval. Further details can be found on the <u>HRA website</u>.

Scope

HRA Approval provides an approval for research involving patients or staff in NHS organisations in England.

If your study involves NHS organisations in other countries in the UK, please contact the relevant national coordinating functions for support and advice. Further information can be found at http://www.hra.nhs.uk/resources/applying-for-reviews/nhs-hso-rd-reviews/.

If there are participating non-NHS organisations, local agreement should be obtained in accordance with the procedures of the local participating non-NHS organisation.

Page 2 of 8

IRA 8 project ID 215555

User Feedback

The Health Research Authority is continually striving to provide a high quality service to all applicants and sponsors. You are invited to give your view of the service you have received and the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the HRA website: http://www.hra.nhs.uk/about-the-hra/governance/guality-assurance/.

HRA Training

We are pleased to welcome researchers and research management staff at our training days – see details at http://www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-training/

Your IRAS project ID is 213333. Please quote this on all correspondence.

Yours sincerely

Simon Connolly Senior Assessor

Email: hra.approval@nhs.net

Copy to: Ms Tracy Moulton, University of East Anglia Dr Bonnie Teague, Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust

Page \$ of \$

IRA 8 project ID 215555

Appendix A - List of Documents

The final document set assessed and approved by HRA Approval is listed below.

Document	Version	Date
Copies of advertisement materials for research participants [Poster6PD]	1	01 September 2016
Copies of advertisement materials for research participants [PosterPsychosis]	1	01 September 2016
Copies of advertisement materials for research participants [PosterOnline-NonClinical]	1	01 September 2016
Evidence of Sponsor insurance or indemnity (non NHS Sponsors only) [II_letter_04.04.17]	1	04 April 2017
GP/consultant information sheets or letters [ClinicianInformationSheet]	1	01 September 2016
GP/consultant information sheets or letters [ClinicianInformationLetter]	1	01 September 2016
IRAS Application Form [IRAS_Form_11042017]		11 April 2017
Letter from sponsor [II_letter_04.04.17]	1	04 April 2017
Non-validated questionnaire [DemographicInformationSheet]	1	01 September 2016
Other [ResearchCV_LiamGillian (collaborator)]	1	01 February 2017
Other [ResearchCV_MichellePainter (collaborator)]	1	01 February 2017
Other [ResearchCV DeirdreWilliams (collaborator)]	1	01 February 2017
Other [ClinicalNoteTemplate]	1	01 September 2016
Other [Eligibility&DiagnosticChecklist-Clinical]	1	01 September 2016
Other [Eligibility&DiagnosticChecklistOnline-NonClinical]	1	01 September 2016
Other [SelfReferralTelephoneScript]	1	01 February 2017
Other [Screening&:EnrolmentLog]	1	01 February 2017
Other [RiskManagementProtocol]	1	01 September 2016
Other [PrizeDrawAndPublicationSheet]	1	01 September 2016
Other [InspireFeedback]	1	01 September 2016
Other [SummaryOfChangesInspireFeedback]	1	01 September 2016
Other [Statement of activities]		
Other [Schedule of events]	<u> </u>	
Other [AftercareSheet_ClinicalCommunity]	2 Highlighted	12 May 2017
Other [AftercareSheet_ClinicalInpatient]	2 Highlighted	12 May 2017
Other [AftercareSheet_NonClinical]	2 Highlighted	12 May 2017
Other [Precare Sheet_NonClinical]	1	12 May 2017
Other [Response to Ethics Committee Feedback]	1	12 May 2017
Participant consent form [ConsentForm_Clinical]	1	01 February 2017
Participant consent form [ConsentFormOnline-NonClinical]	1	01 February 2017
Participant information sheet (PIS) [ParticipantInformationSheet- Clinical]	2 Highlighted	12 May 2017
Participant information sheet (PIS) [Participant Information Sheet - NonClinical]	2 Highlighted	12 May 2017
Research protocol or project proposal [ThesisProtocol]	1	01 March 2017
Summary CV for Chief Investigator (CI) [ResearchCV_CatherineGeorge]	1	01 February 2017

Page 4 of 8

IRAS project ID 213333

Summary CV for student [ResearchCV_DesireFurnes]	1	01 February 2017
Summary CV for supervisor (student research) [ResearchCV_SianCoker]	1	01 February 2017
Summary CV for supervisor (student research) [ResearchCV_JoanneHodgekins]	1	01 February 2017
Summary, synopsis or diagram (flowchart) of protocol in non technical language (On IneProcedureTemplate-NonClinical)	1	01 September 2016
Summary, synopsis or diagram (flowchart) of protocol in non technical language [DiagrammaticPresentationOfProcedure]	1	01 September 2016
Validated questionnaire [BorderlineSymptomList-23]	1	01 September 2016
Validated questionnaire [DifficultiesinEmotionRegulationScale]	1	01 September 2016
Validated questionnaire (DissociativeExperiencesScale-II)	1	01 September 2016
Validated questionnaire [EarlyTraumaInventorySetReport- ShortForm]	1	01 September 2016
Validated questionnaire [PsychosisAttachmentMeasure]	1	01 September 2016
Validated questionnaire (PTSDchecklistCivilianForm-ShortForm)	1	01 September 2016
Validated questionnaire (PostTraumaticCognitionsInventory)	1	01 September 2016
Validated questionnaire [SchizotypalSymptomsInventory- BriefVersion]	1	01 September 2016

IRAS project ID 213333

Appendix B - Summary of HRA Assessment

This appendix provides assurance to you, the sponsor and the NHS in England that the study, as reviewed for HRA Approval, is compliant with relevant standards. It also provides information and clarification, where appropriate, to participating NHS organisations in England to assist in assessing and arranging capacity and capability.

For information on how the sponsor should be working with participating NHS organisations in England, please refer to the, participating NHS organisations, capacity and capability and Allocation of responsibilities and rights are agreed and documented (4.1 of HRA assessment criteria) sections in this appendix.

The following person is the sponsor contact for the purpose of addressing participating organisation questions relating to the study:

Name: Tracy Moulton Email: Researchsponsor@uea.ac.uk

HRA assessment criteria

Section	HRA Assessment Criteria	Compliant with Standards	Comments
1.1	IRAS application completed correctly	Yes	No comments
2.1	Participant information/consent documents and consent process	Yes	Requested by assessor that IRAS number be added to the information sheets and consent forms.
3.1	Protocol assessment	Yes	No comments
4.1	Allocation of responsibilities and rights are agreed and documented	Yes	Statement of activities will form agreement between sponsor and participating NHS organisations.
4.2	Insurance indemnity arrangements assessed	Yes	Where applicable, independent contractors (e.g. General Practitioners) should ensure that the professional indemnity provided by their medical defence organisation covers the activities expected of them for this research study
4.3	Financial arrangements assessed	Yes	No external funding application made for this doctorate study.

Page 6 of 8

IRAS project ID 213333

Section	HRA Assessment Criteria	Compliant with Standards	Comments
5.1	Compliance with the Data Protection Act and data security issues assessed	Yes	No comments
5.2	CTIMPS – Arrangements for compliance with the Clinical Trials Regulations assessed	Not Applicable	
5.3	Compliance with any applicable laws or regulations	Yes	No comments
6.1	NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies	Yes	No comments
6.2	CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter received	Not Applicable	
6.3	Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received	Not Applicable	
6.4	Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received	Not Applicable	

Participating NH\$ Organisations In England

This provides detail on the types of participating NHS organisations in the study and a statement as to whether the activities at all organisations are the same or different.

At participating NHS organisations potential participants will be approached with information about the study. The researchers may also use NHS facilities for the study appointments.

The Chief Investigator or sponsor should share relevant study documents with participating NHS organisations in England in order to put arrangements in place to deliver the study. The documents should be sent to both the local study team, where applicable, and the office providing the research management function at the participating organisation. For NIHR CRN Portfolio studies, the Local LCRN contact should also be copied into this correspondence. For further guidance on working with participating NHS organisations please see the HRA website.

If chief investigators, sponsors or principal investigators are asked to complete site level forms for participating NHS organisations in England which are not provided in IRAS or on the HRA website, the chief investigator, sponsor or principal investigator should notify the HRA immediately at <u>hra.approval@nhs.net</u>. The HRA will work with these organisations to achieve a consistent approach to information provision.

Page 7 of 8

IRA8 project ID 210000

Confirmation of Capacity and Capability

This describes whether formal confirmation of capacity and capability is expected from participating NHS organisations in England.

Participating NHS organisations in England will be expected to formally confirm their capacity and capability to host this research.

- Following issue of this letter, participating NHS organisations in England may now confirm to the sponsor their capacity and capability to host this research, when ready to do so. How capacity and capacity will be confirmed is detailed in the Allocation of responsibilities and rights are agreed and documented (4.1 of HRA assessment criteria) section of this appendix.
- The <u>Assessing</u>, <u>Arranging</u>, <u>and Confirming</u> document on the HRA website provides further information for the sponsor and NHS organisations on assessing, arranging and confirming capacity and capability.

Principal Investigator Suitability

This confirms whether the sponsor position on whether a PI, LC or neither should be in place is correct for each type of participating NHS organisation in England and the minimum expectations for education, training and experience that PIs should meet (where applicable). The researchers will be responsible for conducting all research activities under academic supervision. A local collaborator may be required from NHS trusts to arrange access to NHS facilities for researchers and support conduct of study. GCP training is not a generic training expectation, in line with the HRA statement on training

GCP training is <u>not</u> a generic training expectation, in line with the <u>HRA statement on training</u> expectations.

HR Good Practice Resource Pack Expectations

This confirms the HR Good Practice Resource Pack expectations for the study and the pre-engagement checks that should and should not be undertaken

Where existing arrangements are not in place university researchers will require a letter of access to complete research activities within NHS organisations. It will need to be confirmed that appropriate DBS checks and occupational health checks have taken place.

Other Information to Aid Study Set-up

This details any other information that may be heipful to sponsors and participating NHS organisations in England to aid study set-up.

 The applicant has indicated that they <u>do not intend</u> to apply for inclusion on the NIHR CRN Portfolio.
Appendix F

Participant Information Sheets

Clinical Participant Information Sheet



Version 1, September 2016

Why have I been invited to take part?

Participant Information Sheet

We are inviting people to participate who are receiving NHS mental health care support for Psychosis or Borderline Personality Disorder. Your clinical team think you may be interested in taking part and have agreed for us to approach you.

Our project aims to recruit a total of 120 individuals over an 18 months period. This will include 40 individuals who are not receiving NHS mental health support and 80 individuals who are receiving NHS mental health support, in which 40 participants present with Psychosis and 40 present with Borderline Personality Disorder.

Do I have to take part? What happens if I change my mind?

No, taking part in this study is completely voluntary. If you do not wish to take part please tell the researcher. There will be no judgement or hard feelings from anyone and it will not affect the care that you receive now or in the future in any way. If you decide you would like to take part you are free to withdraw at any time and you do not have to give any reason.

What will I have to do if I take part?

If you do decide to take part the researcher will confirm that you understand the information in this leaflet and if you wish to continue, you will be asked to sign a consent form. The study will involve you completing a series of questionnaires. The questionnaires will ask you about your current mental health, possible childhood trauma, thoughts you may currently have, views on close relationships, and your experience and management of emotions.

The study questionnaires will be completed at your own pace and can be carried out in one go or over a few meetings. Taking part will take no longer than two hours in total and we will always try to make appointments at times and locations that suit you. The study will take place in a private room or where you feel most comfortable and we will be present until you have completed all questionnaires should you have any questions.

Participant Information Sheet

Version I, September 2016

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

All study questionnaires have been used on a large number of people in the UK and the world and it is key that people find them acceptable. Even so, the questions could cause someone to become upset. You do not have to answer questions you do not want to and you can stop filling in the questionnaires at any time.

A researcher will be present throughout and will provide advice and support if you become distressed. At any point if you or the researcher feel that you are in immediate danger to yourself or others they will assist you to immediately attend the local hospital A&E department. If you feel very distressed following taking part we advise you to speak to professionals involved in your care and seek medical advice where required. If you feel very distressed during out of hours, we suggest you use the out of hour's contact that we will give to you.

What are the possible benefits?

You may not benefit directly from taking part in the study. The results from this study will hopefully increase our understanding of how childhood trauma is linked to mental health difficulties later in life. Hopefully, this can contribute towards better care for individuals presenting with Borderline Personality Disorder and Psychosis.

What about expenses?

Although we cannot pay for your time or travel expenses, you will be invited to enter into a prize draw to receive one of four £20 amazon vouchers as a thank you for taking part in this research.

Participant Information Sheet

Version 1, September 2016

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

All information collected about you during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential and all identifiable information (your name and address) will be removed from the data. Throughout we will follow ethical and legal practice including upholding the Data Protection Act of 1998 regarding data collection, storage and destruction.

As you are receiving support from a mental health NHS Trust, a general letter will be sent to your clinical team to let them know you have participated in the study. A copy of your consent form and a copy of this leaflet will be copied into your medical notes. Unless there is information suggesting risk of harm to you or others, or unless you specifically request that we inform your care team of any specific information you have given, all the information collected in this study will not be exchanged with any other organisations or your General Practitioner (GP) without your consent.

What happens to my information after the study is completed?

You have the right to withdraw your information collected in the study questionnaires any time before the data is analysed, which will be around December 2017. When the study is completed, the data from the study will be kept for 10 years after the last publication, in accordance with the University of East Anglia's policy on storage of personal data. The study will also comply with any specific guidance provided by your NHS trust. Consent forms will be retained as essential documents, but items such as contact details will be destroyed in accordance with appropriate policies as soon as they are no longer needed.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The study will be written up as partial fulfilment of a Doctorate in Clinical Psychology at the University of East Anglia and is planned to be completed in 18 months. The research findings will be submitted to a relevant scientific journal and if you are interested, we will feed back the overall study results to you at the end of this time period.

Version 1, September 2016

Participant Information Sheet What if there is a problem?

If you have concerns about any aspect of this study, you should ask to speak to the researcher who will do their best to answer your questions (see contact number below). If they are unable to resolve your concern or you wish to make a formal complaint, you can contact Programme Director Professor Kenneth Laidlaw on K.Laidlaw@uea.ac.uk.

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the study due to negligence, then you may have legal grounds for action against The University of East Anglia, who are the sponsors of this research, however, you may have to pay your legal costs.

The University of East Anglia has cover for no fault compensation for bodily injury, mental injury or death where the injury resulted from a trial or procedure you received as part of the trial. This would be subject to policy terms and conditions. Any payment would be without legal commitment. (Please ask if you want more information).

Who is organising and funding the research?

All study expenses come from a budget available via the Department of Clinical Psychology within the University of East Anglia.

Who has reviewed the study?

All NHS based studies are checked by an independent group of people called a Research Ethics Committee. The Research Ethics Committee is devoted to protect your safety, rights, wellbeing and dignity. The study protocol has been reviewed and given a favourable opinion from the NHS ethics committee (*reference no.*) and a research sub-committee from the Department of Clinical Psychology within the University of East Anglia (*reference no.*).



Patient Information Leaflet - Non-clinical population Online Version



Participant Information Sheet Why have I been invited to take part?

We are inviting people to participate who are not currently, and have never received NHS mental health support. This will enable us to compare information collected from individuals receiving NHS support for Psychosis and Borderline Personality Disorder.

Our project aims to recruit a total of 120 individuals over an 18 months period. This will include 40 individuals who are not receiving NHS mental health support and 80 individuals who are receiving NHS mental health support, in which 40 participants present with Psychosis and 40 present with Borderline Personality Disorder

Do I have to take part? What happens if I change my mind?

No, taking part in this study is completely voluntary. If you do not wish to take part please tell the researcher. There will be no judgement or hard feelings from anyone. If you decide you would like to take part you are free to withdraw at any time and you do not have to give any reason.

What will I have to do if I take part?

The study involves completing a series of questionnaires on the internet. Therefore if you do decide to take part, you will need to have access to a device which can access the internet. You will be asked fill in a series of questions which will confirm that you understand the information in this leaflet and if you wish to continue, you will be asked to confirm that you consent to take part in the study. The study will involve you completing a series of questionnaires online. The questionnaires will ask you about your current mental health, possible childhood trauma, thoughts you may currently have, views on close relationships, and your experience and management of emotions. The study questionnaires will be completed at your own pace and can be carried out in session or over a few sessions. Taking part will take no longer than two hours in total. The study will take place in where you are able to access the online questionnaires. When you have completed all questionnaires there is an opportunity to email the research team with any questions you may have about the study.

Version 1, September 2016

Participant Information Sheet

Version 1, September 2016

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

All study questionnaires have been used on a large number of people in the UK and the world and it is key that people find them acceptable. Even so, the questions could cause someone to become upset. You do not have to answer questions you do not want to and you can stop filling in the questionnaires at any time.

If you are feeling very distressed as a result of taking part in the study we strongly advise you seek medical advice, such as visiting your General Practitioner (GP). If you feel that you are in immediate danger to yourself or others, please immediately attend the local hospital A&E department. Contact numbers for organisations you can contact for support will be provided to you after you have completed the questionnaires. You can request this information is also sent to you by email.

What are the possible benefits?

You may not benefit directly from taking part in the study. The results from this study will hopefully increase our understanding of how childhood trauma is linked to mental health difficulties later in life. Hopefully, this can contribute towards better care for individuals presenting with Borderline Personality Disorder and Psychosis.

What about expenses?

Although we cannot pay for your time, internet access or travel expenses, you will be invited to enter into a prize draw to receive one of four £20 amazon vouchers as a thank you for taking part in this research.

Participant Information Sheet

Version 1, September 2016

Will my taking part in the study be kept confidential?

All information collected about you during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential and all identifiable information (your name and address) will be removed from the data. Throughout we will follow ethical and legal practice including upholding the Data Protection Act of 1998 regarding data collection, storage and destruction.

Your decision to participate and all the information collected in this study will not be exchanged with any other organisations or your GP.

What happens to my information after the study is completed?

You have the right to withdraw your information collected in the study questionnaires any time before the data is analysed, which will be around December 2017. When the study is completed, the data from the study will be kept for 10 years after the last publication, in accordance with the University of East Anglia's policy on storage of personal data. The study will also comply with any specific guidance provided by your NHS trust. Consent forms will be retained as essential documents, but items such as contact details will be destroyed in accordance with appropriate policies as soon as they are no longer needed.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The study will be written up as partial fulfilment of a Doctorate in Clinical Psychology at the University of East Anglia and is planned to be completed in 18 months. The research findings will be submitted to a relevant scientific journal and if you are interested, we will feed back the overall study results to you at the end of this time period.

Participant Information Sheet

Version 1, September 2016

What if there is a problem?

If you have concerns about any aspect of this study, you should ask to speak to the researcher who will do their best to answer your questions (see contact details below). If they are unable to resolve your concern or you wish to make a formal complaint, you can contact Programme Director Professor Kenneth Laidlaw on K.Laidlaw@uea.ac.uk.

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the study due to negligence, then you may have legal grounds for action against The University of East Anglia, who are the sponsors of this research, however, you may have to pay your legal costs.

The University of East Anglia has cover for no fault compensation for bodily injury, mental injury or death where the injury resulted from a trial or procedure you received as part of the trial. This would be subject to policy terms and conditions. Any payment would be without legal commitment. (Please ask if you want more information).

Who is organising and funding the research?

All study expenses come from a budget available via the Department of Clinical Psychology within the University of East Anglia.

Who has reviewed the study?

All NHS based studies are checked by an independent group of people called a Research Ethics Committee. The Research Ethics Committee is devoted to protect your safety, rights, wellbeing and dignity. The study protocol has been reviewed and given a favourable opinion from the NHS ethics committee (*reference no.*) and a research sub-committee from the Department of Clinical Psychology within the University of East Anglia (*reference no.*).



Appendix G

Screening and Enrolment Log

Screening and Enrolment Log Version 1, February 2017 Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

Screening and Enrolment Log

Informed Consent (xx/xx/xx) Study non-identifiable Consent to contact Date Method of Date PIS Eligibility Method Date of Notes of Contact receiving PIS given (xx/xx/xx) criteria met (YES / NO) If refused or excluded, please give details Contact ID (xx/xx/xx) (xx/xx/xx)

Name of Trust: CPFT / NSFT

Page ____ of ____

Appendix H

Recruitment posters

Poster for Borderline Personality Disorder



Poster for Psychosis



Appendix I

Telephone Self-Referrals Guidance

Telephone Self-Referral

Version 1, September 2016

Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

Telephone Self-Referral – Guidance for Researcher

General telephone manner: Polite, open and friendly

1. Introduce yourself and your role in the study

"Hello, my name is ______ and I am one of the researchers for the study 'Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties', which looks at the impact of trauma, attachment, dissociation and management of emotions in different groups. Thank you for contacting us/letting us contact you in relation to this study".

2. Ask how they heard about the study (to gauge if they have discussed this with their clinical team or if they are self-referring)

"How did you hear about this study?" Clinical: poster or clinician

3. Check their current understanding of the study and ask if they would like to know more information about the study now?

"I would be happy to provide you with more information about the study or answer any questions you might have" If YES: some have only seen poster information while some have been given the Participant Information Sheet: in both instances, the information in the Participant Information Sheet will be used as a guide to outline the study If NO: "Thank you very much for talking to me. Feel free to contact me at a later point should you want to hear more about the study"

Telephone Self-Referral

Version 1, September 2016

4. Check if they have any questions regarding the information they have just received

Participant Information Sheet will be used as a guide to answer all possible questions and, should Participant Information Sheet not contain answers for the questions asked, local Trust policies will be used to inform answers. If unable to answer the question: "I am sorry that I am not able to answer your question right now. I will investigate this and call you back when I have a clear answer, is that okay? Thank you for your understanding".

5. Ask if they would be interested in taking part

If No: "That is completely fine, thank you very much for talking to me" If YES: "Thank you for your interest".

6. Explain that it is important to check if they would be suitable to take part and in order to do this we have a few questions – obtain verbal consent to ask some general questions

If Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist is not completed in collaboration with clinician before initial contact with client (for clinical referrals): "We have to make sure that everyone that is interested in a study appointment fit the criteria set for the study. Is it okay that I ask you some general questions?"

If NO: "That is completely fine, thank you very much for talking the time to talk to me"

If YES: complete the appropriate Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist by reading up each statement to the respondent and ask them to respond with YES or NO answers. Ask for permission to contact clinician/care team involved in their care.

If NO: "Alright, it is completely understandable that you do not want us to contact your clinician/care team. However, one of the criteria for participation when under the care of NHS is that clinicians/care teams are informed of your interest to participate in the study and check whether they think it is suitable for you to participate before we book in a study appointment. Could I ask you why you don't want them to be contacted? Would it help if I explained the reasons why clinicians/care teams are involved?"

If YES: "Thank you, involving clinician/care teams is required for everyone under the care of NHS. I will make contact with your clinician/care team and once I have spoken with them I will contact you again". Telephone Self-Referral

Version 1, September 2016

7. For all respondents: explain the outcome of the questions to the individual and check if they have any questions relating to this or the study in general.

If not eligible: "Thank you for your time and for considering participating. Unfortunately you are not eligible to take part in this research because you do not meet the criteria set for this study. This is because research studies in general have specific things that they are looking for, which will be different from study to study. For this specific study, we are looking for (state criteria they do not meet) which means that this study would not be appropriate for you to participate in. This does not affect your care in any way and will not stop you from participating in other research studies as they all have different criteria. Do you have any questions regarding this? Thank you for your time and interest".

If eligible: "Thank you for time and for considering participating. You have been found eligible to participate in this study, would you like further details of what happens on the study appointment?"

If YES: "The next step now is to set a time and location for us to meet. When we meet for the appointment you will be provided with a questionnaire booklet. Since this study will include questions that might be distressing for some people, such as traumatic childhood events, it is important to inform you of this now. I will be present during the time you fill in the booklet. Should you experience any distress during or after completing the questionnaire, we can talk about this and your clinician/care team will be informed. Also, you can withdraw at any time without any explanation and this will not affect in you negatively in any way or influence your treatment or support. I will also provide you with an aftercare sheet that includes guidance on who you can contact should you feel distressed after leaving the appointment. Do you have any questions?

Appendix J

NHS Trust Specific Checklists

Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) checklist

NSFT	Completed
Eligibility and diagnostic checklist	
Verbal consent to contact documented (via clinician OR via email with clinician)	
CONSENT TO CONTACT DATE:	
CONSENT TO CONTACT via:	
Documentation of all contact (to later be uploaded to client records OR sent to clinician to up-	
load)	
Information about self-referral/	
PIS sent / PIS visit - Document date and method of how this was done	
DATE:	
METHOD:	
Speak about confidentiality – break confidentiality if current risks to self or others is	
disclosed	
Informed written consent: (Two versions to be completed)	
DATE:TIME:	
METHOD:	
RESEARCHER:	

QUESTIONS ASKED	
Questionnaire pack completion	
RISK ISSUES:	
CHECK QUESTIONS ARE ALL ANSWERED	
CHECK RISK QUESTIONS IN QUESTIONNAIRE (Check responses to the BSL-23	
supplement items – if indicating risk, ask if their care team is aware of these incidents and ask	
for verbal consent to pass this information to the care team. If they respond no, remind them	
of breaks of confidentiality as discussed previously)	
CONSENT TO SHARE INFORMATION WITH CARE TEAM? (i.e. ask whether the	
participant want to share specific information provided in the booklet or whether clinicians	
can have access to a copy of the whole questionnaire booklet)	
PRIZE DRAW & PUBLICATION SHEET	
AFTER CARE SHEET	
Ensure correct contact number is on this!	
COMPLETION TIME	
Questionnaire pack labelling	
Date	
- Date	
- Participant ID number	
- Page number	
Make sure demographic sheet has these details on it at the top	

7711	
Filing	
 Consent form into specific location on NSFT site (locked draw) 	
 Prize draw sheet into specific location on NSFT site (locked draw) 	
- Questionnaire pack stored in NSFT or relocated to site file / another specific	
location.	
-	
Lorenzo	
- Document any prior contact which has not been uploaded or documented yet	
(follow guidance in clinical note template)	
 Document current contact (follow guidance in clinical note template) 	
- Upload consent form	
- Upload PIS	
 Flag involvement in research on Lorenzo following guidance from: 	
http://intranet.nsft.nhs.uk/trustprogramme/lorenzo/Lorenzo%20Documents/QRG%20- %20Alerts%20-%20Record%20and%20Modifying%20Alerts%20V3.0.pdf	
- Inform clinician of participation using Clinician Information Letter and inform	
of any risk issues	
Complete screening and enrolment log (for everyone that have been seen by	
the research team)	

CPFT	Completed
Eligibility and diagnostic checklist	
Consent to contact documented (via clinician OR via email with clinician)	
CONSENT TO CONTACT DATE:	
CONSENT TO CONTACT via:	
Documentation of all contact (to later be uploaded to client records OR sent to clinician to up-	
load)	
Information about self-referral/	
PIS sent / PIS visit - Document date and method of how this was done	
ENSURE PIS HAS CPFT STICKER	
DATE:	
METHOD-	
Consent:	
- X2 copies (one for researcher and one for the participant) & information filled in	
on the top of the copy	
ENSURE CONSENT FORMS HAVE CPFT STICKER	
DATE: TIME:	
METHOD:	
RESEARCHER:	

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT) checklist

OTHER PEOPLE PRESENT	
O MERTEOLE I RESERVI	
QUESTIONS ASKED	
Questionnaire pack completion	
RISK ISSES:	
CHECK QUESTIONS ARE ALL ANSWERED	
CHECK DISK OUTSTIONS IN OUTSTIONNAIDE	
CHECK KISK QUESTIONS IN QUESTIONNAIKE	
CONSENT TO SHAPE INFORMATION WITH CAPE TEAM?	
CONSENT TO SHARE INFORMATION WITH CARE TEAM.	
PRIZE DRAW & PUBLICATION SHEET	
AFTER CARE SHEET	
Ensure correct contact number is on this!	
COMPLETION TIME	
Questionnaire pack labelling	
- Date	
- Participant ID number	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
- Page number	
<u>Make sure demographic sheet has these details on it at the top</u>	
Filing	
rung	
 Consent form into specific location on CPFT site (locked draw) 	
 Prize draw sheet into specific location on CPFT site (locked draw) 	

-	Questionnaire pack stored in CPFT or relocated to site file / another specific	
	location.	
Die		
K10		
-	Document contact (follow guidance in clinical note template)	
-	Document any prior contact which has not been uploaded or documented yet	
-	Upload consent form	
-	Upload PIS (with CPFT sticker!)	
-	Inform clinician of participation using Clinician Information Letter and inform of	
	any risk issues	
Comple	ete screening and enrolment log	

Appendix K

Clinical Note Template

Varuion 1, September 2016

Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

Template for Clinical Note Entry

Participation in Research Study: 'Exploring The Impact of Trauma and Developmental Factors in Individuals with Mental Health Difficulties'

Researcher: XXXXXXXX

- Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist [Version X, date] completed by / with the guidance from XXXXXX on XX/XXXXX.
- Participant Information Sheet [Version X, date] was given to the participant through insert method of contact on XX/XX/XX).
- (If applicable) Telephone conversation on XXXXXX with XXXXXX. The general study
 related content was discussed. Insert any specific information about the conversation that
 could impact on their decision to participate, including the questions asked about the study
 and the content of the researcher responses to them.
- The participant was given an opportunity to ask questions about the study insert
 information about key discussion points relating to the study and outcome of any these.
 - The participant gave informed consent [Version X, date] to participate in the research study 'Exploring The Impact of Trauma and Developmental Factors in Individuals with Mental Health Difficulties' on XXXXXX at XX-XX am/pm. XXXXXX took consent, XXXXXXX was present at the time informed consent was given.
 - Total duration of visit: XX minutes.
- On XXXXXX the study questionnaires were completed. XXXXXX was present throughout. Participation in this research study is now complete and the participant has been given an After Care sheet [Version X, date] in case they feel distressed following participation.

The Participant Information Sheet [Version X, date] and consent form [Version X, date] have been uploaded to the clinical notes. For further information and any queries about the study please contact the research team on:

(insert researcher details here)

Appendix L

Clinician Related Documents

Clinician Information Sheet

Clinician Letter	ITA	Version 1, September 2016
		ert local address here
Insert clinician address here		
Dear [Insert Clinician Name],		
We would like to let you know about ou	r research study (outlined below	v) that may be of interest
to you and your clients. I would kindly a	sk you to consider referring cli	ents for possible
participation if they fulfil criteria below	-	-
Exploring the impact of trauma and a	levelopmental factors in individ	luals with mental health
	difficulties	
he study aims to get a better understand	ing of how childhood trauma, tr	auma-induced cognitions,
issociation, attachment styles and emoti	on management differ between	individuals with BPD and
sychosis, and how the groups differ from	n non-clinical individuals. By e	sploring how these factors
iteract we hope to increase the understand	iding of how trauma influence t	he development of
sycnopathology, which will hopefully c	ontribute towards the developm	ent of more individualised
nd more effective freatment.		
he eligibility criteria for this study is:		
18-65 years and fluent in English	language	
Borderline Personality Disorder a	s a primary diagnosis and no se	condary diagnosis of a
Psychotic disorder OR Psychotic	lisorder as a primary diagnosis	and no secondary
diagnosis of Borderline Personali	y Disorder	
Ability to understand and willing	to give written informed conser	t .
No current difficulties that compr	omise completion of the study of	uestionnaires
Substance use that is considered a	ence fisk	reon's shility to give
informed consent and participate	n the study	ison's ability to give
	_	
We look forward to speak with clients is	your service who may be inter	ested in participating in
this study. Please feel free to contact us	if you have any questions of if y	you would like us to
organise a presentation to your team. w	a contact us directly using the	ney have given you
provided below.	in contact us directly using the c	contact miormation
Researchers: Cat G	eorge & Desire Furnes	
Telephone: Study n	obile number(s) inserted here	
Email: study email	inserted here@nhs.net	
Thank you for your time and considerat	on.	
Yours Sincerely		
Cat George & Desire Furnes		
Trainee Clinical Psychologists. Universi	ty of East Anglia	
	,	

Template for informing clinician of participation

Version 1, September 2016

Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

Template for informing clinician / care team after

a client has consented and participated in study

Dear XXXX,

I am writing to you to inform you that your client, XXXX [insert NHS number], has consented and taken part in the research study: 'Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental difficulties'.

The research team has uploaded the relevant consent form and Participant Information Sheet to their NHS care records. The research team has written an entry into their clinical notes documenting their involvement.

If you have any queries about this study or your clients participation please do not hesitate to get in contact with the research team.

Best wishes,

XXXXX

Insert Research Team contact details here

Appendix M

Prize Draw and Publication Sheet

$(\bigcirc$			\sim
Ĭ	Prize Draw/Publication	University of East Anglia	Version 1, September 2016
	Exploring the impact	of trauma and developmental	factors in individuals
		with mental health difficulties	
	If you are interested in enterin vouchers OR you would like the researchers of your decision Your email address will be sto completed.	ng a prize draw for the opportunity to to receive information on the overall s on and give them the relevant contact ored securely and separately from the	win one of four £20 Amazon study findings, please inform details. <i>questionnaires you have</i>
	I would like to be enter	ed into the prize draw	Please tick
	I would like to receive in	nformation on the overall study findin	gs
	Name:		
	Email / Postal Address:		
0			

Appendix N

Questionnaire Pack

J. Douglas Bremner, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta GA		
Participant Name or ID: DOB: Age: Assessmen	Date:	
Part 1. General Traumas. After the age of 18		
1. Were you ever exposed to a life-threatening natural disaster?	YES	NO
2. Were you involved in a serious accident?	YES	NO
3. Did you ever suffer a serious personal injury or illness?	YES	NO
4. Did you ever experience the death or serious illness of a parent or a primary		
caretaker?	YES	NO
5. Did you experience the divorce or separation of your parents?	YES	NO
6. Did you experience the death or serious injury of a sibling?	YES	NO
7. Did you ever experience the death or serious injury of a friend?	YES	NO
8. Did you ever witness violence towards others, including family members?	YES	NO
 Did anyone in your family ever suffer from mental or psychiatric illness or have a a "breakdown"? 	YES	NO
10. Did your parents or primary caretaker have a problem with alcoholism or drug or		
drug abuse?	YES	NO
11. Did vou ever see someone murdered?	YES	NO
5		
Part 2. Physical Punishment. <u>Before the age of 18</u>		
1. Were you ever slapped in the face with an open hand?	YES	NO
2. Were you ever burned with hot water, a cigarette or something else?	YES	NO
3. Were you ever punched or kicked?	YES	NO
4. Were you ever hit with an object that was thrown at you?	YES	NO
5. Were you ever pushed or shoved?	YES	NO
Part 3. Emotional Abuse. <u>Before the age of 18</u>		
1. Were you often put down or ridiculed?	YES	NO
2. Were you often ignored or made to feel that you didn't count?	YES	NO
3. Were you often told you were no good?	YES	NO
4. Most of the time were you treated in a cold, uncaring way or made to feel like you		
were not loved?	YES	NO
5. Did your parents or caretakers often fail to understand you or your needs?	YES	NO
Part 4. Sexual Events. <u>Before the age of 18</u>		
1. Were you ever touched in an intimate or private part of your body (e.g breast,		
thighs, genitals) in a way that surprised you or made you feel uncomfortable?	YES	NO
2. Did you ever experience someone rubbing their genitals against you?	YES	NO
3. Were you ever forced or coerced to touch another person in an intimate or private		
part of their body?	YES	NO
4. Did anyone ever have genital sex with you against your will?	YES	NO
5. Were you ever forced or coerced to perform oral sex on someone against your will?	YES	NO
6. Were you ever forced or coerced to kiss someone in a sexual rather than an		
affectionate way?	YES	NO
f you responded "YES" for any of the above events, answer the following for the one that	t has ha	d the greatest
mpact on your life. In answering consider how you felt <u>at the time of the event.</u>		
	MEG	NO
1. Did you experience emotions of intense fear, horror or helplessness?	YES	NO
2. Did you teel out-ot-your-body or as it you were in a dream?	YES.	NO

Revised on 11/04

6- Item PTSD Checklist-Civilian Form (PCL-C)

Instructions to patient: "Below is a list of problems and complaints that people sometimes have in response to stressful life experiences. Please read each one carefully, and then fill in the circle of the response to indicate how much you have been bothered by that problem **IN THE PAST MONTH**." Please fill in ONE option only for each question."

	Response	Not at all (1)	A little bit (2)	Moderately (3)	Quite a bit (4)	Extremely (5)
1.	Repeated, disturbing <i>memories, thoughts,</i> or <i>images</i> of a stressful experience from the past?					
4.	Feeling very upset when something reminded you of a stressful experience from the past?					
7.	Avoid activities or situations because they remind you of a stressful experience from the past?					
10.	Feeling distant or cut off from other people?					
14.	Feeling irritable or having angry outbursts?					
15.	Having difficulty concentrating?					

Total Score

The Psychosis Attachment Measure

(Berry, Wearden, Barrowclough & Liversidge, 2006)

We all differ in how we relate to other people. This questionnaire lists different thoughts, feelings and ways of behaving in relationships with others. Thinking generally about how you relate to other key people in your life, please use a tick to show how much each statement is like you. Key people could include family members, friends, partner or mental health workers.

There are no right or wrong answers

	Not at all	A little	Quite a bit	Very much
1. I prefer not to let other people know my 'true' thoughts and feelings.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
2. I find it easy to depend on other people for support with problems or difficult situations.	(.3.)	(.2.)	(.1.)	(.0.)
3. I tend to get upset, anxious or angry if other people are not there when I need them.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
4. I usually discuss my problems and concerns with other people.	(.3.)	(.2.)	(.1.)	(.0.)
5. I worry that key people in my life won't be around in the future.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
6. I ask other people to reassure me that they care about me.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(2.)	(.3.)
7. If other people disapprove of something I do, I get very upset.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
8. I find it difficult to accept help from other people when I have problems or difficulties.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
9. It helps to turn to other people when I'm stressed.	(.3.)	(.2.)	(.1.)	(.0.)

	Not at all	A little	Quite a bit	Very much
10. I worry that if other people get to know me better, they won't like me.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
11. When I'm feeling stressed, I prefer being on my own to being in the company of other people.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
12. I worry a lot about my relationships with other people.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
13. I try to cope with stressful situations on my own.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
14. I worry that if I displease other people, they won't want to know me anymore.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
15. I worry about having to cope with problems and difficult situations on my own.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)
16. I feel uncomfortable when other people want to get to know me better.	(.0.)	(.1.)	(.2.)	(.3.)

Serenity Programme™ - <u>serene.me.uk</u> - Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS)

	1 Almost never (0-10%)	2 Sometimes (11-35%)	3 About half the time (36-65%)	4 Most of the time (66-90%)	5 Almost always (91-100%)
13	When I'm upse	et, l have difficult	y getting work done		
14	When I'm upse	et, I become out	of control		
15	When I'm upse	et, I believe that I	l will remain that way	for a long time	
16	When I'm upse	et, I believe that I	I'll end up feeling ver	y depressed	
17	When I'm upse	et, I believe that r	my feelings are valid	and important (R)	
18	When I'm upse	et, I have difficult	y focusing on other t	hings	
19	When I'm upse	et, I feel out of co	ontrol		
20	When I'm upse	et, I can still get t	hings done (R)		
21	When I'm upse	et, I feel ashamed	d with myself for feel	ing that way	
22	When I'm upse	et, I <mark>kn</mark> ow that I c	an find a way to ever	ntually feel better (R)
23	When I'm upse	et, I feel like I am	weak		
24	When I'm upse	et, I feel like I can	rema <mark>in i</mark> n control of	my behaviours (R)	
25	When I'm upse	et, I feel guilty for	r feeling that way		
26	When I'm upse	et, I have difficult	y concentrating		
27	When I'm upse	et, l have difficult	y controlling my beh	aviours	

35	1 Almost never (0-10%)	2 Sometimes (11-35%)	3 About half the time (36-65%)	4 Most of the time (66-90%)	5 Almost always (91-100%)
28	When I'm upse	et, I believe that t	there is nothing I can	do to make myself	feel better
29	When I'm upse	et, l become irrita	ted with myself for f	eeling that way	
30	When I'm upse	et, I start to feel v	very bad about mysel	f	
31	When I'm upse	et, I believe that v	wallowing in it is all I	can do	
32	When I'm upse	et, I lose control o	over my behaviours		
33	When I'm upse	et, I have difficult	y thinking about any	thing else	
34	When I'm upse	et, I take time to	figure out what I'm re	eally feeling (R)	
35	When I'm upse	et, it takes me a k	ong time to feel bette	er	
36	When I'm upse	et, my emotions f	feel overwhelming		

Serenity Programme™ - serene.me.uk - Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS)

Document Version: 1.1 Last Updated: 05 June 2013 Planned Review: 30 June 2018

Privacy - please note - this form does not transmit any information about you or your assessment scores If you wish to keep your results, you must print this document These results are intended as a guide to your health and are presented for educational purposes only They are not intended to be a clinical diagnosis If you are concerned in any way about your health, please consult with a qualified health professional.

Gratz, K.L. & Roemer, E. Multidimensional Assessment of Emotion Regulation and Dysregulation: Development, Factor Structure, and Initial Validation of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale. Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 26: 1, pp. 41-54.

Serenity Programme™ - serene.me.uk - Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS)

1	2	3	4	5
Almost never	Sometimes	About half the time	Most of the time	Almost always
(0-10%)	(11-35%)	(36-65%)	(66-90%)	(91-100%)

SCORING THE DERS

The DERS is a brief, 36-item self-report questionnaire designed to assess multiple aspects of emotional dysregulation. Reverse-scored items are numbered 1, 2, 6, 7, 8, 10, 17, 20, 22, 24 and 34. Higher scores suggest greater problems with emotion regulation. The measure yields a total score (SUM) as well as scores on six sub-scales:

- 1. Non-acceptance of emotional responses (NONACCEPT)
- 2. Difficulties engaging in goal directed behaviour (GOALS)
- 3. Impulse control difficulties (IMPULSE)
- 4. Lack of emotional awareness (AWARE)
- 5. Limited access to emotion regulation strategies (STRATEGIES)
- 6. Lack of emotional clarity (CLARITY)

1: Nonacceptance of Emotional Responses (NONACCEPT)

25) When I'm upset, I feel guilty for feeling that way

21) When I'm upset, I feel ashamed with myself for feeling that way

12) When I'm upset, I become embarrassed for feeling that way

11) When I'm upset, I become angry with myself for feeling that way

29) When I'm upset, I become irritated with myself for feeling that way

23) When I'm upset, I feel like I am weak

2: Difficulties Engaging in Goal-Directed (GOALS)

- 26) When I'm upset, I have difficulty concentrating
- 18) When I'm upset, I have difficulty focusing on other things
- 13) When I'm upset, I have difficulty getting work done
- 33) When I'm upset, I have difficulty thinking about anything else
- 20) When I'm upset, I can still get things done (R)

Serenity Programme™ - <u>serene.me.uk</u> - Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS)

1	2	3	4	5
Almost never	Sometimes	About half the time	Most of the time	Almost always
(0-10%)	(11-35%)	(36-65%)	(66-90%)	(91-100%)

3: Impulse Control Difficulties (IMPULSE)

- 32) When I'm upset, I lose control over my behaviours
- 27) When I'm upset, I have difficulty controlling my behaviours
- 14) When I'm upset, I become out of control
- 19) When I'm upset, I feel out of control
- 3) I experience my emotions as overwhelming and out of control
- 24) When I'm upset, I feel like I can remain in control of my behaviours (R)

4: Lack of Emotional Awareness (AWARE)

- 6) I am attentive to my feelings (R)
- 2) I pay attention to how I feel (R)
- 10) When I'm upset, I acknowledge my emotions (R)
- 17) When I'm upset, I believe that my feelings are valid and important (R)
- 8) I care about what I am feeling (R)
- 34) When I'm upset, I take time to figure out what I'm really feeling (R)

5: Limited Access to Emotion Regulation Strategies (STRATEGIES)

- 16) When I'm upset, I believe that I'll end up feeling very depressed
- 15) When I'm upset, I believe that I will remain that way for a long time
- 31) When I'm upset, I believe that wallowing in it is all I can do
- 35) When I'm upset, it takes me a long time to feel better
- 28) When I'm upset, I believe that there is nothing I can do to make myself feel better
- 22) When I'm upset, I know that I can find a way to eventually feel better (R)
- 36) When I'm upset, my emotions feel overwhelming
- 30) When I'm upset, I start to feel very bad about myself

6: Lack of Emotional Clarity (CLARITY)

- 5) I have difficulty making sense out of my feelings
- 4) I have no idea how I am feeling
- 9) I am confused about how I feel
- 7) I know exactly how I am feeling (R)
- 1) I am clear about my feelings (R)


..... 10. Some people have the experience of being accused of lying when they do not think that they have lied. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 11. Some people have the experience of looking in a mirror and not recognizing themselves. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 12. Some people have the experience of feeling that other people, objects, and the world around them are not real. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 13. Some people have the experience of feeling that their body does not seem to belong to them. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 14. Some people have the experience of sometimes remembering a past event so vividly that they feel as if they were reliving that event. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 15. Some people have the experience of not being sure whether things that they remember happening really did happen or whether they just dreamed them. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 16. Some people have the experience of being in a familiar place but finding it strange and unfamiliar. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 17. Some people find that when they are watching television or a movie they become so absorbed in the story that they are unaware of other events happening around them. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 18. Some people find that they become so involved in a fantasy or daydream that it feels as though it were really happening to them. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 19. Some people find that they sometimes are able to ignore pain. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 20. Some people find that they sometimes sit staring off into space, thinking of nothing, and are not aware of the passage of time. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 21. Some people sometimes find that when they are alone they talk out loud to themselves. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 2

..... 22. Some people find that in one situation they may act so differently compared with another situation that they feel almost as if they were two different people. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% this happens to you. 23. Some people sometimes find that in certain situations they are able to do things with amazing ease and spontaneity that would usually be difficult for them (for example, sports, work, social situations, etc.). Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 24. Some people sometimes find that they cannot remember whether they have done something or have just thought about doing that thing (for example, not knowing whether they have just mailed a letter or have just thought about mailing it). Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 25. Some people find evidence that they have done things that they do not remember doing. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 26. Some people sometimes find writings, drawings, or notes among their belongings that they must have done but cannot remember doing. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% you. 27. Some people sometimes find that they hear voices inside their head that tell them to do things or comment on things that they are doing. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% to you. 28. Some people sometimes feel as if they are looking at the world through a fog, so that people and objects appear far away or unclear. Circle the number to show what percentage of the time this happens to you. 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% 3

posttraumatic cognitions inventory (pcti)

your name:

today's date:

We are interested in the kind of thoughts which you may have had after a traumatic experience. Below are a number of statements that may or may not be representative of your thinking. Please read each statement carefully and tell us how much you AGREE or DISAGREE with each by putting the appropriate number between 1 & 7 in the box to the right of the statement. People react to traumatic events in many different ways. There are no right or wrong answers to these statements.

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
totally	disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	agree	totally
disagree	very much	slightly		slightly	very much	agree

1.	the event happened because of the way I acted	
2.	I can't trust that I will do the right thing	
3.	I am a weak person	
4.	I will not be able to control my anger and will do something terrible	
5.	I can't deal with even the slightest upset	
6.	I used to be a happy person but now I am always miserable.	
7.	people can't be trusted	
8.	I have to be on guard all the time	
9.	I feel dead inside	
10.	you can never know who will harm you	
11.	I have to be especially careful because you never know what can happen next	
12.	I am inadequate	
13.	if I think about the event, I will not be able to handle it	
14.	the event happened to me because of the sort of person I am	
15.	my reactions since the event mean that I am going crazy	
16.	I will never be able to feel normal emotions again	
17.	the world is a dangerous place	
18.	somebody else would have stopped the event from happening	
19.	I have permanently changed for the worse	
20.	I feel like an object, not like a person	
21.	somebody else would not have gotten into this situation	
22.	I can't rely on other people	
23.	I feel isolated and set apart from others	
24.	I have no future	
25.	I can't stop bad things from happening to me	
26.	people are not what they seem	
27.	my life has been destroyed by the trauma	
28.	there is something wrong with me as a person	
29.	my reactions since the event show that I am a lousy coper	
30.	there is something about me that made the event happen	
31.	I feel like I don't know myself anymore	
32.	I can't rely on myself	
33.	nothing good can happen to me anymore	

SSI (Brief Version)

Please answer each item depending on how often (if at all) this experience has occurred over the **past 2 weeks**. Please answer all of the questions honestly, even if you are unsure of your answer.

 I sometimes avoid going to places where there will be many people because I will get anxious. 	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
2. Do you believe in telepathy (mind-reading)?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
 I am sure I am being talked about behind my back. 	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Oflen	All of the time
 I get very nervous when I have to make polite conversation. 	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Oflen	All of the time
5. Have you had the sense that some person or force is around you, even though you cannot see anyone?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
6. Do you often feel that other people have got it in for you?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Oflen	All of the time
I feel very uneasy talking to people I do not know well.	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Oflen	All of the time
 Have you noticed a common event or object that seemed to contain a special sign for you? 	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Oflen	All of the time
9. When you see people talking to each other, do you often wonder if they are talking about you?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
 I often hear a voice speaking my thoughts aloud. 	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Oflen	All of the time
11. Do you often feel nervous when you are in a group of unfamiliar people?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Oflen	All of the time
12. I often feel that others have it in for me.	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
13. Have you seen things invisible to other people?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Oflen	All of the time

 I feel very uncomfortable in social situations involving unfamiliar people. 	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
15. Do you sometimes feel that people are talking about you?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
16. Can other people feel your feelings when they are not there?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
17. I get anxious when meeting people for the first time.	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
 Do you believe in clairvoyancy (psychic forces, fortune telling)? 	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
19. Do you sometimes feel that other people are watching you?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time
20. Have you felt that you are communicating with another person telepathically (by mind-reading)?	Not at all	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	All of the time

Borderline Symptom List 23 (BSL-23)

Code: _____

Date: _____

Please follow these instructions when answering the questionnaire: In the following table you will find a set of difficulties and problems which possibly describe you. Please work through the questionnaire and decide how much you suffered from each problem in the course of the last week. In case you have no feelings at all at the present moment, please answer according to how you *think you might have felt*. Please answer honestly. **All questions refer to the last week. If you felt different ways at different times in the week, give a rating for how things were for you on average.**

Please be sure to answer each question.

In	the course of last week	not at all	a little	rather	much	very strong
1	It was hard for me to concentrate	0	1	2	3	4
2	I felt helpless	0	1	2	3	4
3	I was absent-minded and unable to remember what I was actually doing	0	1	2	3	4
4	I felt disgust	0	1	2	3	4
5	I thought of hurting myself	0	1	2	3	4
6	I didn't trust other people	0	1	2	3	4
7	I didn't believe in my right to live	0	1	2	3	4
8	I was lonely	0	1	2	3	4
9	I experienced stressful inner tension	0	1	2	3	4
10	I had images that I was very much afraid of	0	1	2	3	4
11	I hated myself	0	1	2	3	4
12	I wanted to punish myself	0	1	2	3	4
13	I suffered from shame	0	1	2	3	4
14	My mood rapidly cycled in terms of anxiety, anger, and depression	0	1	2	3	4
15	I suffered from voices and noises from inside or outside my head	0	1	2	3	4
16	Criticism had a devastating effect on me	0	1	2	3	4
17	I felt vulnerable	0	1	2	3	4
18	The idea of death had a certain fascination for me	0	1	2	3	4
19	Everything seemed senseless to me		1	2	3	4
20	I was afraid of losing control	0	1	2	3	4
21	I felt disgusted by myself	0	1	2	3	4
22	I felt as if I was far away from myself	0	1	2	3	4
23	I felt worthless	0	1	2	3	4

Now we would like to know in addition the quality of your **overall** personal state in the course of the last week. 0% means **absolutely down**, 100% means **excellent**. Please check the percentage which comes closest.

0%	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	90%	100%
(very bad	₀ ←									(excellent)

	BSL - Supplement: Items for Assessi	ng Be	havio	pr		
	During the last week	Not at all	once	2-3 times	4-6 times	Daily or more often
1	I hurt myself by cutting, burning, strangling, headbanging etc.	0	1	2	3	4
2	I told other people that I was going to kill myself	0	1	2	3	4
3	I tried to commit suicide	0	1	2	3	4
4	I had episodes of binge eating	0	1	2	3	4
5	I induced vomiting	0	1	2	3	4
6	I displayed high-risk behavior by knowingly driving too fast, running around on the roofs of high buildings, balanc- ing on bridges, etc.	0	1	2	3	4
7	I got drunk	0	1	2	3	4
8	I took drugs	0	1	2	3	4
9	I took medication that had not been prescribed or if had been prescribed, I took more than the prescribed dose	0	1	2	3	4
10	I had outbreaks of uncontrolled anger or physically at- tacked others	0	1	2	3	4
11	I had uncontrollable sexual encounters of which I was later ashamed or which made me angry.	0	1	2	3	4

Please double-check for missing answers

WE THANK YOU VERY MUCH FOR YOUR PARTICIPATION! PLEASE RETURN THE QUESTIONNAIRE TO YOUR THERAPIST

Appendix O

Pre-Care Information Sheet



Appendix P

Aftercare Sheets

Clinical Group



Non-Clinical Group

After Care Information	Unversity of East Angles	Version 1, September 2016
Exploring the impact of tra	uma and developmenta mental health difficultion	al factors in individuals with es
Aftercare Infor	mation - Lookin	g After Yourself
Thank you for being involved in t you feel you need to share someth people and organisations availabl Practitioner (GP) who can discuss necessary.	his study, we really apprecia ning or talk to someone after e to support you. We advise y s any problems you may have	te your time and commitment. If completing the study there are you to contact your local General e and refer you to other services if
If you would like to self-refer to y http://www.nhs.uk/Service-Search	our local Mental Health team to find out your local service	n please use ce contact details.
If you are feeling in extreme thoughts, or you have serio • go to a hospital A&E depa 999 and ask for an ambular	e crisis right now and you t usly harmed yourself: Intment and ask for help (if nce).	hink you may act on suicidal you need to, you can call
Other organisations and The following organisations are - The Samaritans (24 hot 08457909090 - Rethink (Mon-Fri, 9:30a 0300 5000 927 - Victim Support (Mon-Fr 0808 168 9111 v	helplines e available for you to acce urs, 7 days a week) www.samaritans.org um-4pm) www.rethink.org i, 8pm-8am;Weekends, 24 www.vitctimsupport.org	ss: hour service)

Appendix Q

Clinical Group Recruitment and Procedure Diagrams



Appendix R

Risk Management Protocol

Risk Management Protocol

Version 1, September 2016

Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

<u>Risk Management Protocol – Clinical Groups</u>

- Risk assessment will be completed throughout study-related contact. If
 participants experience any distress during or after participation, local NHS
 procedures will be followed and advice from care teams and supervisors will
 be sought immediately.
- Participants, clinicians and care teams will be informed of the content of the questionnaire booklet and potential distress by sensitive questions will be emphasised prior to participation.
- The Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist (Version 1, September 2016) will be completed for each participant prior to ensure that only participants deemed eligible are offered study appointments.
- Study appointments will be scheduled at suitable NHS locations and preferably prior to routine care appointments. Home visits will only be offered to clients that presents with low risk and in agreement with the client's care team.

If risk is revealed during or after study participation

- Study participation will be stopped immediately and a thorough risk assessment will be conducted.
- Appropriate action will then be taken depending on the outcome of the risk assessment and will be considered on a case-by-case basis.
- If the participant remains distressed, relevant care teams and supervisors will be approached for advice and involved immediately to ensure safety.
- All participants will be provided with aftercare sheets, which give participants clear guidance on how to proceed should they need support.

Risk Management Protocol – NonClinical

 As the non-clinical group is recruited online, risk will only be assessed during the initial phase when completing the Eligibility and Diagnostic Checklist; participants that answers YES to the question "Are you currently or have you ever been under the care of a mental health NHS team?" will be deemed ineligible for participation. Further, if participants answers YES to the question "Do you currently have any thoughts or plans about hurting yourself

of ending your life?", they will be excluded from participating in the study and redirected to a page providing aftercare information and signposting them to relevant services.

- Participants can chose to withdraw at any point by closing down the online study site.
- After participants complete the questionnaires they will be provided with signposting information and aftercare information that they can choose to email to themselves. Participants will be strongly encouraged to make contact with health care professionals should they need support.

Appendix S

Clinical Recruitment Presentation







Despite the ov	erlap in presentations	890	Psychosis
the	se population groups are g	generally studied in	isolation
Research Aim			
To explore how and severity of and how do the	v people diagnosed with B f childhood trauma and in ey differ from a non-clinic	PD and psychosis di the trauma related al group.	iffer in type variables,
	BP0 Psycho	sis Non-clinical	



	181	340
Cuder for care of annual length 1800 teams.		
Age 18-47 years, inclusive		
Forst is written and goints English language		
Criteia not its Bachelias Pecuatity Disorbe and as annahey dispersi of a	-	-
Pepchetic Disorder 66 criteria and for a Pepchetic Disorder and an occurately		
degenic of Bothelas Persually (Northe a scorced by the claim was		
Ability to malecrinal and willing to give written informed concent		
Yo cognitive a language difficultion that prevent previding informed concerns at	-	
compromize perforiperiou in completing study gentlemenion.		
No cannot actives estudied or violance state		
behaviour an fast a considered arrest sample is apped on a period 's shifty in	-	-
give indicated concourt and performance in the study		













Appendix T

Consent forms

Clinical Group

Centre Number _____ Study Number _____

Version 1, February, 2017

Patient Identification Number



Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

Participant Consent Form

Researchers: Cat George and Desire Furnes

				Please initial box				
1.	I confirm that I have read and under Sheet dated/ (Version) for t opportunity to consider the informat these answered satisfactorily.							
2.	I understand my participation is entirely voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason and without my medical care or legal rights being affected in any way. I understand that if I choose to withdraw my consent after the data has been analysed it will not be possible to remove my data from the study.							
3.	I understand that the relevant sections of my medical notes may be looked at by the study researchers and individuals from the Sponsor, regulatory authorities or from the NHS organisations, where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records.							
4.								
N	ame of Participant	Date	Signature					
N	ame of Person taking consent	Date	Signature					

When completed: 1 for participant; 1 for researcher site file; 1 (original) kept in medical notes.

Non-Clinical Group

Online Consent

Version 1, February 2017

Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

Online Participation Consent Form Template

Insert PIS here

- I have read and understand the Participant Information Sheet (Version X, Date XX) from <u>insert website address.com</u> for this study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information and know I can contact the researcher to ask questions.
 - a. Yes
 - b. No
- 2. I understand my participation is entirely voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason and without my medical care or legal rights being affected in any way. I understand that I can withdraw my data from the study by emailing the researcher with my unique code. I understand that if I choose to withdraw my consent after the data has been analysed it will not be possible to remove my data from the study.
 - a. Yes
 - b. No
- 3. I am not currently and have never received mental health care treatment
 - a. Yes
 - b. No
- 4. I agree to take part in this study
 - a. Yes
 - b. No

Appendix U

Demographic Information Sheet

Demographic Information Sheet

Version 1, September 2016

Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SHEET

Age		years	
Gender	🗆 Male 🛛 Fei	male	
Ethnicity	🗆 White British	🗆 Asian British	□ Black British
	Other, please spec	ify	
Level of edu	ucation		
	Primary School	l 🗆 Secondary Sch	ool 🗌 College
	□ Undergraduate	□ Masters □ Ph	D/Doctoral
	Other, please spec	ify	
Employmer	nt status		
	□ Employed	□ Unemployed	□ Student
	Other, please spec	ify	
Marital stat	tus		
	□ Married	□ Separated	Divorced
	□ Widowed	□ Single	Living with partner
	Other, please spec	ify	
Are you cu	urrently experience	cing any mental h	ealth difficulty?
	□ YES	\Box NO	
	If YES, please sp	pecify	
Are you re difficulties	eceiving or have y ?	ou ever received c	care for mental health
	□ YES	\Box NO	

If YES, please specify____

Appendix V

Online Procedure Template

Version 1, September 2016

Exploring the impact of trauma and developmental factors in individuals with mental health difficulties

Online Procedure Template

Insert Participant Information Leaflet here

Insert Online Participation Consent Template here

1. To be entered into the competition to win one of four £20 vouchers, please indicate

below. Please provide our email address to enable us to contact you.

- a. Yes, I would like to be entered
 - i. Email:
- b. No, I would not like to be entered

Insert electronic Demographic Information Sheet here

Insert research questionnaires (with relevant guidance at the top of each questionnaire) here

Insert electronic Aftercare Sheet here

Would you like a copy of the After Care information to be emailed to you?

- a. Yes, I would like the After Care information to be sent to me
 - i. Email:
- b. No, I would not the After Care information to be sent to me

Version 1, September 2016

Thank you for your participation in this research

The aim of the research is to our study is to get a better understanding of how childhood trauma can impact on mental health later in life.

The results of this study will not include your name or any other identifying characteristics. This research did not use deception.

If you have any questions relating to the study please contact a member of the research team on the email address below. You may request a summary of the research findings of this project. If you would like to receive a summary of the findings please contact us on the email address below.

Insert study contact information

If you need to talk to someone about any distress which may have resulted from participating in this study please follow guidelines given in the After Care information sheet such as contacting your GP.

Appendix W

Author permission to use the Psychosis Attachment Measure (Berry, Wearden,

Barrowclough & Liversidge, 2006)

Cat George (MED)

From: Sent: To: Subject: Katherine Berry <Katherine.Berry@manchester.ac.uk> 20 April 2016 11:47 Cat George (MED) RE: DClin Thesis Project: Trauma, Attachment and Psychosis Follow up

Follow Up Flag: Flag Status:

Hi Cat

I am happy for you to use the PAM if you feel it is suitable. Trainees here normally measure trauma using the CTQ or THQ but the former has cost implications. We normally measure symptoms with the PSYRATS or PANSS although the latter requires training and is time consuming.

Best wishes Katherine

From: Cat George (MED) [C.George@uea.ac.uk] Sent: 20 April 2016 11:32 To: Katherine Berry Subject: DClin Thesis Project: Trauma, Attachment and Psychosis

Flagged

Dear Dr Berry,

I am a 1st year DClin trainee at UEA and I am in the process of setting up my thesis project. I am planning on looking at attachment as a mediator on the association between trauma experiences and psychotic symptoms, in a community psychosis population. I am currently collaborating with Dr Michelle Painter and Dr Penny Chips in Cambridgeshire and they have recommended I contact you as the expert in this area - I have found your papers extremely useful. I would really appreciate some advice on the measures to use and what you would recommend are key things to control for.

Any thoughts on this would be much appreciated.

I look forward to hearing from you.

Best wishes,

Cat

Cat George Trainee Clinical Psychologist University of East Anglia Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences <u>c.george@uea.ac.uk</u>



UK Top 15 (14th in the Times and Sunday Times Good University Guide 2015) UK 6th for Student Experience (Times Higher Education Student Experience Survey 2014)

Appendix X

Power Calculation and Additional Statistical Analysis Information

Power Calculation.

G*Power 3.1 (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang, & Buchner, 2007) and power tables outlined in Clark-Carter (2004) were used to calculate sample size requirements.

To explore the between-group analysis (the primary research aim), most variables recommended a sample size of 100 participants (Effect Size (ES; here Cohen's d = .4, α = .05, power = .8) (Clark-Carter, 2004). For the between-groups analyses of the dichotomous trauma measure, the relevant chi squared analysis required a sample between 105 (ES (w) = .7, α = .05) to 135 (ES (w) = .6, α = .05), power = .8) with a power of 0.8 (df = 3) (Clark-Carter, 2004). For the point-biserial correlational analysis, where childhood trauma was the independent variable (IV) and the other variables were dependent variables (DV), a sample size of 82 participants is required (two-tailed, ES = .3, α = .05, power = .8) (G*Power 3.1).

Additional Statistical Analysis Information

Between-groups. Initial assessment found several outliers. Investigation revealed no data entry errors. All analysis was run with and without outliers from the different populations. The removal of outliers did not alter results and therefore all data points were retained. Levene's test indicated the assumption of homogeneity was violated for all variables (p < .001) and non-parametric testing was employed.

To assess for group differences between continuous dependent variables, Welch Tests were conducted. For categorical dependent variables, Fisher's Exact Test or Pearson's Chi-squared test were performed. For significant results, post-hoc comparisons explored relative group differences.

Mediation Analysis. Influential cases were determined by examination of Mahalanobis and Cooks distances, the Covariance Ratio and though examination of the standardised residuals. For all models, influential cases were detected, assessed and removed form subsequent analysis. Given that some IV's were highly correlated, collinearity and multicollinearity were assessed using critical values for the Pearson's correlation (< .9), the variance inflation factor and the condition index score (<10) (Field, 2009; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). Across all models and predictors, multicollinearity was not present. Durbin-Watson statistic was utilised to assess independence of errors. All cases were within the critical range unless otherwise stated (Field, 2009). Homoscedasticity was assessed via viewing residual scatterplots and completing the Breusch-Pagan test using the plugin (Daryanto, 2013). For all analysis, heteroscedasticity was found therefore the heteroscedasticity-consistent standard error estimator (HC3) was adopted (Hayes, 2013).

References

- Clark-Carter, D. (2004). *Quantitative psychological research: The complete student's companion* (3rd ed.). UK: Psychology Press.
- Daryanto, A. (2013). ahmaddaryanto; Heteroskedasticity-SPSS [SPSS syntax]. Retried from https://sites.google.com/site/ahmaddaryanto/scripts/Heterogeneity-test
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.G. and Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175-191. doi:10.3758/BF03193146
- Field, A. (2009). *Discovering Statistics Using SPSS* (3rd ed.). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York: Guilford Publications.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using multivariate statistics: Boston: Pearson Education.